Cardiopulmonary Manifestations in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

Maath Alhaddad MSc

Thesis submitted to University of Nottingham

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

March 2015

Abstract

Rationale

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a progressive lung condition with extrapulmonary manifestations- cardiovascular diseases (CVD), impaired physical function, activity and increased frailty. Integrating measures of function into community assessments is hindered by the space and time required. The association of function, activity and CVD has not been extensively investigated in COPD.

Objectives

- Explore the potential utility of Time Up and Go (TUG) as a measure of physical function in COPD
- Assess association of non-invasive measures of haemodynamics to physical function and self-reported activity
- Explore ambulatory haemodynamics in COPD and controls

Methods

Subjects with COPD (n=119) and controls (n=58) were recruited. Ethical and governance approvals were obtained. A medical history including falls, spirometry, peripheral and central haemodynamics, self-reported physical activity questionnaires and functional assessments (TUG and six-minute walk distance (6MWD)) were obtained from all subjects. Ambulatory 24-hour

haemodynamics including aortic pulse wave velocity (aPWV) and blood pressure were measured in patients (n=20) and controls (n=19).

Results

TUG mean(SD) was increased in patients 11.9(3.7)s compared to controls 9.5(1.8)s, p<0.001. In patients, fallers had longer TUG than non-fallers (p=0.02) and a cut-off time of 12s had the highest sensitivity and specificity to detect fallers and non-fallers. Aortic stiffness was not associated to physical function or physical activity, p>0.05. In the pilot study, significant nocturnal dip in aPWV was seen in controls, p<0.01, but not in patients, p=0.07.

Conclusion

TUG could be a useful measure of function and possibly be incorporated into COPD assessment, particularly where time and space are limited. Finally, ambulatory haemodynamic machine, the Mobil-O-Graph, is feasible and offers opportunity to assess 24-hour haemodynamics profile including aPWV as opposed to a one-off measurement.

Author's publications

Abstracts

<u>Alhaddad, M</u>. John, M. Hussain, S. Bolton, C.E The Time-Up and Go (TUG) Test in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (Oral presentation). 2014 Annual ILH Respiratory Research day Loughborough, UK.

John, M. Hussain, S. <u>Al Haddad, M.</u> and Bolton, C.E Do Standard Cardiovascular Risk Scores Identify Risk in Patients with COPD? British Thoracic Society, London. Thorax 2014; 69:A212.

John, M. <u>Alhaddad, M</u>. Hussain, S. and Bolton, C.E. Advanced Glycation Endproducts and Lung Function in COPD. 2014 European Respiratory Society conference, Munich. ERJ 2014 vol. 44 no. Suppl 58 P3675.

<u>Alhaddad, M.</u> John, M. Hussain, S. Bolton, C.E Ambulatory Haemodynamics in Patients with COPD (Poster discussion). 2014 European Respiratory Society (ERS), Munich, Germany. ERJ 2014 vol. 44 no. Suppl 58 P4483.

Publications

<u>Al Haddad MA (MSc)</u>, John M (PhD), Hussain S (BSc), Bolton CE (MD, FRCP). The Role of the Time Up and Go in Patients with COPD. (accepted May 2015)

Acknowledgement

First and foremost thanks are to God for giving me the opportunity to live and do my academic studies in the UK where wonderful friends and unforgettable memories were created. Second, I would like to thank my parents for their endless prayers for my success.

I would like to dedicate my deepest gratitude to Dr Charlotte Bolton, my main supervisor, for her wise supervision and to Dr Tim Harrison, my second supervisor. I thank Dr Bolton for giving me the comfort to discuss any academic and personal obstacles I faced along with her encouragement to complete my thesis, attend training programmes, submit papers and present and attend national and international conferences.

My thanks extend to Dr Michelle John, my colleague, who has, generously, offered her clinical and academic skills to help me get through my Ph.D. Dr John has helped me in recruiting study participants, clinical procedures, communication, writing skills and statistics. I also would like to thank Sam Hussain, my colleague who has helped me in the recruitment process as well as communication skills with the study participants.

I would like to thank all study participants for showing interest in this research and, simply, without them this work would have never been completed. I

iv

also thank everyone who was not included in this study for showing their interest and willingness to help us advance medical science.

Thank you to the members of the Nottingham Respiratory Research Unit, University of Nottingham for participating in the TUG repeatability study, and providing the necessary facilities, courses and comfortable working environment, which made my work possible.

Finally, I would like to thank Kuwait University as well as the Cultural Office of the Embassy of the State of Kuwait for sponsoring my scholarship.

Personal contribution to the research

This research was part of a larger study "The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk" where the study documents such as Patients Information Sheets and Case Report Files and power calculation for the TUG test were in place prior to the start of my PhD. I adapted the previous Case Report File to suit data collection for this project. I performed the majority of work (with some help from colleagues in recruiting from the respiratory consultants from outpatients clinic) in recruitment, introducing and discussing the study with potential participants, posting study information and arranging appointments, clinical visits, informing of the subject's participation and sending results to the subject's general practitioner. I did the entire work of the literature review, data input, data analysis, interpretation of results and discussion. I was also able to present my work in national and international conferences in addition to submitting a paper entitled "The Role of the Time Up and Go in Patients with COPD" which was accepted in May 2015.

Abbreviations

6MWT/D	Six-minute walk test/distance
Α	
α1ΑΤ ABPM ADO AIDS AIX ANOVA aPWV ATS AUC	Alpha-1 antitrypsin Ambulatory blood pressure machines <u>Age, Dyspnoea and airway Obstruction index</u> Acquired immune deficiency syndrome Augmentation index Analysis of variance Aortic pulse wave velocity American Thoracic Society Area under the curve
В	
BHS BIA BMD BMI BODE	British Hypertension Society Bioelectrical Impedance Bone mineral density Body mass index <u>B</u> ody mass index, airway <u>O</u> bstruction, <u>D</u> yspnoea and <u>E</u> xercise capacity index
BP	Blood pressure
С	
cABP CHF CI CO COPD CRF CV CVD	Central ambulatory blood pressure Chronic heart failure Confidence interval Carbon monoxide Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Chronic Renal Failure Cardiovascular Cardiovascular Diseases
D	
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
E	
ERS ESWT	European Respiratory Society Endurance shuttle walking test
F	

FEV ₁ FFM FFMI FVC	Forced expiratory volume in one second Fat free mass Fat free mass index Forced vital capacity
G	
GOLD GP	Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease General Practitioner
н	
HDL HF HR	High density lipoproteins Heart failure Hazard ratio
I	
ICC IHD IQR ISWT	Inter-class correlation coefficient Ischemic heart disease Interquartile range Incremental shuttle walking test
L	
L LDL	Litre low density lipoproteins
Μ	
m MAP MCID MID Min MMP mmHg MRC	metre Mean arterial pressure minimal clinically important difference Minimal important difference Minute Matrix metalloproteinase Millimetre of mercury Medical Research Council
Ν	
NICE NRES NRRU	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence National Research Ethics Service Nottingham Respiratory Research Unit
0	
OR	Odd ratio
Ρ	
pABP PP	Ambulatory blood pressure pulse pressure

R	
r	Correlation
R&D	Research and Development
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
RR	Relative risk
S	
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SGRQ	St. George's Respiratory Questionnaires
SOP	Standard Operating Procedures
SpO2	Peripheral oxygen saturation
SPPB	Short physical performance battery
SPSS	Statistical Package of the Social Sciences
24	Stroke volume
т	
тт	Transit time
TUG	Time Up and Go
U	
USA	United States of America
v	
$\dot{V}O_{2peak}$	Maximum oxygen uptake
w	
WHAS	Women's Health and Aging Study
WHO	World Health Organisation

List of Tables

 Table 1.1: Studies Investigating TUG in Patients with COPD.. Error! Bookmark

 not defined.

Table 2.1 NICE Classification of the Severity of COPD (NICE, 2010) 59
Table 3.1: Demographics of Study Groups - Patients and Controls
Table 3.2: Correlations between TUG and Spirometric Lung Function 82
Table 3.3: Mean TUG test in Different Stages of COPD Based on GOLD 83
Table 3.4: Within Groups Analysis of Fallers and Non-fallers to Physical
Performance Tests
Table 3.5: Self-Reported Fall Frequency in the past year and TUG Test in
Patients and Controls91
Table 3.6: TUG Cut-off Time of 12 seconds and Risk of Falls in Patients with
COPD
Table 3.7: First (practice) and Second (measured) TUG Trials 96
Table 3.8: Number of Patients with COPD based on MRC Dyspnoea Scale 98
Table 3.9: TUG Test and SGRQ Score in Patients with COPD 100
Table 3.10: Frequency of Self-Reported Physical Activity in Patients with
COPD and Controls103
Table 3.11: TUG and Self-Reported Moderate Activity 105
Table 4.1: Demographics of Study Groups 133
Table 4.2: Self-Reported Conditions, Medications, and Lipid Profile 135

Table 4.3: Peripheral and Central Haemodynamics 136
Table 4.4: Arterial Stiffness and Lung Function Correlations 138
Table 4.5: Aortic PWV and BODE Index in Patients 145
Table 5.1: Demographics of Patients with COPD 160
Table 5.2: Haemodynamic Measurements in Patients with COPD
Table 6.1: Study Demographics of All Subjects Recruited
Table 6.2: 24-Hour, Diurnal, and Nocturnal Peripheral and Central
Ambulatory Blood Pressure Measurements in Patients and Controls 197
Table 6.3: Association of aPWV and Haemodynamic Measurements During
24-hour, Diurnal and Nocturnal time 199
Table 6.4: The mean values of central haemodynamic measurements taken
using Vicorder and at rest measurement using (in-clinic) 24-hr Ambulatory
Blood Pressure
Table 6.5: The 24-Hour, Diurnal, and Nocturnal Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity
according to Systolic Dippers or Non-dippers

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Diagram of the Time Up and Go Test
Figure 3.1: Flowchart of Study Recruitment77
Figure 3.2: TUG Time in Patients and Controls79
Figure 3.3: Inverse Association between TUG and 6MWD86
Figure 3.4: Association of Time Up and Go to the BODE Index in Patients 87
Figure 3.5: Association of First (Practice) and Second (measured) TUG Trials
Figure 3.6: Bland-Altman Plot Showing the Agreement between the Two
TUG Trials
Figure 3.7: TUG Test and MRC Dyspnoea Scale in Patients with COPD 99
Figure 3.8: TUG Inter-observer Reliability 108
Figure 3.9: TUG Intra-Observer Repeatability
Figure 4.1: Recruitment Flowchart 133
Figure 4.2: Aortic Stiffness and Six-Minute Walk Distance in Patients and
Controls
Figure 4.3: Aortic Stiffness according to 6MWD group in Patients and
Controls
Figure 5.1: Association of Haemodynamic Measurements to Self-reported
Walking Time 164

Figure 5.2: Self-reported Mild, Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity Time
and GOLD Stages167
Figure 5.3: Self-reported Mild, Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity Time
and MRC Scale 168
Figure 5.4: Proportion of Patients Classified as Inactive according to GOLD
stages 170
Figure 5.5: Proportion of Patients Classified as Inacitve according to MRC
Dyspnoea Scale 171
Figure 5.6: GOLD Stages and Self-reported Frequency of Mild, Moderate and
Vigorous Physical Activity173
Figure 5.7: MRC Dyspnoea Scale and Self-reported Mild, Moderate and
Vigorous Physical Activity174
Figure 5.8: Self-reported Walking Time (minute/week) across the MRC
Dyspnoea Scale 176
Figure 6.1: 24-hour Ambulatory blood pressure/aortic stiffness Study
flowchart 191
Figure 6.2: Mean Ambulatory aPWV profile in Patients with COPD and
Controls using 24-hour cABP machine196
Figure 6.3: Bland-Altman plot of Main Haemodynamic Measures

List of Appendices

- Appendix 1 Patient Information Sheet
- Appendix 2 Study Consent Form
- Appendix 3 St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire
- Appendix 4 Medical Research Council (MRC) Dyspnoea Scale
- Appendix 5 Body Compositions Bioelectrical Impedance (BIA)
- Appendix 6 Carotid-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity using the Vicorder
- Appendix 7 Carotid-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity Screen Shot
- Appendix 8 Borg Breathlessness Scale
- Appendix 9 Ambulatory Blood Pressure Device Mobil-o-graph
- Appendix 10 Ambulatory Blood Pressures Summary Report
- Appendix 11 BODE Index Body Mass Index, Airway Obstruction, Dyspnoea and Exercise Capacity
- Appendix 12 ADO Index Age, Dyspnoea and Airway Obstruction

Table of Contents

CHAPTE	R 11
1.1	DEFINITION2
1.2	PREVALENCE2
1.3	RISK FACTORS
1.	3.1 Modifiable risk factors4
1.	3.2 Non-modifiable risk factors6
1.4	CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE AND PATIENTS' CHARACTERISTICS
1.5	SYSTEMIC EFFECT OF CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE
1.6	CARDIOVASCULAR RISK IN PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE
1.	6.1 Association of Lung function to cardiovascular risk11
1.	6.2 Association of arterial stiffness to cardiovascular risk
1.7	LUNG FUNCTION, ARTERIAL STIFFNESS, AND PHYSICAL FUNCTIONAL LIMITATION
1.8	DETERMINANTS AND POTENTIAL BENEFITS OF AOTRIC STIFFNESS MEASUREMENTS IN THE
ASSES	SMENT OF PATIENTS WITH COPD17
1.9	ASSESSMENT OF PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE
1.	9.1 Types of Physical performance assessment20
1.	9.2 Physical performance tests21
1.10	Hypothesis Error! Bookmark not defined.
СНАРТЕ	R 248
2.1	Setting
2.2	SAMPLE SIZE
2.3	RECRUITMENT
2.4	Етніся
2.5	INCLUSION/EXCLUSION CRITERIA

2.6	Proc	ESS
2	.6.1	Informed consent
2	.6.2	Patients' details and questionnaires54
2	.6.3	Height and weight measurements55
2	.6.4	Body composition
2	.6.5	Haemodynamic profile
2	.6.6	Spirometry measurements58
2	.6.7	Carbon monoxide measurement60
2	.6.8	Venepuncture
2	.6.9	Field walking and physical performance tests
2	2.6.10	Ambulatory 24 hour blood pressure and arterial stiffness62
2	.6.11	Oxygen saturations63
2	.6.12	Composite COPD measures63
2	.6.13	Assessment of self-reported physical activity
2	2.6.14	Self-reported co-morbidity score65
2	.6.15	Post visit65
2.7	CONFI	IDENTIALITY66
2.8	STATIS	sтіcs
СНАРТ	ER 3	
3.1	Intro	DUCTION
3.2	Ηγρο	THESIS
3.3	Метн	IODS71
3	.3.1	Study objectives
3	.3.2	<i>Ethics</i>
3	.3.3	Sample size
3	.3.4	Inclusion and exclusion criteria72
3	.3.5	Procedure73
3	.3.6	Statistics

3.4	Resu	.TS
3	.4.1	Time Up and Go in patients and controls79
3	.4.2	Potential confounders of Time Up and Go test80
3	.4.3	Six-Minute Walk Distance84
3	.4.4	Time Up and Go and BODE in Patients84
3	.4.5	Physical performance tests and self-reported falls
3	.4.6	Sensitivity and specificity of the Time Up and Go test in patients with COPD 92
3	.4.7	Time Up and Go practice effect94
3	.4.8	Time Up and Go test and self-reported dyspnoea/Quality of Life98
3	.4.9	Time Up and Go and self-reported physical activity101
3	.4.10	Time Up and Go intra-observer and Inter-observer reliability107
3.5	Discu	ISSION
3	.5.1	Limitation
3	.5.2	Conclusion
СНАРТІ	ER 4	
CHAPTI	ER 4 Intro	
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2	ER 4 Intro Hypo	122 DOUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3	ER 4 Імтас Нуро Метн	122 DOUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1	
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.3	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	ER 4 INTRO HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3 .3.3	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3 .3.4 .3.5	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3 .3.4 .3.5 .3.6	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.4	ER 4 INTRO HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3 .3.4 .3.5 .3.6 RESUL	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 3.3.4 3.3.5 3.3.6 RESUL	122 DDUCTION
CHAPTI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4. 4. 4. 4. 4. 4.4 4.4	ER 4 INTRC HYPO METH .3.1 .3.2 .3.3 .3.4 .3.5 .3.6 RESUL .4.1 .4.2	122 DDUCTION

4.5	Discu	ISSION
4.	5.1	Limitation
4.	5.2	Conclusion and future plan150
СНАРТЕ	ER 5	
5.1	INTRO	DDUCTION
5.2	Нуро	THESIS
5.	2.1	Objectives154
5.3	Метн	iods155
5.	3.1	Ethics
5.	3.2	Sample Size155
5.	3.3	Procedure
5.	3.4	Statistics
5.4	RESU	LTS
5.	4.1	Self-reported physical activity and haemodynamic measurements
5.	4.2	Self-reported mild, moderate and vigorous activity (minute/week)
5.	4.3	Comparison between active and inactive patients based on WHO guidelines
fo	or phys	ical activity169
5.	4.4	Self-reported physical activity based on a cut-off of 3 times/week
5.	4.5	Self-reported walking time175
5.5	Discu	ISSION
5.	5.1	Limitations
5.	5.2	Conclusion
5.	5.3	Future direction
СНАРТЕ	ER 6	
6.1	INTRO	DDUCTION
6.2	Нуро	THESIS
6.3	Метн	185
6.	3.1	Study objectives185

0.	.3.2	Ethics
6.	.3.3	Sample size and setting186
6.	.3.4	Inclusion and exclusion criteria186
6.	.3.5	Procedure
6.	.3.6	Statistics
6.4	RESUL	тѕ190
6.	.4.1	Feasibility and acceptability of the Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour PWV monitor . 194
6.	.4.2	24-hour blood pressure and aortic stiffness profile in patients and controls195
6.	.4.3	Aortic stiffness: comparison between Vicorder and cABP machine - In-clinic
m	neasure	ements
6.	.4.1	Systolic nocturnal dip and nocturnal aPWV203
6.5	Discu	SSION
6	.5.1	Limitation
6.	.5.2	Conclusion210
СНАРТІ	ER 7	
CHAPTI	ER 7	211 DUCTION
CHAPTI 7.1 7.2	ER 7 Intro Time	DUCTION
CHAPTI 7.1 7.2 7.3	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI	211 DUCTION
CHAPTI 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ER 7 INTRO TIME I PHYSI PHYSI	211 DUCTION
CHAPTI 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI PHYSI AMBU	211 DUCTION
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI PHYSI AMBL ER 8	211 DUCTION
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE 8.1	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI PHYSI AMBL ER 8 PHYSI	211 DUCTION
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE 8.1 8.2	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI AMBL ER 8 PHYSI ASSOC	211 DUCTION
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE 8.1 8.2 8.3	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI PHYSI AMBL ER 8 PHYSI ASSOC SELF-F	211 DUCTION
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI AMBL ER 8 PHYSI ASSOC SELF-F AMBL	211 DUCTION 212 JP AND GO (TUG) IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 212 CAL PERFORMANCE AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 213 CAL ACTIVITY AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 213 ILATORY HAEMODYNAMIC/ARTERIAL STIFFNESS PROFILE IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 214 CAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF PATIENTS WITH COPD 215 CAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF PATIENTS WITH COPD 216 CIATION OF PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE TO ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 216 REPORTED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 217 ILATORY HAEMODYNAMICS IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 217
CHAPTE 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 CHAPTE 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 CHAPTE	ER 7 INTRO TIME PHYSI PHYSI AMBL ER 8 PHYSI ASSOC SELF-F AMBL ER 9	211 DUCTION 212 JP AND GO (TUG) IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 212 CAL PERFORMANCE AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 213 CAL ACTIVITY AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 213 ILATORY HAEMODYNAMIC/ARTERIAL STIFFNESS PROFILE IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 214 CAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF PATIENTS WITH COPD 215 CAL PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF PATIENTS WITH COPD 216 CIATION OF PHYSICAL PERFORMANCE TO ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 216 REPORTED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ARTERIAL STIFFNESS 217 ILATORY HAEMODYNAMICS IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 217 ILATORY HAEMODYNAMICS IN PATIENTS WITH COPD 217

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Definition

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is a descriptive term that encompasses both chronic bronchitis and emphysema. As the name of the condition implies, there is chronic obstruction and narrowing of the airways in the lungs: chronic bronchitis, and elasticity loss and alveolar wall destruction: emphysema. Chronic bronchitis is defined clinically as a productive cough for more than three months for two consecutive years; whereas emphysema is defined pathologically as permanent enlargement of the air space and alveolar wall destruction distal to terminal bronchioles (ATS-ERS, 2004). Such changes progress over time and cannot be completely reversed once the remodelling occurs (WHO, 2012). The American Thoracic Society (ATS) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) state that these chronic airway limitations are "usually progressive and are associated with an abnormal inflammatory response of the lungs to noxious particles or gases, primarily caused by cigarette smoking" (ATS-ERS, 2004).

1.2 Prevalence

The prevalence of COPD is increasing and it is considered a leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide (Murray and Lopez, 1997, CDC, 1997). A recently published study looking at the global burden of diseases showed that COPD became the third leading cause of death after ischemic heart disease (IHD) and stroke in the year of 2010 (Lozano et al., 2012). Still, populationbased studies show that the true prevalence of COPD is underestimated and underdiagnosed (Lindberg et al., 2006, Tinkelman et al., 2007).

Mannino et al., investigated the prevalence of obstructive lung disease in over 16,000 individuals (aged \geq 25 years old) using data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (Mannino et al, 2000). Subjects in the study were considered having obstructive lung disease if they report current diagnoses of either asthma or bronchitis, or had ever been diagnosed with emphysema. Airflow limitation was defined by forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁)/forced vital capacity (FVC) ratio of <0.7 and FEV₁ of <80% predicted. The study showed that the majority of subjects (63%) had undiagnosed obstructive lung disease (Mannino et al, 2000). Although the true prevalence of COPD remains underestimated around the world, reportedly its death rate in the year of 2000 was 2.7 million people (Lopez A., 2006, Mannino et al, 2000). In the UK alone, three million people have been estimated to have COPD, from whom two million remain undiagnosed (NICE, 2011a).

1.3 Risk factors

COPD has many risk factors where smoking is considered the primary risk factor for developing such disease especially in developed countries (NCQA, 2009). Other risk factors such as gender, genetic, socioeconomic, and environmental exposure should not be ignored as COPD can be found in those

who never smoked. The risk factors for COPD can be classified as modifiable and non-modifiable factors.

1.3.1 Modifiable risk factors

- Smoking

Smoking – direct tobacco usage or second-hand smokers - is the leading cause of COPD (WHO, 2008). All types of smoking including cigarettes, cheroots, cigars and pipe are associated with COPD in different intensity (Godtfredsen et al., 2002). In a population-based study comparing smokers to neversmoked elderly in Sweden, cigarette smoking was a major and independent cause of COPD (Lindberg et al., 2006). They showed that all men with severe COPD were smokers or ex-smokers and 90% with mild COPD were smokers or ex-smokers. For smokers, the smoke, nicotine and other irritants in the cigarette all contribute to developing chronic airway obstruction (Bohadana et al., 2004). Therefore, the World Health Organization (WHO) identifies smoking cessation as the most effective approach to reduce the development of COPD and slow its progression (WHO, 2015). Furthermore, the latest BTS guideline on pulmonary rehabilitation in adults emphasises the need to identify smoking history in referrals and to provide opportunity to smoking cessations (Bolton et al., 2013).

- Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic status as defined by the American Psychological Association is "the social standing class of an individual or group. It is often measured as a combination of education, income and occupation" (APA, 2014). The socioeconomic status was found to be directly associated with COPD independent of smoking history (Prescott et al., 1999). People with lower socioeconomic status and those with lower level of education tend to have more smoking habits (Hart et al., 2010). Even after adjusting for confounders, for example, smoking, body mass index (BMI) and physical activity, socioeconomic position is inversely associated with lung functions (Ramsay et al., 2011). Further, both social class and environmental factors are associated with lung function. People with lower social class are more likely to live in more polluted areas than those with higher social class (Wheeler and Ben-Shlomo, 2005).

- Environmental exposure

Environmental factors such as long-term exposures to air-pollution (nitrogen dioxide, particular matters, sulphur dioxide and benzene) and living nearby busy roads have direct effect on lung functions and might increase the risk of developing COPD (Schikowski et al, 2005, Wheeler and Ben-Shlomo, 2005). Further, COPD is associated with the nature of work and/or the environment of the workplace especially in industries associated with prolonged exposure to chemicals, for example, rubber, plastics, and leather manufacturing, food products manufacturing, agriculture, construction and transportation (Hnizdo et al., 2002).

1.3.2 Non-modifiable risk factors

- Gender

COPD has been associated with the male gender because males were notoriously known for smoking, until recently in the past four decades where the number of female smokers has dramatically increased, COPD is no longer predominantly recognised as a male disease (Tinkelman and Corsello, 2003, Mannino et al., 2002). Recent studies showed that females who were diagnosed with COPD had higher mortality rate and more susceptibility to the adverse effects of smoking than males with the same diagnosis (Maria-Christina L. Machado, 2006, Gold et al., 1996). This could be due to physiological and non-physiological differences.

Recent literature shows that COPD has autoimmune components which might play part in the onset and/or development of the disease (van der Strate et al., 2006). This might give rise to the prevalence of the disease in females as they are "physiologically" more susceptible to develop autoimmune disease (DeLisa Fairweather, 2008). In addition, females have relatively smaller lung size, hence smaller capacity, than males (Camp et al., 2009); therefore, they are more prone to shortness of breath (The Lung Association, 2006).

Non-physiological differences may include physician and public awareness of COPD amongst females, which may lead to delayed or misdiagnosis of COPD.

- Genetic

Genetic susceptibility in COPD is an important area. One of the most common heredity disorders is a deficiency of Alpha-1 antitrypsin (α 1AT) protein, encoded by SERPINA1, leading to early onset of emphysema (Mark Wewers, 1989). This protease inhibitor has a protective role over lung parenchyma from proteases (neutrophil elastase); thus, a deficiency in the α 1AT leads to protease-antiprotease imbalance and destruction of the lung parenchyma, therefore, causing emphysematous lung (Hersh et al., 2004). Only 1-2% of all COPD cases have been related to a severe form of α 1AT deficiency suggesting other genetic factors are involved in the predisposition of COPD (Hall and Lomas, 2010). Other genetic factors that have been linked to COPD include, but are not limited to, matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 and 12 (Demedts et al., 2006, Lee et al., 2010).

1.4 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and patients' characteristics

COPD is a slow progressive disease that develops over long period of time. An international survey in North America and Europe of over 3000 individuals investigating the impact of COPD has stated that people with COPD experience limitations in their physical and social activity, and also have increased hospital admissions (Rennard et al., 2002). Although the disease progresses over many years and, hence, mainly affect the older adults, working age people with COPD also suffer from this condition. The same survey found that 45% of patients under the age of 65 years lost their jobs in the past year due to COPD.

Classical symptoms of COPD include, but are not limited to, breathlessness and exercise limitation. Therefore, physical activity and social participation are limited in patients with COPD, in part, due to their breathing discomfort (ATS, 1999). This can be partially explained by the dyspnoea-function model which summarises the association between dyspnoea and functional limitation in people with airway obstruction (Sassi-Dambron et al., 1995). Briefly, this model states that people with dyspnoea, gradually, tend to limit their activities due to the discomfort and frustration caused by their shortness of breath which, with time, leads to physical deconditioning which is, again, responsible for increasing dyspnoea. In patients with COPD, inactivity is associated with faster disease progression, increased health care utilization, and higher mortality rate (ZuWallack and Hedges, 2008). More recent studies highlighted the importance of establishing personal level of physical activity at an early stage of COPD and work to maintain it at that level as the decline in physical activity is highly associated with mortality (Vaes et al., 2014).

Unlike healthy individuals, small changes in the physical function of patients with COPD significantly affect their activity of daily life and, hence, quality of life (Steele et al., 2000). Therefore, it is important to have a valid functional test in the assessment of COPD (Introduction, p 21). Other symptoms often described by patients with COPD include sputum production, wheeze and increased risk of exacerbations.

1.5 Systemic effect of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

COPD is traditionally defined as a lung condition; however the latest definition also includes comorbidities (NICE, 2010). COPD is associated with systemic complications including, but not limited to, loss of weight and muscle, loss of bone mineral density (BMD) leading to osteoporosis, as well as increased cardiovascular (CV) diseases and psychological consequences including anxiety and depression (Pauwels et al., 2001, Bolton et al., 2004). It is important to mention that COPD and other co-morbid diseases share common risk factors such as cigarette smoking, increased age, and inactivity (Agusti et al., 2003, Wasswa-Kintu et al., 2005). Although the latter was highlighted by the ATS and the ERS COPD guidelines (ATS-ERS, 2004), still, a method for a routine assessments for such co-morbidities is not yet established.

Alterations in body composition are important with focus previously on weight and muscle loss (Landbo et al., 1999, Schols et al., 1998, Schols et al., 2005). Indeed, being underweight is related to having an increased risk of mortality (Landbo et al., 1999, Schols et al., 1998). Such studies have included relatively few obese patients but suggested a relatively protective mechanism of obesity in COPD. With a number of factors likely to account for weight and muscle loss including increased energy expenditure, reduced energy intake, physical inactivity and the interplay of systemic inflammation and hormonal influences. Patients with COPD experience nutritional depletion as a result of

imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure; where the former is associated with loss of appetite, fatigue and postprandial dyspnoea (Cheol Kim et al., 2008) and the latter is believed to be cause by hypermetabolism (Ezzell and Jensen, 2000).

1.6 Cardiovascular risk in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Patients with COPD are at a greater risk of developing CV diseases and literature shows that the mortality rate of patients with COPD is in a large proportion due to CV diseases (McGarvey et al., 2007, Camilli, 1991, Curkendall et al., 2006). This greater risk of CV diseases in patients with COPD has been highlighted in literature to be over and above the effects of smoking (Sin and Man, 2003). Therefore, the awareness of the association between CV risks and COPD as well as the recommendation to treat COPD as an independent risk factor for CV diseases has recently been highlighted (Hunninghake, 2005). Also to note that the association between COPD and CV risks is not well understood; however, it might be a contribution of several factors including smoking, age, systemic inflammation (Sin and Man, 2003) and lung function.

Arterial stiffness is a non-invasive measure and has been associated with future CV risks and deaths (discussed in Introduction, p 11).

1.6.1 Association of Lung function to cardiovascular risk

Lung function is an independent predictor of CV risks and mortality. This was shown in previous literature including a population-based study of 1,861 participants recruited from the first National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (Sin et al., 2005). After adjusting for age, gender and smoking history, the study results showed that subjects in the lowest FEV_1 quantile had the highest relative risk (RR) of CV mortality, 3.36 (95% CI: 1.54-7.34). Another population-based study of 402 men born in 1914 found an inverse association between $FEV_1\%$ predicted and CV mortality rate even after adjusting for confounders such as cigarette smoking, angina pectoris, physical activity, alcohol consumption, and diabetes (Engström et al., 2001). The prevalence and outcome of diabetes, hypertension and CV diseases were investigated in over 20,200 participants (≥45 years old) recruited from Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities and the Cardiovascular Health Study. An inverse association was found between airways obstruction and CV diseases with high prevalence of CV diseases in patients with COPD (OR 2.4 95% CI 1.3-1.9) (Mannino et al., 2008). These findings, collectively, emphasise the association between airflow limitation and CV events, however, the mechanisms explaining how COPD increases the CV risks is still unclear.

1.6.2 Association of arterial stiffness to cardiovascular risk

Generally, aging is associated with physiologic and functional changes in the characteristics of blood vessels including their *distensibility, compliance* and

stiffness. These changes, in turn, make older people more susceptible to developing CV events (Rodney A. Rhoades, 2012, Kelly et al., 1989). The more distal (peripheral) the vasculature from the heart, the more musculature and stiffer (less elastic) they become; partly, due to the increased rigidity of the arterial walls as vessels reach the distal end of the arterial tree (Blacher, 2005). Arterial stiffness leads to an in increase in systolic blood pressure (SBP) and little or no change in diastolic blood pressure (DBP) which, eventually, leads to increase in pulse pressure (PP) - the difference between SBP and DBP (Mackenzie et al., 2002). There is a continuous rise in the DPB until middleage which is related to increasing resistance of the peripheral arteries; whereas, SBP is affected by arterial stiffness and continue to increase as arterial stiffness increases with aging (Franklin et al., 1997). An increase in PP may lead to adverse cardiac events, for example, ventricular hypertrophy which is caused by increase in the left ventricular afterload and the myocardial oxygen demand (Nichols, 2005). Furthermore, another study found that aortic stiffness as opposed to peripheral arterial stiffness was related to aging (>50 years) in healthy subjects with minimal burden of CV diseases (Mitchell et al., 2004).

The pulse wave velocity (PWV) - a measure of the speed of the pulse wave as it travels between two regions within the arterial tree - is a non-invasive reproducible method to measure arterial stiffness (Laurent et al., 2006). Whereas, augmentation index (Alx), a measure of arterial stiffness and wave reflection, and pulse pressure are surrogate methods (Nichols, 2005, Laurent

et al., 2006). The gold standard measure of aortic stiffness is the aortic PWV (aPWV) (Laurent et al., 2006). Aortic PWV is an independent predictor of CV events and may help in identifying high-risk population (Ben-Shlomo et al., 2014).

The relationship between arterial stiffness (measured by PWV) and CV events, CV mortality and all-cause mortality was highlighted in a systematic review and meta-analysis of 17 longitudinal studies following 15,877 subjects for an average of 7.7 years (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010). The results show that an increase of 1 m/s in aPWV is associated with an increased RR of 1.14 (95%CI: 1.09-1.20), which equates to a 14% increase in total CV events. Both CV mortality and all-cause mortality increased by 15% with a 1m/s increase in PWV, with the same RR of 1.15 (95%CI: 1.09-1.21) for both.

In a population-based study, The Rotterdam Study, (n= 2835 healthy subjects, mean (SD) age of 72 (7)years) explored the association between arterial stiffness (measured by aPWV) and coronary heart disease and stroke (Mattace-Raso et al., 2006). The study results showed positive associations of arterial stiffness to coronary heart disease (mean follow-up period 4years), and stroke (mean follow-up period 3years), which were attenuated slightly after adjusting for CV risk factors. Increased aPWV was associated with approximately 1.7 to 2.5 increased risks of developing coronary heart disease and approximately 1.2 to 2.3 risks of developing stroke. Increased arterial stiffness has been found to be associated with greater CV risks in a number of

conditions including renal disease (Blacher et al., 1999), and diabetes (Cruickshank et al., 2002, Salomaa et al., 1995).

In a community-based study following over 2000 older subjects for a median of 7.8 (range, 0.2 to 8.9)years, aPWV was the only measure found to be associated with increased major CV risks when compared to other haemodynamic measures including central blood pressure, Alx, carotidbrachial pressure and carotid-radial PWV (Mitchell et al., 2010). Association between aPWV and CV event remained significant even after adjusting for brachial or central pulse pressure or carotid-brachial pulse pressure amplification.

1.6.2.1 <u>Association of arterial stiffness to cardiovascular risk in patients</u> with COPD

In COPD studies, there is a growing interest of investigating the association of arterial stiffness to COPD. Sabit et al., explored the association in clinically stable patients with COPD (n=75) and age- and sex-matched controls with smoking history (n=42) (Sabit et al., 2007). Both groups were similar in BP measurements and CV risks and results showed that arterial stiffness was increased in patients compared to controls and – in patients – it was related to severity of airflow obstruction. In a small study of male subjects (18 patients with COPD and 17 healthy subjects matched for age and smoking history), Maclay et al., found that the association of COPD to increased arterial stiffness was independent of smoking, characterised by elevated

augmentation index and reduced time to wave reflection (Maclay et al., 2009). McAllister et al., investigated the association of arterial stiffness to the severity of emphysema using brachial PWV (less prognostic measure of arterial stiffness) in 157 patients with COPD (McAllister et al., 2007). After adjusting for age, smoking history, sex, lung function, and other potential confounders, the study concluded that brachial arterial stiffness is independently associated with the severity of emphysema on HRCT scanning of the chest (r= 0.47, P<0.001).

Patients with COPD have increased markers of systemic inflammation (Sin and Man, 2003), which was discussed in later studies to be a potential reason for increased arterial stiffness in this population (Sabit et al., 2007, Mills et al., 2008). Other studies raised the possibility that the contribution of increased arterial stiffness in patients with COPD was linked to aortic calcification (Bolton et al., 2011) and microvascular damage (John et al., 2013).

1.7 Lung function, arterial stiffness, and physical functional limitation

Lung function, arterial stiffness, and physical limitation are all altered by the aging process independent of co-morbidity (Janssens et al., 1999, Mitchell et al., 2004, Freedman and Martin, 1998). However, Bolton et al., found that lung function in is an independent predictor of arterial stiffness over and above age in adult males (Bolton et al., 2009). They found that mid-life lung function was a stronger predictor of arterial stiffness than later-life where a reduced volume of 500ml in FEV_1 and FVC was associated with an increase of PWV of 0.52m/s and 0.42m/s; respectively. Recently, there has been an interest in literature in exploring the association between arterial stiffness and functional limitation in the general population and in patients with chronic conditions including COPD.

In a population-based study, the Whitehall II, the association of arterial stiffness to physical function, functional limitation, and lung function was investigated using 5,392 relatively-healthy older subjects (Brunner et al., 2011). Gait speed was used to assess physical function over 8-ft track. The results of this study (adjusted for confounders such as age, gender and ethnicity) showed that arterial stiffness, using applanation tonometry (SphygmoCor), was inversely related to physical function (-0.96, 95% CI: -1.29 - -0.64 m/s) and to spirometry lung function (-1.23, 95% CI: -1.53 - -0.92 L). Similarly, inverse association between arterial stiffness, using doppler-recorded carotid and femoral pulse waveforms, and 20m gait speed in patients with peripheral arterial disease (PAD) but not in subjects without PAD (Watson et al., 2011). The authors summarised that therapeutic intervention in patients with PAD could be directed to arterial stiffness in order to improve peripheral perfusion and, hence, walking performance.

A previous study by Castagna et al., looked at PAD, primarily PAD contribution to arterial stiffness, and exercise capacity in patients with COPD (Castagna et al., 2008). The authors found that exercise capacity was inversely related to
arterial stiffness – measured by the carotid-femoral PWV (Comlior, France) and, therefore, screening for CV risk in patients with COPD is important.

Given that patients with COPD are more susceptible to developing physical disability than healthy adults, the addition of physical functional assessment to spirometric measurements in the management of COPD may add valuable information that may guide therapeutic intervention (Celli et al., 2004, Geijer et al., 2007).

1.8 Determinants and potential benefits of aortic pulse wave velocity measurements in the assessment of COPD

Determinants of increased aortic stiffness differ from determinants of other conventional predictors of CV risk, for example hypertension. It was shown in previous studies that aortic stiffness predicts future incidents of hypertension; hence, aortic stiffness is not caused by hypertension (Kaess et al., 2012). It is important to mention that smoking (Mahmud and Freely., 2003) as well as some medical conditions like hypertension, diabetes mellitus and hypercholesterolemia are associated with increased aortic stiffness in adulthood have been highlighted in literature. Examples of these determinants are increased blood pressure and central fatness which are associated with poorer levels of blood lipids, cardiorespiratory fitness and heart rate (Ferreira et al., 2012).

As we age there is a linear increase of central haemodynamic measures, for example pulse pressure, but not aPWV which follows different pattern with a remarkable increase after the age of 50 years (McEniery et al., 2005). This suggests that using aPWV for people after the age of 50 years would give better prediction of future CV events. Comparison of age-matched groups of males and females showed different characteristics of increased aortic stiffness that appeared to be mainly affected by post-menopausal period (Nethononda et al., 2015). For example, females during pre-menopause have lower aortic stiffness than males and it is increased remarkably postmenopause, which was suggested to be a result of hormonal changes and/or fat distribution patters in females following menopause (Nethononda et al., 2015).

Drug therapy also has an effect on lowering arterial stiffness but in a different manner from drugs affecting peripheral or central haemodynamic measurements. Mackenzie et al. 2009 investigated the effect of four antihypertensive drugs (perindopril, atenolol, lercanidipine or bendrofluazide) on 59 patients with untreated isolated systolic hypertension (Mackenzie et al., 2009). They showed that each of these drugs has different effect on peripheral and central blood pressures, but no effect was found on aPWV. A double-blinded randomised study comparing the effects of combined drugs (perindopril and indapamide) and atenolol in hypertensive subjects over 12 months showed greater reductions of PWV in subjects treated with the combined drugs than those treated with the atenolol only (de Luca et al.,

2004). These findings suggest that assessment of aortic stiffness would provide better guidance to drug therapy.

In summary, it is apparent that measurements of peripheral BP, central BP and aPWV are not exchangeable and that assessment of aPWV provides additional information, which may lead to the advancement of clinical practice. Since CV events are common in patients with COPD, aPWV measurements could be used as a target for treatment as well as to detect improvement post drug and/or rehabilitation intervention to prevent or reduce the risks of CV events. Previous studies showed that patients with COPD have increased aortic stiffness (Sabit et al., 2007, Maclay et al., 2009) and it can be improved with rehabilitation through the improvement of BP (Gale et al., 2011, Vivodtzev et al., 2010). A direct measurement of the association of aortic stiffness to physical performance tests and self-reported physical activity is yet to be explored. The current research was to explore these associations in a wide range of patients with COPD and compared results to age- and gender-matched controls.

1.9 Assessment of physical performance

The concept of physical function has been used in literature to account for a wide range of assessment including, but not limited to, physical performance and psychological aspects (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Beauchamp et al., 2009, Schieman and Plickert, 2007). The current research focuses on the TUG test as a determinant of the physical limitation by based on performance

between patients and controls. Therefore, in this thesis the term physical performance is used when referring to the physical assessment tests.

There are two distinct methods used for the measurements of the physical performance: subjective and objective assessments. This thesis focuses on objective methods relevant to COPD.

1.9.1 <u>Types of physical performance assessment</u>

1.9.1.1 Subjective method

This approach includes self-reports and can be obtained by either questionnaire or telephone interview. Some of the advantages of this method are: relatively inexpensive and can be directed to address a specific area of problem (Reuben et al., 2004), and it is patient friendly (patients do not need to perform an activity in order to be assessed). Nevertheless, results obtained using these methods are more likely to be over or underestimated dependent on the person's judgment and ability to accurately recall information. Moreover, the longer the recall, the less accurate and reliable the information becomes (Sallis, 1993).

1.9.1.2 Objective method

Objective measures are performance-based tests. Objective methods may have less confounding variables in comparison to subjective methods (Ostir et al., 2002, Linn et al., 1980).

1.9.2 <u>Physical performance tests</u>

Assessment of physical performance in the general population is very important owing to its ability to provide a dimensional summary of the individual's physical environment, social participation and his/her daily life activity. Additionally, studies have proven repeatedly the ability of exercise tests to predict mortality, nursing home admissions, hospitalization, future incidence of disability (even for healthy individuals) (Chang et al, 2004, Eisner et al., 2007, Guralnik et al., 1994, Landi, 2007, Ostir et al., 2002, Rantanen et al., 1999, Studenski et al., 2003). Similarly, there is increasing interest in the use of exercise tests in patients with COPD because of its objectivity in evaluating exercise capacity and detecting changes pre/post intervention (Palange et al., 2007)

This section of the literature review critically discusses some of the up-to-date performance tests, which may be applicable to subjects with COPD. These tests include: the Six-Minute-Walk Test (6MWT), the Incremental Shuttle Walk Test (ISWT), the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) and the Time Up and Go (TUG) test. The literature review addresses the advantages and disadvantages, nature of the test, validity, reliability and the sensitivity to change of each of these tests.

1.9.2.1 Six-Minute-Walk Test (6MWT)

Six minute walk test is a commonly used test in the assessment and evaluation of physical performance in pulmonary rehabilitation assessments (Bromboszcz J, 2010). Over the past years, the measurements of physical performance using self-paced timed walking tests have become the scope of interest for many researchers. Self-paced walking tests were not restricted to six minutes only; investigators were interested in examining the different variations of timed-walk tests such as 12, 4, and 2-minute walking tests. However, the 6MWT, amongst all tests, was most favourable and thought of as a compromise between the 2 and the 12 minutes walking tests (Butland RJ, 1982).

1.9.2.1.1 Nature of the 6MWT

Six-minute walk is a timed submaximal test where individuals are instructed to walk as far as they can at their regular speed for 6 minutes. By the end of the 6min, the walked distance (6MWD) is recorded and used in the analysis as the primary outcome measure. It is a self-paced test that is performed on a marked walkway with two chairs – one at each end of the walkway - allowing the individuals to rest if needed. The ATS has published general guidelines with recommendations to follow for the 6MWT (ATS, 2002). The guidelines recommend that the test should be performed indoors on a straight, flat, and hard surface (30 metres) long.

Dyspnoea is an important part of the 6MWT and it can be measured subjectively using the Borg Scale (Galiè et al., 2004). The familiarity and simplicity of the test are plausible since walking is a simple activity of daily life and subjects are allowed to stop and rest if needed, within the allotted time. In addition, the 6MWT is an economic tool and only requires a stopwatch, a

pair of cones, a pair of chairs to be placed at each end of the walkway, and an oximeter device to measure the heart rate and oxygen saturation.

Furthermore, the 6MWT can detect certain walking behaviours such as the pace of the walk and the frequency of stops during the walk (Pitta et al., 2005a).

1.9.2.1.2 Validity

Examining the validity of a particular machine or questionnaire means investigating whether the machine or the questionnaire is actually measuring what it is supposed to measure. Harada et al., investigated the 6MWT on individuals from retirement homes and community centres and found a constructive validity of the 6MWT with five other physical performance tests (Harada et al., 1999). The correlation of the 6MWT was found in the chair stands (r= 0.70), tandem balance (r= 0.59), 8 feet walk (r= 0.68), but to a less extent to self-assessment measures. The associations between the 6MWT and other performance-based measurements were well established and similar results were found in other studies (Bean et al., 2002, Flansbjer et al., 2005).

1.9.2.1.3 Reliability and reproducibility

Reliability can be defined as the ability of a measure – e.g. a questionnaire or a device – to produce same results over different time. The test-retest reliability and reproducibility of the 6MWT have been shown in literature to be of a high standard, regardless of the different methodologies used in

different studies. For example, an observational study investigating the mobility-related function in healthy individuals (n=86) recruited from retirement homes and community centres (Harada et al., 1999). The authors reported that the 6MWT had a very high (r= 0.95) one week test-retest reliability. Other studies showed high one day test re-test reliability in elderly adults (61-89 years) and in patients with advanced heart failure (HF), interclass correlation coefficient (ICC)= 0.95 and ICC= 0.96; respectively (Cahalin et al., 1996, Steffen et al., 2002). Other studies presented similar findings in cardiac patients (O'Keeffe et al., 1998).

In COPD, Poulain et al., investigated the ability of the 6MWT to detect oxygen desaturation in 80 patients with COPD: FEV₁= 62.4 \pm 2% predicted by comparing it to the cardiopulmonary exercise test (Poulain et al., 2003). The results obtained from the 6MWD (mean (SD) 495 (4)m) were similar to the results from the reference 6MWD (499 (18)m) confirmed by the low variation coefficient (5.4 \pm 2%). The authors recommended the 6MWT to be used not only as a measurement tool of functional status and effectiveness of therapeutic intervention, but also as a diagnostic tool, for example, investigate the exercise-induce desaturation (Poulain et al., 2003). High reproducibility (ICC=0.93) was also found between the first and second 6MWD in a large retrospective observational study of 1,514 COPD patients with COPD (Hernandes et al., 2011).

1.9.2.1.4 Minimal Clinical Important Difference

The main outcome of the 6MWT is the distance covered by the end of the test. Therefore, clinicians need to determine the minimal clinical important difference of the distance covered, from which clinicians can determine the individuals' improvements of physical performance. With an intervention, the minimal clinical difference for patients with COPD was demonstrated in a study of 112 patients with COPD (mean age 67 years) who were already participating in a rehabilitation program strictly for their COPD conditions (Redelmeier et al., 1997). Patients were asked to perform 3 6MWTs on separate days and the third test was used in the analysis. To calculate the minimal clinical important difference, the authors compared the subjective (patients' rating: about the same/ a little bit better/ a little bit worse) and the objective (the 3rd 6MWT) methods after the rehabilitation. In the subjective method, patients were asked to rate performance against their peers. The results of the study showed that patients would recognise a difference in their physical performance when there is a 54 m difference in the distance they covered during the 6MWT. This cut-off value of 54m for the MCID has accepted and used in clinical practice. The method used in the study, where participants were asked to evaluate performance in comparison with each other, might be a useful to eliminate recall bias; however, this method might create an environmental bias where decisions on improvements might depend on the social interactions between subjects (Singh S. et al., 2008).

Two more recent studies, Puhan et al., and Holland et al., have re-evaluated the minimal important difference (35m and 25m, respectively) in people with COPD (Puhan et al., 2008, Holland et al., 2010). The main difference between these two studies and the Redelmeier et al., study was the methodological approach used for the patients' assessments of their improvements. The two studies used anchor-based and distribution-based methodologies and patients were asked to evaluate their improvement overtime. The small MID difference might be due to the self-report strategy used in each study. For example, Holland et al., asked patients to rate themselves using a "patient anchor specific to functional walking capacity" instead of health-related quality of life questionnaire, which was used in the other study. The strategy used by Holland et al., is considered more specific to walking capacity since health-related quality of life has been shown not to have good correlation with the 6MWT (de Torres et al., 2002).

1.9.2.1.5 6MWT in patients with COPD

Tests of exercise capacity (for example the 6MWT and the ISWT) are useful in the assessment of COPD and can detect significant improvement post rehabilitation intervention; however the long term benefits of these test are not know (Bolton et al., 2013, Rejbi et al., 2010). The 6MWT can detect improvements of functional status post rehabilitation as well as pharmacological intervention and reflect on the nature of improvements (Rejbi et al., 2010, Singh et al., 2014). The frequency and duration of the resting periods are believed to be an important part in the 6MWT. In a

retrospective chart review of 211 COPD patients, participants were grouped as Resters and Nonresters and measurements were taken pre and post 4week rehabilitation (Wong et al., 2010). The results showed that *Resters* improved their 6MWD by reducing the frequency and duration of resting time (increasing the walking time); whereas, *Nonresters* improved their distance by increasing the average walking speed. It was suggested that the improvement in speed for the *Nonresters* group might reflect on the cardiovascular or peripheral muscle improvements during the rehabilitation program; whilst, the reduction in the frequency and the duration of the resting periods may be a reflection on the pacing technique which, in-turn, improves endurance.

A longitudinal three year study following 576 patients with COPD, reported the 6MWT as an independent predictor of respiratory-related mortality (Casanova et al., 2008). In the study, relative risk of 1.007 (95% CI: 1.005-1.009) was associated with every one metre decrease in the 6MWD. Similarly, 6MWT was found to be better predictor of mortality than FEV₁ in a 2-year longitudinal study of 198 COPD patients and 41 healthy participants (controls) (Pinto-Plata et al., 2004). The risk ratio of mortality found in the study was 0.82 (0.72-0.94, 95% CI) for each 50m increase in the 6MWD.

The size of learning effect in patients with COPD varies from 2.6% - or 15m - (Troosters et al., 2002) to approximately 9% - or 108m - difference between the first and second, same day, 6MWT (Stevens D. et al., 1999). The relatively small size effect (2.6%) was most likely due to the inclusion criteria where the

authors recruited individuals who had already experienced the 6MWT prior to the conduction of the study. Based on literature, it is most probable that the size effect would be higher if the participants had never experienced the 6MWT before. This size effect may vary among studies depending on numerous factors, for example, the condition of the subjects, the methodology used in research studies (including/exclusion criteria), frequency and intensity of encouragements, and other psychological factors such as depression (Spruit et al., 2010, Enright et al., 2003, de Torres et al., 2002). The 6MWT, unlike the shuttle walking test, is not responsive to medication. In a randomised double-blind study of 14 patients with COPD asked to perform two 6MWT and two endurance shuttle walk test post either 500mcg of ipratropium bromide of a placebo (Pepin et al., 2006). The study results showed that the endurance shuttle walk test was responsive to medications but not the 6MWD. A recently published systematic review of field walking tests in patients with chronic respiratory disease showed that the effect of medications (bronchodilators) on the 6MWD is minimal, not clinically significant (Singh et al., 2014). These findings strongly emphasise the importance of understanding and assessing both the pulmonary and the nonpulmonary aspects of COPD. Such findings led some researchers to imply that patients with mild COPD and poor 6MWD might indicate that health providers should look at extra-pulmonary rather than intra-pulmonary causes (Spruit et al., 2010).

According to the American Thoracic Society (ATS)/European Respiratory Society (ERS) guidelines, a pulmonary rehabilitation programme has to be patient-centred because improvement in performance capacity is exercise specific and improvement in the general fitness doesn't necessarily reflect improvement in everyday activities (Nici et al., 2006). The 6MWT lacks the ability to reflect certain important characteristics of patients with COPD such as the ability to stand from a seated position and to sit back again; patients' coordination ability in changing direction while walking, which in turn reflects on risks of falling in COPD patients. However, the 6MWT was the preferred walking test over other walking tests owing to its simplicity, tolerability and safety - no reports of any injuries were found even in studies including patients with moderate to very severe cases of COPD (de Torres et al., 2002, Spruit et al., 2010, Enright et al., 2003).

1.9.2.2 Incremental shuttle walking test

This test was first introduced in patients with COPD as an objective measure of functional capacity. The incremental shuttle walking test (ISWT) was modified from the downgraded 10 level protocol to a modified 12 level protocol as the levels in the former might not be enough to stress patients with mild form of COPD to reveal their maximum functional capacity (Singh S. et al., 1992). Unlike self-paced test, ISWT can detect symptoms related limitation at maximal performance, which allows direct measurements of performance in patients with COPD (Singh S. et al., 1992).

1.9.2.2.1 The nature of the incremental shuttle walking test

ISWT requires patients to walk between two cones – placed on a ten metres course - within a set time that is indicated by pre-set beeps played on a recorded audiotape. The number of laps is recorded and the time starts very slow and progresses with each minute. The test ends when the subject is too breathlessness or cannot maintain the required speed (Singh S. et al., 1992). Learning effect is present in the ISWT and one practice test is recommended with a minimum of 30 minutes in between each performance (Singh S. et al., 1992, Vagaggini et al., 2003, Fowler et al., 2005).

ISWT has been used in number of conditions including COPD, cardiac patients, following coronary artery bypass surgery, evaluation of lung resection candidate, advanced cancer, and pulmonary rehabilitation (Lewis et al., 2001, Singh S. et al., 1992, Roberto P. Benzoa, 2010, Booth and Adams, 2001, Griffiths et al., 2000, Fowler et al., 2005).

1.9.2.2.2 Validity

When Singh et al., developed the ISWT, they investigated the test-retest reliability of the ISWT and the validity of the test against the 6MWT in COPD population (Singh S. et al., 1992). The results showed moderate correlation (r= 0.68) in the distance covered in both tests and graded cardiovascular response was obtained by the ISWT and not the 6MWT.

Singh et al., investigated the association of ISWT to the maximum oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2 peak}$) – which is an index of cardiorespiratory capacity - during

treadmill test in 19 patients with chronic airflow limitation (Singh et al., 1994). The study demonstrated a strong correlation between the distance covered during the ISWT and $\dot{\mathbf{V}}O_{2 peak}$ during treadmill test (r=0.88) determined by the following regression equation:

 $\dot{V}o_2max = 4.19 + 0.025$ (distance)

Fowler et al., have used similar methods to investigate the validity of the ISWT against standard measurements of $\dot{\mathbf{V}}O_{2\,peak}$ - measured by gas analysis during incremental treadmill test - in 39 patients 6-8 weeks after coronary artery bypass surgery and prior to rehabilitation (Fowler et al., 2005). They showed strong associations between the ISWTs (distance covered) and $\dot{\mathbf{V}}O_{2\,peak}$ measured by gas analysis during incremental treadmill test (r = 0.79, r = 0.86 and r = 0.87 for Tests 1–3, respectively). The maximum oxygen uptake obtained from the ISWT can be used to adjust the walking pace of the Endurance Shuttle Walk Test (ESWT), which is an externally paced field test developed to assess endurance capacity in patients with COPD (*Revill et al., 1999*).

1.9.2.2.3 Reliability

The study conducted by Singh et al., (mentioned in p 29) 10 patients were examined for the test-retest reliability by performing three ISWT trials (Singh S. et al., 1992). All patients in their study completed the ISWT reaching level three to eight and no one finished the test at level 12. The study results showed significant differences when the first trial was compared to the second and third trials; whilst no difference was found between the second and third trials (345m, 376m, and 378m; respectively), which emphasise the learning effect in the ISWT. Similarly, high reliability of the ISWT was found in number of conditions other than COPD, for example, patients with pacemakers (Payne and Skehan, 1996) and patients with advanced cancer (Booth and Adams, 2001).

1.9.2.2.4 Minimal Clinically Important Difference

In COPD, the minimal clinical important difference for the ISWT was, recently, established by investigating patients attending a seven week pulmonary rehabilitation programme (Singh S. et al., 2008). In the study, 372 patients with confirmed COPD (mean (SD) FEV₁= 1.06 (0.53)L FEV₁/FVC ratio 50.8 (18.1)% and a mean (SD) age of 69(4)years underwent ISWTs before and after the programme. Exercise tolerance was assessed after the ISWT using a 5-point Likert scale (range from "better" to "worse"). Patients who reported "better" showed improvement in their exercise tolerance after the rehabilitation programme with a mean distance of 78.7m (95% CI, 70.5 to 86.9) and those who reported "slightly better" they improved by 47.5m (95%CI, 38.6 to 56.5). Therefore, a change of 47.5m in the ISWT is recognised as a MCID where an improvement of 78.7m is suggested to be an indication of additional benefits.

1.9.2.2.5 Conclusion

The ISWT is a well-tolerated test of maximal exercise capacity in different chronic conditions. It is considered to be less expensive than other conventional tests – for example the ergometers – as the ISWT only requires

minimal equipment. Although it is standardised to perform one practice test, the use of audio-recorded external pace minimise in the ISWT minimises the degree of learning effect.

1.9.2.3 Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB)

The ability of the exercise test to evaluate real life functional activities urged researchers to develop an accurate, reliable, sensitive, easier to perform, and less time and space consuming test which can relate to different dimensions of physical performance, for example the short physical performance battery (SPPB).

1.9.2.3.1 Nature of the short physical performance battery test

SPPB was first introduced by Guralnik et al., using data from the Established Populations for Epidemiologic Studies of the Elderly study (Guralnik et al., 1994). It is a simple and short test that was designed to measure three different types of manoeuvres: balance, gait speed and chair stand test. Each physical manoeuvre of the test is timed and scaled separately starting with standing balance test and ending with chair stand test. The entire test should not take more than 10 minutes to complete. Moreover, the SPPB is an inexpensive test; it only requires a standard chair and a stopwatch for timing. The short-distance walk (8-feet) in the SPPB test makes the test feasible to perform in a small space.

The SPPB consists of 5 points scale ranging from 0, not being able to perform the task, to 4 which is the highest performance score (Guralnik et al., 1994). The full summed score ranges from 0 to 12 with 12 being the SPPB summary test of the highest possible performance score.

1.9.2.3.2 Validity

Guralnik et al., tested the validity of the SPPB test by investigating the following: its association to self-report measurements, its ability to measure performance along the entire functional spectrum (not only at the disabled end), and its ability to predict mortality and nursing home admissions (Guralnik et al., 1994). In a study of over 5000 participants (aged \geq 71 years) who were recruited from the general population, showed that SPPB was positively related to self-reported measurements and inversely related to aging. In COPD, the Functional, Living, Outcome, and Work (FLOW) cohort study investigated the impact of COPD on physical performance limitations by comparing 1202 patients with COPD to 302 healthy controls, both groups were matched for age, gender and race (Eisner et al., 2008). The study showed that the SPPB score was 1.0 point less (9% decrease in the SPPB score) in the COPD group compared to the controls group, which was similar to the 6MWT where the COPD group walked 334 feet (20%) less than the controls group. Another study by Kon et al., showed that slow 4m gait speed component of the SPPB was strongly associated with reduced ISWT and higher MRC score and SGRQ in >500 patients with COPD; this was independence of the degree of airway obstruction ($FEV_1\%$ predicted (Kon et al., 2013).

1.9.2.3.3 Reliability

To investigate the reliability of the SPPB test, it was necessary to examine the three components of the test as well as the SPPB summary test.

• Reliability of the SPPB summary test:

Ostir et al., investigated the test-retest reliability in a 3-year prospective cohort study of over 1,000 moderately to severely disable older women in three different occasions - 5-6, 12-13, and 19-20 weeks – showing high Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) = 0.92, 0.88, and 0.91, respectively (Ostir et al., 2002). Another study of 52 African American older adults showed SPPB test-retest repeatability (ICC= 0.81) over one week (Mangione et al., 2010).

• Reliability of the gait speed test:

High reliability of the 4m gait test with ICC of 0.86, 0.80, and 0.89, respectively, was presented in the Women's Health and Aging Study (WHAS) study investigating disabled older women (Ostir et al., 2002). In another study, the 4m gait speed was also found to have high test-retest (r= 0.97, within 24hr and 48hr periods) and inter-observer (r= 0.99) reliability in patients with COPD (Kon et al., 2014).

Reliability of the chair stand test:

Again, high reliability of the chair stand test was shown in the WHAS study; ICC 0.76, 0.86, and 0.90, respectively. Similar results of high reliability were shown in another population (age 35-71 years) with significant physical limitation; ICC= 0.80 (Curb et al., 2006).

• Reliability of the balance test:

The WHAS study showed ICC of 0.71 (5-6 weeks), 0.82 (12-13 weeks), and 0.70 (19-20 weeks) for the balance test (Ostir et al., 2002). The study by Curb et al., showed no reliability for the side-by-side and semi-tandem standing positions and only low reliability of the full tandem test with ICC of 0.22 (Curb et al., 2006). The main difference between the two studies was that the average age in the WHAS study was higher than the oldest participant in the Curb et al., 2006 study. Moreover, not only did Curb et al., recruit younger adults, but they also included only a high functioning Japanese American population who have an active life expectancy higher than any other ethnic groups (Tsuji et al., 1995). Therefore, the full tandem, which is the most difficult standing position among the three (Freeman et al., 2008), was the only challenging task for balance in this group of people.

1.9.2.3.4 Minimal Clinical Important Difference

Perera et al., have adopted the anchor-based approach trying to measure the minimal clinical important difference in the SPPB on community dwelling older adults and sub-acute stroke survivors (Perera et al., 2006). They showed small meaningful and substantial changes of 0.54 and 1.34, respectively, for the SPPB. Furthermore, in a longitudinal study following 542 community-dwelling adults (aged ≥ 65 years old) for three years using SPPB as a tool to predict the ability to walk 400m (Vasunilashorn et al., 2009). The results showed that SPPB score of ≤ 10 points was a significant indicator of future disability, SPPB score of ≤ 7 points was associated with increased risk

(26.9 times) of developing disability when compared to SPPB score of 12 points and SPPB score of ≤ 10 was with increased risk (3.4 times) to develop mobility disability when compared to SPPB score of 12 points.

1.9.2.3.5 SPPB in Patients with COPD

The FLOW study, mentioned earlier, is the largest cohort study investigating broad range of physical limitations in COPD patients (Eisner et al., 2008). The study shows consistency of the SPPB test with the 6MWT and self-reports. Although SPPB test and the 6MWT were used for the assessment of the lower extremity limitations and the submaximal exercise performance, respectively, the study population was only limited to younger adults (40-65 year-old) and; therefore, findings cannot be applied to older adults where the impact of COPD on the physical limitation might be underestimated.

One of the disadvantages of the SPPB test is that it has a ceiling effect for high functioning individuals. This was discussed in the earlier section when different findings were obtained from the WHAS and Curb et al., studies. This ceiling effect might be misleading specially when trying to detect early and more subtle impairments in patients with COPD (Curb et al., 2006).

1.9.2.4 Timed Up and Go (TUG) test

TUG is one of the tests that have been developed to measure basic physical performance in the elderly.

1.9.2.4.1 The Nature of the TUG Test

TUG test is adapted from the "Get-up and Go" test which was developed in 1986 by Mathias et al., on balance function (Mathias et al., 1986). It wasn't until 1991 when a modified, timed (seconds) version was introduced to overcome the subjectivity of "Get-up and Go" test (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). The American College of Rheumatology recommended the use of a standard arm chair for the TUG test - seat height of 46cm and arm height of 64cm (Rheumatology., 2014), as the chair height might have an influence on the subjects performing the TUG test (Heung and Shamay, 2009). Metaanalysis of 21 studies showed that the mean time to complete the test for participants (60 year-old or above) was 9.4s (95% CI, 8.9-9.9) (Bohannon, 2006).

1.9.2.4.2 Validity

Since falls and balance impairments are common in patients with COPD (Beauchamp et al., 2009), it is necessary to validate a test which can discriminate between those who are at risk of falls and those who are not. In a study of 60 community-dwelling patients (mean age 79.5 years), Podsialdo and Richardson presented a good correlation between the TUG test and Berg balance scale, r = -0.81 (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). Moreover, the validity of the TUG test and stair climbing power test was examined in a small cross sectional study of 21 patients with COPD (moderate-severe stage) and 21 healthy controls (Roig et al., 2010). The study showed moderate association (r = -0.46) between stair climbing power test and the TUG test in

this group of patients. In addition, validity was found between gait time (10m) and the TUG tests in an observational study of 79 orthopaedic patients (61-84 years old) entering rehabilitation program (r=0.75 on admission and r=0.82 on discharge) (Freter and Fruchter, 2000).

1.9.2.4.3 Reliability

Same day test-retest reliability of the TUG test was found to be high, ICC > 0.90, in older adults across several studies including those with balance deficits, patients with neurological disorder, patients with COPD, and community-dwelling healthy individuals (Bennie S, 2003, Salarian A et al., 2010, Roig et al., 2010, Steffen et al., 2002, Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Mesquita et al., 2013). Recently, Mesquita et al., showed high same day test-retest reliability of the TUG test in patients with advanced COPD (ICC= 0.85, 95%CI: 0.76-0.91), chronic heart failure (CHR) (ICC= 0.94, 95% CI: 0.87-0.97) and chronic renal failure (CRF) (ICC= 0.91, 95% CI: 0.78-0.96) (Mesquita et al., 2013).

1.9.2.4.4 Sensitivity and specificity

Researchers have altered the TUG test either by measuring the time required by patients to perform each subcomponent of the test separately (Salarian A et al., 2010, Wall C., 2000) or by adding an extra task (dual-task) to the test (TUG_{cognitive}, and TUG_{manual}), for example, holding a glass of water while performing the TUG test (Shumway-Cook et al., 2000). Regardless of the different approaches used, the sensitivity and specificity of the single-task version of TUG test have been evidenced in these studies without the need to make any modification which might interfere with the simplicity and objectivity of the test (Nordin et al., 2008, Gyrd Thrane, 2007, Kristensen et al., 2007). In a study to compare the sensitivity and specificity of the single-task TUG test and dual-task TUG_{cognitive}, and TUG_{manual} in community-dwelling elderly persons who are susceptible to falling, 15 older adults (mean (SD) age 78 (6)years) with no history of falls, and 15 older adults (age 86 (6) years) with history of two or more falls within six months prior to the study were examined (Shumway-Cook et al., 2000). The study used a cut-off time of \geq 13.5s which gave 87% sensitivity and 87% specificity for the single-task TUG test to identify community-dwelling elderly people who are prone to fall without any significant difference when compared to results obtained from the other dual-task tests.

1.9.2.4.5 Minimal Clinical Important Difference

The minimal clinical important difference for the TUG test was investigated in a prospective study of patients with hip osteoarthritis undergoing physiotherapy treatment (9-weeks) (Wright A, 2011). Using three different methods (sensitivity and specificity based approach, within-patients score change approach and between patients score approach), the results showed TUG minimal clinical important difference of equal or less than 0.8s, 1.4s and 1.2s, respectively. To our knowledge the minimal clinical important difference for the TUG test in patients with COPD has not been established yet.

1.9.2.4.6 TUG cut-off values looking at mobility and falls

Literature shows different cut-off times of the TUG test when investigating different conditions, for example, TUG of \leq 12 second in community-dwelling elderly women was established to identify normal mobility (Bischoff et al., 2003), TUG of \geq 13.5 second in community-dwelling elderly who were susceptible of falling using assistive devices, 18 second for those using a cane, and 34 seconds for those using wheeled-walker (Shumway-Cook et al., 2000).

Gender might have a role in the mentioned cut-off values as in Bischoff et al., study only female participants were included; whereas, the Shumway-Cook et al., study included both genders (Bischoff et al., 2003, Shumway-Cook et al., 2000). Similarly, a two second difference was also found in a longitudinal population-based study (The Tromso study) investigating the association between the TUG test and history of falls in 974 participants (42.7% males) with the mean (SD) age of all participants was 78 (2) years (Gyrd Thrane, 2007). The results of the study support the gender differences where the mean (SD) time for men and women to complete the TUG test were 12 (5.4)s and 13.3 (7.1)s, respectively. Moreover, there is evidence in literature shows an association between the TUG test in their study: 60-69 years = 8s (95% CI= 7-9), 70-79 years = 9s (95% CI= 7-11), and 80-89 years = 10s (95% CI= 9-12) (Steffen et al., 2002).

1.9.2.4.7 TUG in patients with COPD

In literature, the studies investigating the TUG test in patients with COPD are limited (Table 1.1). Roig et al., showed that muscle strength (assessed by stair climb power test) and mobility (assessed by 6MWD and TUG tests) were impaired in patients with COPD in comparison to healthy controls (Roig et al., 2010). However, their finding are not generalisable to the general COPD population as they used small (n=21) and convenient sample of patients with COPD - Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) stage II and III.

Beauchamp et al., found that TUG is a useful test to differentiate between fallers and non-fallers in patients with COPD (Beauchamp et al., 2009). However, the authors did not use healthy comparators and did not investigate TUG association to the frequency of fall amongst COPD fallers. In comparison to non-fallers, fallers in their study also had greater functional limitations defined by a higher Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea score, and lower walked distance in the 6MWT.

Janssen et al., investigated patients with advanced COPD and Chronic heart failure (CHF) and showed that TUG was inversely related to the general health status (Janssen et al., 2011)

Ē	Author	Year	Туре	Si Ze	Group I	Group II	Main Finding	Notes
1	Menard- Rothe et al.	1997	Cross-sectional	59	End-stage emphysema		 TUG was the same with 6MWD Men walked farther and faster but rested more 	 TUG instruction was to walk as quickly as possible
2	Butcher et al.	2004	Cross-sectional	51	COPD N=30	Healthy N=21	 TUG was increased in COPD TUG associated with COPD severity and activity but not O₂ suppliment 	 COPD during PR training (3wks minimum) prior to study All controls were active or on regular exercise
ñ	Beauchamp et al.	2009	Cross-sectional	39	COPD	,	 Cut-off of 16s is accepted (50%sensitivity and specificity) 	 TUG differentiate between fallers and non-fallers FEV₁% predicted= 42%, 46% on O₂ supplement
4	Beauchamp et al.	2010	Intervention - 6wk cardiopulmonary rehabilitation	29	СОРД		 Cardiopulmonary rehabilitation improves TUG 	 patients recruited after minimum of 3wk of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation
5	Roig et al.	2010	Cross-sectional	42	COPD N=21	Healthy N=21	 TUG & 6MWD were impaired in COPD Same day test re-test for TUG was ICC [2,1]= 0.95 	
9	Mesquita et al.	2013	Cross-sectional	23 5	Advance COPD	Advance CHF and CRF	 Improvement from 1st to 2nd TUG trials but not 3nd trial TUG is reliable to be used in daily clinical practice 	
At Re	breviation: Time ferences: (Mena	-Up and rd-Rothe	Go (TUG), six-minute w , 1997), (Butcher et al.,	alk di 2004	stance (6MWD)), (Beauchamp €	, pulmonary et al., 2009),	r rehabilitation (PR), chronic heart failure (C + (Beauchamp et al., 2010), (Roig et al., 2010)	IF) and chronic renal failure (CRF) , (Mesquita et al., 2013)

Table 1.1: Studies Investigating TUG in Patients with COPD

1.9.2.4.8 TUG test in research and clinical practice

The TUG is a valid and reliable test that has been shown to be a useful tool to detect limitations of physical performance and balance, risks of fall and improvement post-rehabilitation intervention in healthy subjects as well as number of medical conditions including, but not limited to patients with Parkinson's disease, osteoporosis and COPD (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Beauchamp et al., 2009, Madureira et al., 2007, Shumway-Cook et al., 2000). Currently, the most commonly used field walking tests have a number of limitations, mainly in the required time and space, which limit their use in research or clinical practice. For example, the 6MWD and ISW tests require certain space (walking track of 30m and 10m, respectively) and time to perform one practice and one actual test (Singh et al., 2014). The SPPB is a multi-task test of physical performance which requires small space, but is limited by ceiling effect (Curb et al., 2006). The TUG test, on the other hand, is a continuous multi-task test of physical performance that requires small space and short time to perform. It can also be used as an objective measure of risk of falls as well as balance impairment along with Borg Balance Scale. Moreover, literature showed that the TUG test has better prognostic power to predict future incidence of falls in community-dwelling older adults than other fall assessment tests such as muscle strength assessment and balance assessment tests including Borg Balance Scale (Bhatt et al., 2011).

These advantages of the TUG test make it superior over other physical performance tests to be used in the research unit environment, clinical

practice and in the community, for example, detecting improvement in telerehabilitation programme. Although the TUG test does not reflect exercise capacity or maximum oxygen uptake as the 6MWD and ISWT do, health care providers might, potentially, use the TUG test as streaming tool of physical performance prior to referring to these field walking tests.

Future studies may show that the TUG test adds value in the assessment of patients with COPD to detect reduced physical performance, improvement over time (for example post-rehabilitation intervention) and risks of fall. Furthermore, the TUG test might be used as an initial assessment of physical performance by which a decision of further investigation using other field walking test can be made. The multi-task components associated with the TUG test, for example standing from a seated position, turning and sitting down on the chair, may also be beneficial to assess strength, balance and coordination in patients with COPD as it requires more cognitive involvement. This research may help reveal the potential benefits of the TUG test in the assessment of patients with COPD and fulfil the gap in literature which highlights the need for a physical performance test which requires small space and time in the assessment of patients with COPD.

1.9.2.4.9 Conclusion

The TUG is a simple test of functional mobility that can be used in clinical settings as well as the community for functional assessments of patients with COPD. It is a continuous multi-task test measured in seconds with no ceiling effects. The studies investigating the TUG ability to detect functional

impairments and self-reported previous falls used small sample and convenient sample of patients with COPD. The reliability of the TUG in patients with COPD has been established using same day test-retest reliability. Same day inter-observer and different day intra-observer reliability of the TUG test have not been investigated.

1.10 Hypothesis

- The Time Up and Go (TUG) test is increased in patients with COPD compared to age- and gender-matched controls reflecting impaired physical performance in patients
- The TUG test is inversely related to the six minute walking distance (6MWD) in patients with COPD
- The TUG test is a simple test with high inter- and intra-observer reliability in patients with COPD
- The TUG is a useful test to differentiate between fallers and nonfallers in patients with COPD
- Impaired physical performance, as measured by TUG and/or 6MWT is

 a significant determinant of the increased aortic stiffness in patients
 with COPD, independent of age, gender and lung function
- Aortic stiffness is inversely related to self-reported physical activity in patients with COPD
- Patients with COPD have abnormal profile of 24-hour aortic pulse wave velocity when compared to age- and gender-matched controls

Chapter 2

Methods

2.1 Setting

This was a single centre, cross-sectional study that was undertaken at the Nottingham Respiratory Research Unit (NRRU) at Nottingham City Hospital. Each participant was invited to attend one study visit, which lasted approximately 120 minutes.

2.2 Sample size

To test the main hypothesis, the target recruitment number was 180 subjects with a smoking history of greater than 10 pack years: 120 patients with clinically stable COPD and 60 controls without COPD matched for age and gender. Dr Charlotte Bolton performed the statistical power calculation to determine sample size using *G power software* during the designing stage of the study. The calculation was based on mean (SD) TUG time of 15 (4.3) seconds for patients with COPD with no control arm group (Beauchamp et al., 2010). A two-tailed t-test was then used with an effect size of 0.52 and alpha of 0.05. This yielded a power of 90.8% to detect a 15% (2.25 second) difference between patients with COPD and control groups.

2.3 Recruitment

Three sources of recruitment were used for this study:

- **Out-Patients:** Patients attending Respiratory Out-Patient clinic at Nottingham University Hospitals (NHS) Trust were introduced to the study by one of the respiratory consultants. If patients were willing to consider the study, study information sheets (Appendix 1) were sent out and further discussion ensued.
- Databases: Potential patients were identified using the Nottingham Respiratory Research Database. This is a database of volunteers with and without respiratory diseases that have consented to have their details stored and to be contacted for future studies. Subjects are entered onto the database from clinics, rehabilitation and additionally from poster, web page (<u>www.nrru.org</u>) and formerly a Facebook link. These volunteers were contacted to be giver brief overview of the study followed by information sheets.
- Advertisements: Ethics allowed study specific posters to be placed across both the University of Nottingham and NUH NHS Trust as well as in local newspapers and on websites. Further, COPD posters regarding research in general at the NRRU permit a further source.

2.4 Ethics

This study was approved by the Nottingham Research Ethics Service (NRES): "*The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk*" 10/H0406/65. This ethical permission allows a large population of people with smoking history with and without COPD to be studied. An ethical amendment to permit the further specifics of this project was approved in January 2012. The studies and patients recruited for this study form a specific group for the purposes of this thesis and body of work.

2.5 Inclusion/exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria for this study include

- Male and female subjects
- 40-85 years old
- >10 pack years history smoking (ex-smokers or current smokers)
- European ancestry. This latter inclusion was set because of the likely genetic, body composition, lung function and CV differences/ influences between subjects of different ethnic origin.

The exclusion criteria include:

- Terminal disease where mortality is expected within a 6-week period.
- Malignancy whether active or suspected,
- Known α1 antitrypsin deficiency
- Pregnancy for female participants.

Subjects were studied at clinical stability defined as \geq 4 weeks free from a course of antibiotics for an exacerbation of COPD or change in symptoms suggesting an exacerbation. This was not an exclusion criterion as appointments could be rearranged and deferred. Subjects presenting with previously diagnosed CV disease or diabetes were not excluded in either group.
2.6 Process

All subjects received the study information sheet and given sufficient time (up to two weeks) to read through the information sheet and ask questions regarding their participation in the study. They were then contacted to assess whether they were willing to participate. A suitable date was arranged and an appointment letter, a map of the City Hospital and directions to the NRRU were sent. A taxi was offered to the subjects or alternatively the cost of travel and parking was reimbursed.

2.6.1 Informed consent

Upon arrival, the objectives of the study and the required tests to be performed during the study visit were discussed.

Consent allowed the opportunity for the subject to ask questions, the researcher to outline the nature of participation and specify the use of the obtained samples and confirmed the agreement to take part in the study. The consent also included optional points, which the participants may choose whether to agree on including consent for 24 hour ambulatory BP monitor in the subgroup (Appendix 2).

2.6.2 Patients' details and questionnaires

Detailed information regarding the patient's physical activity, smoking history and occupational exposure, history of falls, detailed lung related conditions, and other general medical conditions were recorded.

Further, subjects were asked to complete three respiratory related questionnaires during the study visit:

2.6.2.1 St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ)

The SGRQ assesses how patients' view their illness (Jones et al., 1992). The SGRQ consists of three parts – symptoms, activity, and impacts of COPD (Appendix 3). Each part is calculated separately and the total score is calculated where higher scores indicate worse health status.

In a quiet clinical setting, subjects were given sufficient time to complete the questionnaire independently. Subjects were allowed to ask clarification questions as needed regarding the questionnaire. Once completed, the questionnaire was checked for missing or uncompleted answers and the scores calculated.

2.6.2.2 <u>Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale</u>

The MRC dyspnoea scale is a graded scale to assess patient's breathlessness (Appendix 4). It consists of five sentences – numbered 1 to 5 - where the

patient is asked to tick the sentence which best describes his/her dyspnoea (Fletcher, 1960).

2.6.3 Height and weight measurements

Measurements of height (metres) and weight (kilograms) were obtained using Seca scales device (Seca, Germany). Subjects were asked to stand on the weight scale barefoot and without outdoor clothing on. From this, the body mass index (BMI) was calculated: weight/square of height (in metres). BMI is a widely accepted index to classify underweight, overweight, and obesity in adults (WHO, 2006).

2.6.4 Body composition

Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis (BIA) body (Tanita BC-418, UK) was used to measure the body composition including, but not limited to, fat and fat-free mass (Appendix 5). The participant's age, height and gender were inputted in the BIA before he/she was asked to stand on the device to obtain the measurements. Subjects were asked to empty their bladder and be bare foot so removing all socks/stockings. Contradictions to BIA include pacemakers and implantable cardiac defibrillator. Other contraindications for BIA such as pregnancy were excluded as part of the exclusion criteria for the main study.

2.6.5 <u>Haemodynamic profile</u>

Haemodynamic measurements preceded many investigations in order to avoid the effect of beta2-agonist drugs - used during the lung function test or exhaustion after the 6MWT. Subjects were also asked to refrain from caffeine substances and other respiratory medications prior to their visit.

2.6.5.1 Peripheral blood pressure (BP) measurements

Subjects were asked to sit and resting time was allowed for a period of >10 minutes. The appropriate sized cuff was placed on the upper part of the right arm with the bladder placed over the brachial artery. The BP was measured on three occasions following detailed Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) using a British Hypertension Society (BHS) validated BP monitor (Omron 705IT, UK). The average of the three systolic and diastolic measures was used to determine seated BP. From these, the peripheral pulse pressure (PPP) and peripheral mean arterial pressure (MAP) were calculated

The subject was asked to lay down supine with one pillow in a comfortable position for >10 minutes allowing haemodynamic stability before taking further BP measurements for supine assessment. The same method to determine supine peripheral BP was undertaken.

2.6.5.2 Central haemodynamics

Central haemodynamics were taken with the subject both seated and supine using the Vicorder apparatus (Skidmore Medical, UK). The Vicorder cuff was placed on the right brachial artery and systolic, diastolic, MAP, augmentation index (Aix), and heart rate were measured on three occasions and the average recorded following >10 minutes rest in the seated and then supine position.

2.6.5.3 Pulse wave velocity (PWV)

The aPWV was performed using Vicorder apparatus (Skidmore Medical, UK) which is non-invasive and a simple device that has been validated for measuring the PWV (Hickson et al., 2009) (although further methodological amendments have been made following discussion with the authors of this paper and the company).

In a supine position and after a period of rest - >10 minutes - in a quiet room, aPWV was performed by placing a standard vascular cuff around the right upper femoral artery and a bladder over the subject's carotid artery on the site of the carotid artery (Appendix 6).

Path length was measured starting from the suprasternal notch to the top of the femoral cuff and adding five centimetres (to represent the distance to the middle of the cuff where the maximum inflation point is and provide more accurate measurements of the length path. Transit time (TT) – the time in which the pulse wave travels between two arterial sites - was calculated by the Vicorder. The aPWV was calculated as path length/TT (m/s) (Appendix 7). Measurement of aPWV of <4.7m/s is considered inaccurate and any such values were excluded from analysis.

57

2.6.6 Spirometry measurements

A three-litre syringe was used to calibrate the Micro-medical spirometer (MicroLab MK6) on the day of each visit. All subjects were asked to refrain from respiratory inhalers six hours prior to their visit. Before performing the test, subjects were checked for any contraindications such as abdominal/thoracic/eye surgery or myocardial infarction within the past three months, unstable angina, uncontrolled hypertension, glaucoma, perforated eardrum, aneurysm, haemoptysis, and steroids/antibiotics for the chest within the past four weeks.

Pre and post bronchodilator measurements were determined while subjects were seated upright on a chair with arms. Subject's details were inputted in the spirometer including the age, gender and height and the procedure of how to perform the test was explained. Subjects were instructed to take a deep breath in and blow it out as fast and as long as possible while making a good seal with his/her mouth around the mouth piece of the spirometer.

With each blow, subjects received continuous encouragements by saying "keep going" until subjects could not blow anymore.

Three repeatable pre-bronchodilator attempts were taken according to the American Thoracic Society (ATS) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) criteria (Miller et al., 2005).

Reversibility testing was performed by administering 400mcg Salbutamol via an MDI and spacer. Fifteen to twenty minutes were allowed before the postbronchodilator test was performed. For pre and post bronchodilator spirometry , measurements of actual value of FEV₁, FEV₁% predicted, actual value of forced vital capacity (FVC), FVC% predicted, and the FEV₁/FVC ratio were measured against the predicted values based on gender, age and height. Only Post-bronchodilator measurements were used in the analysis.

Severity of airflow obstruction (FEV₁/FVC <0.7) in subjects with COPD was classified using the NICE criteria (Table 2.1) (NICE, 2010).

Table 2.1 NICE Classification of the Severity of COPD (NICE, 2010)

Abbreviation: Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁)

Stage	Post-bronchodilator Predicted value of FEV ₁ %
Mild	FEV1≥80% (and symptoms)
Moderate	FEV ₁ 50-79%
Severe	FEV ₁ 30-49%
Very severe	FEV ₁ <30%

2.6.7 Carbon monoxide measurement

The level of exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) was determined using Clement Clarke Smokerlyzer CO monitor. The obstacle some patients might encounter during this test is the 15 seconds breath hold. The recommended technique for using CO test is to ask the patients to hold their breath for few seconds and not to use the exact number 15 seconds (Covita., 2013). Thus, each subject was instructed to take a deep breath in and hold it for few seconds then breathe it out normally through the mouthpiece of the CO monitor. On a scale of 1-80 showing on the monitor, current smokers would likely exceed 10.

2.6.8 Venepuncture

Subjects' eligibility for blood sample was assessed and procedures were explained. Following the aseptic non-touch technique, up to two attempts (maximum) were performed on each subject; if both attempts failed, subject was taken to phlebotomy for venepuncture. For each subject, plasma (EDTA and Lithium Heparin) and serum was taken. Serum was sent for immediate biochemistry analysis (lipid profile) and further aliquots centrifuged and stored at -80 degrees Celsius for later research analysis (not covered in this Ph.D).

60

2.6.9 Field walking and physical performance tests

This was assessed objectively by asking the subject to perform two tests - the 6 minute-walk test (6MWT) and the Time Up and Go (TUG) test.

2.6.9.1 Six minute walk test (6MWT)

Oxygen saturation and heart rate (Konica Minolta Pulsox-300) were monitored before, during and immediately after the test. Self-reported level of breathlessness - measured by Borg scale (Burdon et al., 1982) (Appendix 8) – was recorded before and immediately after the test (ATS, 2002).

In a quiet enclosed corridor, subjects were asked to walk for six minutes on a 10-metre marked course with one cone placed at each end where the subject should turn around and continue his/her walk. One cone was placed at 0.5 and 9.5 to allow turning being 10 metres. Subjects were allowed to rest - if needed (chairs at either end of walking course) - and continue walking during the allocated time. Subjects were allowed to use any gait aid throughout the test.

2.6.9.2 <u>Time Up and Go</u>

Following the original procedures of the test, subjects were instructed to stand up from a seated position on a standard armed chair (46cm), walk for three metres, turn, return, and sit down (Figure 1.1) (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991).

61

Using one phrase, each subjects was instructed as follow: on the word go, I want you to stand up, walk at a regular pace to the line on the floor, turn, walk back to the chair and sit down. The timing of the test starts on the word "GO" while subjects in sitting position and ends when returning to initial sitting position. Usage of gait aids were allowed as needed and subjects were instructed to walk at their comfortable pace during the test.

Figure 1.1: Diagram of the Time Up and Go Test



2.6.10 Ambulatory 24 hour blood pressure and arterial stiffness

The Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour ambulatory BP monitor was used to measure haemodynamics during daytime and overnight via a pre-set protocol (Appendix 9).

The diurnal and nocturnal systolic BP measurements were used to detect nocturnal dip; by which, subjects can be classified into inverse dippers: systolic nocturnal dip of <0%; non-dippers: systolic nocturnal dip of <10%; dippers: systolic nocturnal dip <20%; and extreme dippers: systolic nocturnal dip of of \geq 20% (Kario et al., 2001a). Due to our small sample size, we grouped

inverse and non-dippers together, and then grouped dippers and extreme dippers together.

This was an exploratory study where an arbitrary 40 subjects (20 patients and 20 controls) were initially planned to recruit; however, 46 were invited to undertake this test. Subjects were taught how to use the device and initial reading was taken during the visit by placing the cuff on the upper arm. The cuff was pre-set to inflate intermittently - twice per hour during the daytime and once per hour during nighttime - to record the BP and other haemodynamic measures. On the return day, stored readings in the machine were transferred to a software programs in a password protected laptop provided by the University of Nottingham (Appendix 10).

2.6.11 Oxygen saturations

Oxygen saturation was measured by pulse oximeter with the patients breathing room air and rested for >20min (Konica Minolta Pulsox-300).

2.6.12 Composite COPD measures

The BMI, airway obstruction, dyspnoea and exercise capacity (BODE) index is a multidimensional grading system which helps to predict disease outcome in patients with COPD (Celli et al., 2004). In this index, systemic components of the disease such as exercise capacity and BMI are accounted for. BODE scale ranges from a minimum score of 0 to a maximum score of 10. Each of the four components of the BODE index is given a score range 0-3 except for the BMI score which can only be 0-1 depends on the degree of impairment of each component (Appendix 11).

The ADO index on the other hand was developed to predict 3-year mortality and prognosis of COPD (Puhan et al., 2009). Each component of the ADO index is scored differently, for example, a score range of 0-5 is used for the age component, a score of 0-3 is used for MRC dyspnoea scale and a score of 0-2 is used for the airway obstruction (Appendix 12).

2.6.13 Assessment of self-reported physical activity

Self-reported physical activity questionnaires were divided into three parts: first is the frequency of doing mild, moderate and vigorous activity per week (≥3 times/wk, 1-2 times/ wk, 1-3 times/ month or almost never), second is the time (hrs/wk) each subject spends doing mild, moderate and vigorous activity, and finally is the time each subject spent walking outside home/workplace in the past week by reporting an average walking time (minutes) for each weekday as well as each weekend day.

Mild activity includes, but not limited to, walking, gardening, playing darts and housework. Moderate activity includes, but not limited to, scrubbing, polishing car, dancing, golf, cycling, decorating, lawn mowing and leisure swimming. Finally the vigorous activity includes, but not limited to, running, tennis, squash, digging and hard swimming.

2.6.14 <u>Self-reported co-morbidity score</u>

Co-morbidities were recorded in all subjects. From this, one point was given to each self-reported co-morbid condition listed in Charlson Co-morbidity Index which includes myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, dementia, COPD, connective tissue disease, peptic ulcer disease, diabetes mellitus, hemiplegia, malignant lymphoma, solid tumor, liver disease and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) (Charlson et al., 1987). The nature of comorbidity history taking in the design of our study did not allow for the accurate use of Charlson Co-morbidity Index. Also to note some of the comorbidities used in Charlson Co-morbidity Index were exclusion criteria for this study.

2.6.15 Post visit

After each visit, a thank you letter was sent showing appreciation to the participant for taking part in the study. A travel expenses form was completed if required and a letter of the patient's participation was sent to the general practitioner (GP) along with clinically relevant results (spirometry, carbon monoxide, pulse oximetry, MRC dyspnoea scale, BP, and blood results). Any abnormalities in the results were highlighted and assessed by the chief investigator prior to posting the letter to the GP.

65

2.7 Confidentiality

Subject's full name, date of birth, contact details, study code number, date of the visit, and the GP address were documented separately from the Case Report File. The Case Report File included limited personal information such as the subject initials, date of birth and a study code number thus anonymising the data, but allowing tracking of for example biochemistry results. All Case Report Files were stored in a locked office at the Clinical Sciences Building at the City Hospital and only the chief investigator, research team and authorised personnel from relevant regulatory authorities had access to these files. Anonymised electronic data was saved on a passwordprotected laptop, which was provided by the University of Nottingham

2.8 Statistics

Statistical package of the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21 was used for data analysis. <u>For normally distributed data parametric tests were used</u>: Chi squire test was used to statistically compare two categorical variables. Independent t-test was used to look for differences of a continuous variable between groups and one way ANOVA (Post Hoc, Tukey) for a categorical variable with more than two groups). Pearson's test was used to analyse the correlation between two continuous variables. Inter-class correlation coefficient (ICC) with 95% confident interval (CI) was used to test for reliability of a measure. Bland-Altman plot was used to investigate the level of agreement between two measurements. A stepwise linear regression was used to examine independent confounders for a specific variable where the variable of interest was the dependent variable and the potential confounders were the independent variables. <u>For non-normally distributed data non-parametric</u> <u>tests were used</u>: Mann-Whitney and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to look for differences of a continuous variable between two groups (Mann-Whitney) or more than two groups (Kruskal-Wallis). Spearman's test was used to look for correlation between two continuous variables.

Area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC) was used to assess the sensitivity and specificity of the TUG time and look for the optimal absolute time (seconds) of the TUG test that is related to selfreported fallers and non-fallers in the past year. In all analyses, a p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter 3

The Time Up and Go in

Patients with COPD

3.1 Introduction

There is increasing evidence in literature relating impaired physical function to the burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Pinto-Plata et al., 2004, Pitta et al., 2005a, Herman et al., 2011, Peruzza S, 2003). The standard and most commonly used measure of physical performance in patients with COPD is the Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT) (Kario et al., 2001b). However, in the real world of clinical practice, the 6MWT takes time to perform, needs space (at least 10m and 30 metres recommended), and requires a practice walk followed by a resting period (ATS, 2002). Therefore, simple measures of physical performance that require less time and space to perform are required and that could be implemented into COPD assessments.

The Timed-Up and Go (TUG) is a physical performance test that was developed by Podsialdo and Richardson, to assess mobility and balance in frail elderly (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). Owing to its simplicity, validity, and high reliability, TUG has become widespread in different research areas of interest and in different health conditions (van Hedel et al., 2005, Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Mesquita et al., 2013, Kristensen et al., 2007, Bischoff et al., 2003).

There are studies investigating TUG in patients with COPD but they were limited by either small sample size or not having control comparators. These studies showed that the TUG test was inversely related to general health (Janssen et al., 2011), was useful test to detect limitation of physical

69

performance in patients with COPD in comparison to healthy controls (Roig et al., 2010) and to differentiate between patient fallers and non-fallers (Beauchamp et al., 2009). There were some studies investigating performance and balance in patients with COPD using TUG and 6MWT, but the relationship between these two tests was not assessed (Butcher et al., 2004, Beauchamp et al., 2009, Roig et al., 2010).

Recently, same day test-retest reliability and practice effects of the TUG test in patients with advanced COPD, CHF, and chronic renal failure (CRF) was explored (Mesquita et al., 2013). Each patient was asked to perform three consecutive TUG trials on the same day. Their results showed good correlations between the tests in all subjects as well as in each group defined by their medical condition (COPD, CHF or CRF). High reliability was found between the first two TUG trials, and no additional information found from the third trial. Same day inter-observer as well as different day intra-observer reliability test of TUG in patients with COPD was not available. In all of these studies, detailed comparison with healthy subjects has not been reported (Mesquita et al., 2013, Beauchamp et al., 2009, Menard-Rothe, 1997). Exploring the relationship of TUG to the established measure of physical performance in COPD – the 6MWT – is important.

Taken together, there is opportunity to further explore the potential role of TUG in patients with COPD in relation to controls, explore parameters affecting the TUG and assess its validity.

70

3.2 Hypothesis

- The Time Up and Go (TUG) test is increased in patients with COPD compared to age- and gender-matched controls reflecting impaired physical performance in patients
- The TUG test is inversely related to the six minute walking distance (6MWD) in patients with COPD
- The TUG test is a simple test with high inter- and intra-observer reliability in patients with COPD
- The TUG is a useful test to differentiate between fallers and nonfallers in patients with COPD

3.3 Methods

This was a single centre cross-sectional study to investigate the potential application of the TUG test in COPD physical performance assessment and with a comparator group of controls.

3.3.1 <u>Study objectives</u>

To:

- Compare TUG in patients with COPD and controls
- Investigate the association of baseline factors
- Explore the relationship between TUG and Six-Minute Walk Distance

- Investigate ability for TUG to differentiate between fallers and nonfallers in patients with COPD
- Investigate practice effect of TUG in patients and controls
- Assess the relationship of TUG to quality of life questionnaires
- Assess the relationship of TUG to self-reported physical activity
- Explore inter- and intra-observer reliability of the TUG test

3.3.2 <u>Ethics</u>

The study was approved by the National Research Ethics Service (NRES) (Methods, p 51)

3.3.3 Sample size

Subjects (n=181) were consented and included in the analysis of this study (Methods, P 49).

3.3.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Details of inclusion and exclusion criteria are mentioned in the Methods, p 51. Subjects were allowed to use walking aids and oxygen supplement as needed. In order to have a representative sample of the general COPD group, a wide range of patients with different GOLD stages and with/without co-morbidities were included.

3.3.5 <u>Procedure</u>

3.3.5.1 Informed consent

Informed consent was obtained (Methods, p 53).

3.3.5.2 Timed-Up and Go (TUG) test

Each subject was instructed to stand up from a regular armed chair (46cm), walk for three metres indicated on the floor, turn around, go back to the chair, and sit down (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). Using a regular stop watch, time was taken starting from the word "Go" and stopped when the subject returned and sat down on the chair like the starting position. As per protocol, two TUG trials were performed at each study visit with opportunity to recover in between the two trials. The time for the first practice TUG was only recorded in 141 subjects.

3.3.5.3 Six-Minute Walk Distance (6MWD)

After a minimum period of 60 minutes rest post the TUG test, subjects were asked to perform the six-minute walk distance (6MWD) (Methods, p 61)

3.3.5.4 Fall Assessment

All subjects were asked to report any experience of fall in the past year. Fall was defined as "when you find yourself suddenly on the ground, without intending to get there, after you were in either a lying, sitting or standing position" (Cwikel et al., 1998). This was recorded as $(0,1,2,3,4, \ge 5 \text{ falls in the last year})$ and for analysis purposes grouped as $0,1,2,\ge 3$ falls.

3.3.5.5 <u>Self-Reported Physical Activity</u>

Physical activity was classified based on intensity into mild, moderate, and vigorous energetic activity. Each activity level was described in Methods, p 64. Subjects were asked to report their activity level (mild, moderate, and vigorous), frequency of engaging in each activity level per week (never, 1/3 time/wk, 1/2 time/wk, ≥ 3 time/wk) and the average hours they spend in such activity per week.

3.3.5.6 <u>Quality of life and respiratory questionnaires</u>

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaires (SGRQ) and MRC dyspnoea scale were assessed (Methods, p 54).

3.3.5.7 Inter- and Intra-observer reliability tests

TUG reliability was assessed using two methods: inter- and intra-observer reliability tests. In the inter-observer reliability, two observers were assigned to take measurements of the TUG test at the same time. The intra-observer repeatability test was performed by a single observer taking two TUG readings on different days (two to seven days between each test).

3.3.5.8 Other baseline variables

Other variables, body composition (Body Mass Index (BMI), and Fat Free Mass Index (FFMI)), oxygen saturation, and spirometry were assessed (Methods, p 55). Baseline variables also included smoking history and co-morbidities - the co-morbidity score was calculated for each subject based on the reported conditions by assigning one point for each medical condition referred to in the Charlson Co-morbidity Index (Charlson et al., 1987) (Methods, p 65).

3.3.6 Statistics

Statistical Package of the Social Science (SPSS) version 21 was used for data analysis. Any difference was considered statistically significant if p-value ≤0.05. Chi squire test was used for analysis of categorical variables. Independent t-test was used for comparison between the two groups where data was continuous and normally distributed. One way ANOVA was used when more than two groups and a continuous variable. Pearson (r) was used to assess correlations for continuous variables where normally distributed. Inter-class correlation coefficient (ICC) and Bland-Altman plot were used to demonstrate the level of agreement between two measurements when analysing different day 'intra-observer' reliability and same test 'interobserver' reliability of the TUG test. A stepwise linear regression analysis was performed to detect factors influencing TUG and fall. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used for sensitivity and specificity analysis of TUG test and self-reported fall incidence.

3.4 Results

From April 2012 to September 2013, 181 of the 238 subjects who were contacted by telephone calls and email messages attended a study visit. The main reasons for those who did not participate are listed in Figure 3.1. Out of the 181, four subjects who attended the clinic study had respiratory conditions other than COPD; therefore, study analysis included 177 subjects (Figure 3.1).

Patients and controls were matched for age, gender, and body mass index (BMI); however, both groups differed significantly in resting oxygen saturation and spirometric parameters (Table 3.1).

Figure 3.1: Flowchart of Study Recruitment



*Reasons for exclusion: smoking history <10 pack/year, and prior participation in the study

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated	COPD n=119	Controls n=58	p-value
Male n (%)	74 (62)	38 (66)	0.67
Age (years)	68 (8)	66 (9)	0.15
BMI (kg/m²)	27.3 (6.0)	28.6 (5.2)	0.15
FFMI (kg/m ²) – Patients n= 114 / Controls n=58	18.4 (3.0)	19.2 (2.4)	0.12
Smoking history (pack years)	46 (26)	31 (20)	<0.001
Smoking status – n (current/ex- smoker)	39/80	8/50	<0.01
FEV ₁ (L)	1.60 (0.57)	2.80 (0.61)	<0.001
FEV ₁ % predicted	59 (18)	100 (15)	<0.001
FVC (L)	3.25 (0.84)	3.79 (0.89)	<0.001
FVC% predicted	96 (19)	108 (19)	<0.001
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	49 (13)	74 (7)	<0.001
SpO ₂ (%)	95 (2)	96 (1)	<0.001
TUG time (seconds)	11.9 (3.7)	9.5 (1.8)	<0.001
6MWD (m) – Patients n=117 / Controls n=58	291 (97)	380 (76)	<0.001

Table 3.1: Demographics of Study Groups - Patients and Controls

Abbreviations: Body mass index (**BMI**), fat free mass index (**FFMI**), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (**FEV**₁), forced vital capacity (**FVC**), oxygen saturation (**SpO2**), Timed-Up and Go (**TUG**), six-minute walk distance (**6MWD**).

3.4.1 <u>Time Up and Go in patients and controls</u>

Patients had significantly increased mean (SD) TUG time of 11.9 (3.7)s compared to controls 9.5 (1.8)s; p<0.001 (Figure 3.2). The difference remained significant when adjusting for age and gender.

Figure 3.2: TUG Time in Patients and Controls





3.4.2 Potential confounders of Time Up and Go test

3.4.2.1 <u>3.4.2.1 Age</u>

Pearson's correlation test did not show any significant association between TUG and age in all subjects; r= 0.11, p= 0.16. However, within groups' analysis showed significant association between TUG and age in controls (r= 0.33, p= 0.01) but not in patients (r= 0.01, p= 0.89).

3.4.2.2 <u>Gender</u>

Independent t-test analysis for the association between TUG and gender in all subjects as well as within - patients and controls - showed no significant difference; p = 0.74, and p = 0.76, and p = 0.12; respectively.

3.4.2.3 Body composition

3.4.2.3.1 Body Mass Index

Analysis showed no significant correlation between TUG and BMI in all subjects (r= 0.14, p= 0.06) and controls (r= 0.21, p= 0.12); however, the correlation just reached significance in patients; r= 0.19, p= 0.04.

3.4.2.3.2 Fat Free Mass Index

Pearson's correlation showed no association between TUG and FFMI in all subjects, in patients alone, or in controls alone; p=0.30, p=0.12, and p=0.82, respectively.

3.4.2.4 Smoking history (pack year)

The association between TUG and smoking history (pack years) did not reach significance; r= 0.15, p= 0.05 in all subjects, nor patients and controls separately; r= 0.03, p= 0.72, and r= 0.22, p= 0.09; respectively.

3.4.2.5 Oxygen saturation (at rest)

The TUG test was inversely associated with resting oxygen saturation (SpO₂) in all subjects (r= -0.28, p< 0.001) as well as in patients (r= -0.20, p= 0.03); but not in controls (r= -0.10, p= 0.44). All subjects performed the TUG test on room air. Resting SpO₂ measurements of all subjects were taken after 20 minutes on room air.

3.4.2.6 Self-reported co-morbidity score

A co-morbidity score was increased in patients with COPD compared to controls: median (IQR): 1 (1-2), and 0 (0-1), respectively; p<0.001. When not accounting for "COPD" in the score, both groups were similar in self-reported co-morbidity score: median (IQR) for patients 0 (0-1) and for controls 0 (0-1), p= 0.38.

Male patients (n= 74) reported significantly more co-morbidities 1 (1-2) compared to female patients (n= 45) median (IQR) 1 (1-2), p= 0.03; but no gender difference was found in self-reported co-morbidities in controls, p= 0.52. There was no association between age and self-reported co-morbidity score in patients, p= 0.11, or controls, p= 0.30. Correlation of the TUG test to self-reported co-

morbidity score was significant in patients (r= 0.26, p=0.004), and in controls (r=0.28, p=0.031).

3.4.2.7 Spirometry

Within group analysis showed no correlation between TUG time and any spirometer parameters with exception to FEV_1/FVC ratio in the control, but not in patients (Table 3.2).

	COPD		Controls	
	Correlation (r)	P-value	Correlation (r)	P-value
FEV ₁ (L)	0.04	0.64	-0.19	0.15
FEV ₁ % predicted	0.004	0.96	0.26	0.05
FVC (L)	-0.09	0.32	-0.26	0.05
FVC% predicted	-0.05	0.62	0.06	0.64
FEV ₁ /FVC	0.06	0.55	0.27	0.04

Table 3.2: Correlations between TUG and Spirometric Lung Function

Abbreviations: Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity (FVC).

3.4.2.7.1 Time Up and Go test and GOLD stages of COPD

According to GOLD classification of COPD, only three patients were classified as GOLD IV stage and; therefore, GOLD III and GOLD IV were combined for analysis purposes. The mean time to complete TUG in each GOLD stage of COPD is shown in Table 3.3. One way ANOVA did not show significant difference between TUG test and different GOLD stages (GOLD I, GOLD II, and GOLD III/IV combined).

Table 3.3: Mean TUG test in Different Stages of COPD Based on GOLD

-	n	TUG time (seconds)
GOLD I	13	13.0 (3.6)
GOLD II	68	11.7 (4.0)
GOLD III/IV	38	12.0 (3.3)

Abbreviations: Time Up and Go (**TUG**), Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (**GOLD**) Results are mean ±SD.

3.4.2.8 <u>Regression analysis of the potential factors affecting TUG</u>

A step-wise linear regression was performed where TUG was the dependent variable and the independent variables entered into the model were: age, gender, self-reported co-morbidity and resting oxygen saturation; only self-reported co-morbidity and resting oxygen saturations was found to be a significant variable, accounting for 9.3% of the variation between them.

3.4.3 Six-Minute Walk Distance

Two out of the 119 patients were not able to perform the 6MWD; therefore, 117 patients and 58 controls were included in the analysis. The mean (SD) 6MWD was decreased in patients, 291 (97)m, compared to control, 380 (76)m, p<0.001.

An inverse correlation was found between TUG and 6MWD in all subjects; r = -0.76, p<0.001 (Figure 3.3a). Similar associations were found for TUG and 6MWD when patients and controls were analysed separately; r = -0.74, p< 0.001, and r = -0.71, p< 0.001, respectively (Figure 3.3b, c).

3.4.4 <u>Time Up and Go and BODE in Patients</u>

Of the 119 patients, two did not complete the 6MWD and, therefore, BODE was calculated in 117 patients. The mean (SD) BODE score was 4 (2). Correlation analysis showed significant association between TUG and the BODE score, r= 0.53, p<0.001.

For the BODE index patients were classified as follows: BODE 0-2 (n=33), BODE 3-4 (n=28), BODE 5-6 (n=37) and BODE 7-10 (n=19). One way ANOVA (post HOC, Tukey) showed that TUG was significantly associated to the BODE index (Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.3: Inverse Association between TUG and 6MWD







Error bars represent ±1 standard deviation

- *Significance at p< 0.05
- **Significance at p< 0.01
- ***Significance at p<0.001

Abbreviation: BODE - Body mass index, airway Obstruction, Dyspnoea and Exercise capacity

3.4.5 Physical performance tests and self-reported falls

3.4.5.1 *Physical performance tests associations to fallers and non-fallers*

Fall assessment was missing in eight patients; therefore, 111 patients and 58 controls were included. In addition, two other patients did not perform the 6MWT; thus, 109 patients were included in the 6MWT analysis of this section.

Patient fallers in the past year (n= 27) took significantly longer time to complete the TUG than patient non-fallers (n= 84), p= 0.02 (Table 3.4). In the control group, there was no significant difference between fallers and non-fallers, p= 0.07; however, there were few subjects reported \geq one fall in the past year (n= 11).

Similarly, patient fallers in the past year covered significantly less distance in the 6MWT (233 (95)m) than patient non-fallers (311 (91)m), p< 0.001. Whereas, the 6MWT showed no significant difference in the controls group between fallers (372 (102)m) and non-fallers (382 (70)m), p= 0.71.
Table 3.4: Within Groups Analysis of Fallers and Non-fallers to PhysicalPerformance Tests

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated	COPD (n=111)			Controls (n=58)		
	Fallers	Non- Fallers	Р	Fallers	Non- Fallers	Р
n	27	84	-	11	47	-
Age (years)	66 (8)	69 (6)	0.11	65 (6)	66 (9)	0.63
Male – n (%)	16 (59)	53 (63)	0.72	4 (36)	34 (71)	0.02
TUG (seconds)	14.5 (5.2)	11.0 (2.7)	0.02	10.4 (2.3)	9.3 (1.6)	0.07
6MWD (m) Patients= 109 Controls= 58	233 (95)	311 (91) (n=82)	0.001	372 (102)	382 (70)	0.71

Abbreviations: Six-Minute Walk Distance (6MWD), Time Up and Go (TUG)

3.4.5.2 <u>Time Up and Go and fall frequency</u>

In the 111 patients and 58 controls included in this section, there were more patients reported \geq 3 falls than controls (Table 3.5).

There was a trend of direct relationship between TUG and fall frequency in patients with COPD. This relationship was not seen in controls, which might be because only three subjects reported more than one fall in the past year. In Patients, one way ANOVA (Post Hoc, Tukey) test showed a significant increase of TUG time in those who reported \geq 3 falls compared to those who reported no fall in the past year, p<0.001.

Table 3.5: Self-Reported Fall Frequency in the past year and TUG Test inPatients and Controls

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated	No fall	1 Fall	2 Falls	≥3 Falls
COPD - n (%)	84 (76)	12 (11)	9 (8)	6 (5)
TUG (seconds)	11.0 (2.7)	13.4 (2.9)	14.0 (4.7)	17.4 (8.6)
Controls – n (%)	47 (81)	8 (14)	1 (2)	2 (3)
TUG (seconds)	9.3 (1.6)	10.4 (2.3)	13.4	8.9 (1.1)

Abbreviation: Time Up and Go (**TUG**)

3.4.6 <u>Sensitivity and specificity of the Time Up and Go test in patients</u> with COPD

Of the 111 patients ROC curve showed that TUG test was a good predictor of selfreported falls giving area under the ROC curve (AUC) for TUG time and reported falls in the past year of 0.77. An absolute cut-off time of 12 seconds provided 74% sensitivity and specificity to detect patients who reported one or more falls in the past year. 74% of patient fallers completed the TUG test in \geq 12 seconds and 74% of patient non-faller completed the TUG test in <12 second. Dividing patients into two groups based on this cut-off time of 12 seconds showed no age or gender differences. Patients who completed the TUG test in <12 seconds had lower values of BMI, MRC dyspnoea score, self-reported co-morbidity score and higher resting oxygen saturation and longer 6MWD than patients who completed the TUG test in \geq 12 seconds (**Table** 3.6).

Mean (SD) unless otherwise	Time Up and Go			
indicated	<12 seconds	≥12 seconds	Ρ	
n	68	43	-	
Male n (%)	43 (63)	26 (60)	0.772	
Age (years)	68 (6)	68 (8)	0.998	
BMI (kg/m²)	25.9 (5.0)	29.1 (6.5)	0.005	
Resting SpO ₂ (%)	95 (2)	94 (2)	0.002	
MRC dyspnoea scale – median (IQR)	2 (2-4)	4 (3-4)	0.011	
Self-reported co-morbidity score - median (IQR)	1 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	0.001	
6MWD (m)	346 (64)	208 (80)	<0.001	

Table 3.6: TUG Cut-off Time of 12 seconds and Risk of Falls in Patients with COPD

Abbreviations: Body mass index (**BMI**), oxygen saturation (**SpO**₂) and Medical Research Council (**MRC**).

3.4.7 <u>Time Up and Go practice effect</u>

A TUG practice was performed in all subjects but the time was recorded in 87 patients and 54 controls. There was a correlation between the first and second TUG trials in all subjects, in patients and in controls (Figure 3.5 and Table 3.7). Patients and controls spent less time to complete the second trial than the first trial (Table 3.7). The mean (SD) difference between the TUG trials (2^{nd} trial – 1^{st} trial) was -0.6 (0.9)s in all subjects and patient group and it was -0.5 (0.8)s in controls.

The difference between TUG trials was not significantly different between patients and controls, although marginally greater practice effect was seen in patients compared controls (Table 3.7).

Figure 3.5: Association of First (Practice) and Second (measured) TUG Trials



Table 3.7: First (practice) and Second (measured) TUG Trials

Mean (SD)	First Trial (seconds)	Second Trial (seconds)	Correlation 1 st and 2 nd TUG trials (p- value)	Difference between the TUG trials (2 nd -1 st) (seconds)
COPD – n= 87	12.2 (3.2)	11.6 (3.2)	0.96 (<0.001)	-0.6 (0.9)
Controls – n= 54	10.0 (2.1)	9.5 (1.8)	0.93 (<0.001)	-0.5 (0.8)
Total – n= 141	11.4 (3.0)	10.8 (2.9)	0.96 (<0.001)	-0.6(0.9)

Abbreviation: Time Up and Go (TUG)

Bland-Altman plot was constructed to assess the degree of agreement between both TUG trials within 2SD of the mean difference (Figure 3.6).

The mean difference of both TUG trials (2^{nd} TUG measured trial – 1^{st} TUG practice trial) in all subjects of -0.6s was used to construct the Bland-Altman plot. The majority of subjects fall within 2SD of the difference of TUG trial. Values falling outside the ±2SD limits in the Bland-Altman plot consist of five patients and one control, which appeared more disparate at higher TUG.





3.4.8 <u>Time Up and Go test and self-reported dyspnoea/Quality of Life</u>

3.4.8.1 Medical Research Council dyspnoea scale in patients with COPD

There was a good distribution of patients along the spectrum of MRC dyspnoea scale (Table 3.8). One way ANOVA (Post Hoc, Tukey) showed statistically significant correlation between TUG and MRC dyspnoea scale in patients with COPD. The higher the score in the MRC dyspnoea scale, the longer the time required to complete the TUG test (Figure 3.7).

Table 3.8: Number of Patients with COPD based on MRC Dyspnoea Scale

-	MRC 1	MRC 2	MRC 3	MRC 4	MRC 5
COPD (n)	11	36	24	34	15

Abbreviation: Medical Research Council (MRC)



Abbreviation: Medical Respiratory Council (MRC) Error bars show ±1 standard deviation

- *Significant at p<0.05
- **Significant at p<0.01
- ***Significant at p<0.001

3.4.8.2 St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ)

All patients completed the SGRQ with a mean (SD) of the total SGRQ score= 57(28), activity domain= 41 (20), impact domain= 31 (20), and symptoms domain= 45 (21). Correlation analysis showed significantly positive association between TUG and total SGRQ score, and all SGRQ domains (Table 3.9).

Table 3.9: TUG Test and SGRQ Score in Patients with COPD

	Correlation (r)	p-value
SGRQ – Total score	0.43	<0.001
SGRQ – Activity	0.49	<0.001
SGRQ - Symptoms	0.20	0.03
SGRQ - Impact	0.38	<0.001

Abbreviation: St. George's Respiratory Questionnaires (SGRQ)

3.4.9 <u>Time Up and Go and self-reported physical activity</u>

The majority of patients and controls reported good engagement in mild and moderate activities but not to vigorous activity (Table 3.10). There were few subjects reporting vigorous activity so statistical analysis was not possible and was therefore only performed on mild and moderate activities. There was no association between age and self-reported physical activity (including the frequency and the amount of time (hrs/wk), and time of reported walk (hrs/wk) outside the home during weekdays or weekend) in patients and controls; p>0.05.

3.4.9.1 <u>Mild physical activity in patients and controls</u>

• Frequency per week

The majority of patients reported doing mild activity ≥ 3 time/wk and only three reported 1-3 times/month or less (Table 3.10). The majority of controls (n=56) reported doing mild activity ≥ 3 times/wk and only two controls reported a frequency of 1-2 times/wk. There was no significant difference between male and female participants in the reported frequency of doing mild activity in patients group (p= 0.7) and in controls group (p= 0.6)

Duration (hours/week)

The median (IQR) time of mild activity reported by patients was 8 (4-18)hrs/wk compared to 14 (6-19)hrs/wk for controls. Although it was marginally higher in controls, it did not reach significance, p=0.6. The median (IQR) of self-reported time doing mild activity in males was 7 (4-14)hrs/wk and in females was 14 (4-21)hrs/wk, p=0.03. In controls, there was no significant difference in self-reported time doing mild activity between males (14 (7-20)hrs/wk) and females (12 (6-15)hrs/wk), p=0.6.

Time Up and Go and self-reported mild activity

There were few (n= 3) patients who reported a frequency of doing mild activity 1-3 times/month or less (not included in this analysis); therefore, TUG was compared between subjects who reported a frequency of 1-2 times/wk and \geq 3 times/wk. In patients, independent t-test showed that TUG was significantly increased (worse) in those who reported a frequency of 1-2 times/wk (TUG time= 14s) compared to \geq 3 times/wk (TUG time= 11s), p=0.03.

There was a significant correlation between TUG and the time (hrs/wk) spent doing mild activity in patients, r = -0.21, p<0.01, but not in controls, r = -0.06, p= 0.9.

Table 3.10: Frequency of Self-Reported Physical Activity in Patients withCOPD and Controls

Activity level	Frequency	COPD n= 119	Controls n= 58
	≥3/week	96	56
	1-2/week	20	2
Mild activity	1-3/month	1	0
	Almost never	2	0
	≥3/week	16	15
	1-2/week	29	22
Moderate activity	1-3/month	21	12
	Almost never	53	9
	≥3/week	2	9
	1-2/week	4	2
vigorous activity	1-3/month	6	5
	Almost never	107	42

Values represent the number of subjects reporting the frequency of doing mild, moderate and vigorous activity in each group.

• Frequency per week

The majority of patients (n=53) reported "almost never" for moderate activity and the majority of controls (n=22) reported doing moderate activity 1-2 times/wk. Patients did moderate activity on less occasions compared to controls, p<0.001 (Table 3.11). There was no significant gender differences in patients and in controls when analysing the frequency of moderate activity; p= 0.30 and p= 0.06, respectively.

• Duration (hours/week)

The median (IQR) time spent on moderate activity was significantly less in patients 0(0-2)hrs/wk compared to controls 2(1-4)hrs/wk, p<0.001. The median (IRQ) for self-reported moderate activity was 1(0-4)hrs/wk in patient males and 0(0-2)hrs/wk in females, p=0.11. In controls, males reported more time doing moderate activity, 4(2-5)hrs/wk, compared to females, 1(0-2)hrs/wk, p<0.001.

• Time Up and Go and self-reported moderate activity

In all subjects, the results showed that TUG time increased as selfreported moderate activity declined; however, this was not significant, r = -0.23, p = 0.9 (Table 3.11).

There was an inverse association between TUG and reported moderate activity duration (hrs/wk) in patients (r= -0.27, p= 0.003), but not in controls (r= -0.26, p= 0.5).

Table 3.11: TUG and Self-Reported Moderate Activity

Median (IQR)	C	OPD	Controls	
	n	TUG (Second)	n	TUG (seconds)
≥3 times/week	16	10.2 (2.0)	15	8.6 (1.6)
1-2 times/week	29	11.0 (2.4)	22	9.7 (1.9)
1-3 times/month	21	11.8 (3.7)	12	9.6 (1.8)
Almost never	53	13.0 (3.7)	9	10.5 (1.4)

• Weekdays walking

The median (IQR) for the time spent in self-reported walk during each weekday in patients was 30(20-60)min/day, and in controls was 60(30-90)min/day, p= 0.04. There was no significant difference in the time spent walking during each weekday between male patients, 38(20-90)min/day, and female patients, 30(15-60)min/day, p= 0.11. Similarly, in controls there were no gender differences found for the reported walking time - males: 60(15-60)min/day and females: 50(20-142)min/day, p= 0.72. With regards to the TUG, there was association between TUG and self-reported weekdays walking in patients (r=-0.13, p<0.01, but not in controls, r= -0.13, p=0.31.

• Weekend days walking

The median (IQR) self-reported walking time in each weekend day in patients was 30(10-90)min/day and in controls was 60(30-60)min/day, p= 0.22. There was borderline significant gender differences in self-reported walking time during each weekend days in patients, males: 30 (19-98)min/day and females: 30 (5-60)min/day, p= 0.049 but not in controls, males: 52(30-60)min/day and females: 60(13-90)min/day, p= 0.72. The time to complete the TUG test was significantly association with self-reported weekend days walking in patients (r= -0.20, p=0.03) but not in controls (r=-0.13, p= 0.34).

3.4.10 <u>Time Up and Go intra-observer and Inter-observer reliability</u>

3.4.10.1 Same 'test' inter-observer reliability

The mean (SD) difference between measurements obtained by the two observers in the same time was 0.4 (0.6)s and the duration to complete the test was 12.3 (4.4)s. Reliability analysis of ICC revealed strong correlation between both observers ICC= 0.990, 95% CI: 0.977 - 0.996 (Figure 3.8A). Bland-Altman plot showed good agreement of the measurements of both observers where the majority of values, except for one subject, fall within 2SD of the mean difference (Figure 3.8B).

Figure 3.8: TUG Inter-observer Reliability



A: Two Observers at the Same Time





3.4.10.2 Different day intra-observer repeatability

Thirteen healthy volunteers completed two TUG tests on different days within one week (two to seven days apart) preceded a practice test on each test day which was assessed by one observer. The mean difference of TUG measurements between the two days (day 2 – day 1) was -0.4 (0.4)s with time of 8.5 (1.3)s indicating better TUG performance on day two. There was a strong correlation between the two TUG tests, ICC = 0.958 with 95%CI: 0.868-0.987 (Figure 3.9A). Bland-Altman plot showed good agreement in TUG measurements taken on different days where all values fall within 2SD of the mean difference (Figure 3.9B).

Figure 3.9: TUG Intra-Observer Repeatability



A: Two TUG Trials on Different Days





3.5 Discussion

We reported that the Time Up and Go test was increased in clinically stable patients with COPD in comparison to age- and gender-matched controls and was inversely related to 6MWD reflecting impaired physical performance in patients with COPD. The TUG was also increased in patients categorised as fallers in the past year compared to non-fallers and was directly associated with fall frequency, MRC dyspnoea scale, self-reported co-morbidity score, and worse SGRQ score. On the other hand, in patients TUG was inversely related to the time spent in self-reported moderate activity (hrs/wk) and to the self-reported walking time (each weekday and each weekend day). Finally, TUG was found to have high same day inter- and different days intraobserver reliability.

There were two small studies reporting that TUG was increased in patients with COPD compared to controls (Butcher et al., 2004, Roig et al., 2010); however, the novelty of this current work was including a wide range of disease severity of patients with COPD, thus making it a representative sample of the general population of patients with COPD in the clinical practice.

Generally, the findings of the earlier mentioned studies investigating TUG in patients with COPD and controls support our findings. Roig et al, 2010 conducted a relatively small study of patients with COPD (n=21) and controls (n=21) free from CV, neurological, and musculoskeletal problems; it was

reported that patients with COPD had increased TUG time and lower 6MWD compared to controls – mean (SD) for the TUG test was 9.5 (2.3)s in patients and 7.7 (1.1)s in controls (Roig et al., 2010). Similarly, we reported a two second increase of TUG time in patients with COPD compared to controls; however, the baseline values of TUG in the two studies vary. Given Roig et al., excluded patients with co-morbid conditions could explain the lower TUG time in their study as we showed that co-morbidities were inversely related to the TUG test. Moreover, they included healthy subjects but only those who reported no more than light activities in their daily lives, for example, slow walking. This selection of a clinically convenient sample of patients (without co-morbidity) and controls (with limited activity) would minimize the actual difference between these populations.

Butcher et al., explored TUG in a small population of patients (n=30) with active COPD with and without oxygen supplement during pulmonary rehabilitation programme (after a minimum enrolment of three weeks of pulmonary rehabilitation prior to the study) in comparison to healthy subjects (n=21) who used to exercise regularly (Butcher et al., 2004). After adjusting for age, they reported increased mean (SD) TUG time in patients - 7.2 (0.4)s with oxygen supplement and 5.9 (0.4)s without oxygen supplement - compared to controls 5.4 (0.3)s. These values again are lower than those demonstrated in our study. One plausible reason might be because of the effect of exercise on performance as cardiopulmonary rehabilitation improves TUG in patients with COPD (Beauchamp et al., 2010, Bellet et al., 2013). In

addition, they instructed patients to perform two trials and to walk as quick and safe as possible and the fastest attempt was recorded; in comparison, we followed the test protocol described by Podsialdo and Richardson, where subjects were instructed to walk at a regular pace and performed a practice followed by a second recorded trial (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991).

Age has been associated with TUG and normative cut-off time was established for specific population, for example community dwelling elderly people (Steffen et al., 2002). Similarly, we presented positive correlation between age and TUG in controls, but not in patients with COPD. Unlike in healthy subjects, some studies found that TUG was not associated with age in patients with COPD (Khandelwal et al., 2013). One explanation for this may be because of the muscle loss or possibly other factors caused by COPD, which in turn overrides physical mobility (Agusti et al., 2002). There is an evidence in literature shows that the accelerated decline in muscle strength in healthy subjects (aged \geq 55years) has negative affect on mobility, suggesting that the muscle loss might be the reason of impaired physical performance rather than the age (Samson et al., 2000). Celli et al. argued that the severity of COPD should not be driven by age; rather, it should be driven by the influential factors associated with COPD such as physical mobility and BMI (Celli et al., 2009). We provided evidence to show positive association between TUG and BODE index and BODE score as well as with the 6MWD alone.

Other factors such as breathlessness, comorbidities, quality of life and oxygen saturation were more related to physical performance limitation in patients with COPD than age and gender. Of these factors, breathlessness (measured by MRC dyspnoea scale) itself was shown to have the greatest contribution for poor quality of life caused by inactivity and to be inversely related to physical performance (Reardon et al., 2006). This adds to the advantages of the TUG test in the COPD assessment as we have reported its direct association with dyspnoea and quality of life questionnaires. Similar results were published in earlier studies looking at the association of physical performance – using TUG - and balance to quality of life in elderly people (Hirano et al., 2013, Ozcan et al., 2005).

Comorbidities such as CV diseases, hypertension, osteoporosis, diabetes, musculoskeletal dysfunction, and psychological disorders have been documented to be associated with COPD (Chatila et al., 2008, Sabit et al., 2007, Sin et al., 2006). We demonstrated positive association between TUG and self-reported co-morbidity suggesting that co-morbidity somehow has a negative effect on physical mobility in patients with COPD.

We reported that TUG was highly related to 6MWD and both were associated with poor performance in patients with COPD compared to controls. In patients with Parkinson's Disease (PD), the TUG test was found to have the greatest influence on the 6MWT and this was independent of other variables, for example gender, balance and instability measures (Earhart, 2009). The studies investigated TUG in patients with hypertension, cardiac rehabilitation,

and PD showed moderate correlation with the 6MWD (Pedrosa R, 2009, Bellet et al., Earhart, 2009). Considering this high association between TUG and 6MWT, it might be useful to establish a cut-off time for TUG in patients with COPD to identify those patients who need further assessment of physical performance from those who do not. Other studies used different cut-off time for different populations or different age-group including, but not limited to, risk of falls, frail elderly and patients with PD (Shumway-Cook et al., 2000, Thomas and Lane, 2005, Nocera et al., 2013, Steffen et al., 2002). The cut-off time of 12s used in our study to distinguish between fallers and non-fallers, gave a difference of 138m in the 6MWT in patients with COPD; which is greater than double the minimal clinically important difference (MCID) of the 6MWD in patients with COPD (Cote et al., 2008, Wise and Brown, 2005). Other simple physical performance tests, for example the SPPB, have also been reported to be associated with the 6MWD in patients with COPD (Eisner et al., 2008); however, the SPPB has ceiling effects that limit the test to measure performance in active patients (Curb et al., 2006). On the other hand, the TUG test is a continuous, measured in seconds, and has no ceiling effect.

It is important to note that we intended to recruit control comparators with smoking history who were free from any respiratory condition, but not from other health conditions; therefore, were not considered healthy controls. This, in part, could explain the difference of the physical performance we presented for our control group compared to the healthy group reported in

literature. For example, the mean (SD) walking distance of our controls was 380 (76)m, which was below the average walking distance (>500m) found in literature for healthy subjects (Casanova et al., 2011, Steffen et al., 2002). In one of these studies, Casanova et al., included healthy subjects who were active; with no co-morbid condition that might influence their exercise capacity, and who was not on medications that affect the heart rate, and only 3% of their subjects were smokers (Casanova et al., 2011). In the other study, Steffen et al., excluded smokers, subjects with assistive devices and those who feel shortness of breath or leg, neck or back pain while walking (Steffen et al., 2002). Whilst our aim was to include a control group who were representative of the general public and free from respiratory conditions only. Therefore, we included controls with smoking history (≥ 10 pack year) regardless of their activity level, co-morbid condition (other than malignancy and alpha 1 antitrypsin deficiency) and use of medications. Secondly, unlike the previous studies, we used a 10m course for the 6MWD rather than the recommended 30m walking course. This might be another reason for our controls to cover less distance compared to the average walking distance presented in the previous studies as the 6MWD is positively related to the length of the walking course, which might be related to increased number of turns on the shorter walking track (ATS, 2002, Singh et al., 2014).

Recently, increasing number of studies showed that patients with COPD are more prone to balance impairment and fall than healthy controls (Butcher et al., 2004, Chang et al., 2008, Lawlor et al., 2003). The American Geriatric

Society and British Geriatric Society have listed balance as a risk factor of falls (AGS/BGS, 2010). The U.S Preventative Service Task Force Clinical Guidelines recommends the use of TUG as a risk assessment tool in older adults, ≥65years (Moyer, 2012). Therefore, investigating the risk of falls in patients with COPD in comparison to healthy controls became an important area of interest in research (Roig et al., 2009).

Previous work by Beauchamp et al., looked at the association of fall to TUG and balance related questionnaires in patients with COPD (Beauchamp et al., 2009). The authors used a cut-off time of 16s or more to discriminate patients' fallers from non-fallers. They showed that TUG was a useful measure to discriminate between patients' fallers from non-fallers and a cutoff time of 16s could identify 50% of the total number of fallers. Although our results were consistent with those presented in Beauchamp et al., study regarding the relationship between TUG and falls, the absolute time to complete the TUG test for patients' fallers and non-fallers was lower in our study and using a cut-off time of 12s could identify 74% of the total number of fallers and non-fallers in patients with COPD, respectively. The difference in the TUG results is expected because of the difference in patients' characteristics between the two studies. In comparison to our patients' group, patients in Beauchamp et al., study were in more severe stage of COPD (FEV₁% predicted = 42%), relatively older, and 46% were on oxygen supplement. Perhaps the severity of the disease and age, as mentioned

earlier, might not have an effect on TUG in patients with COPD; however, we demonstrated that oxygen saturation was inversely related to TUG.

Recently, a large cross-sectional study of 16 National Foundation Centers of Excellence where over 2000 patients with PD were included to investigate the ability of the TUG test to identify fallers and non-fallers (Nocera et al., 2013). The researchers showed that TUG was able to detect accurately 70% of the patient fallers and non-fallers and a one second increase in TUG was associated with 5.4% increase in the risk of falls. Currently, health care professionals rely on subjective methods for the assessment of falls; TUG as an objective to distinguish fallers from non-fallers was shown to be useful especially when space and time are limited. These findings encourage further research to investigate a potential predictive ability of the TUG test to identify future risk of falls in patients with COPD.

Physical activity was reduced in the patient group compared to the controls group of the present study. This was expected as inactivity is one of the main characteristics of COPD patients (Troosters et al., 2010b, Pitta et al., 2005b). Few patients reported doing vigorous activity; therefore, analysis included the association of TUG to self-reported mild and moderate activity only. TUG confirmed the association of physical performance to self-reported physical activity in patients with COPD. Although there was a weak (borderline) association found between TUG and self-reported mild activity (hrs/wk), TUG was strongly associated to self-reported moderate activity (hrs/wk), selfreported walking time. The associated between physical performance and

physical activity is expected as it has been shown in previous literature using different functional tests in patients with COPD (Pitta et al., 2005b, DePew et al., 2013, Garcia-Aymerich et al., 2009). This is consistent with previous findings of inverse correlation between TUG and physical energy expenditure/week in community-dwelling elderly people (Ewing et al., 2010).

Previous literature showed high reliability of TUG ranging from ICC 0.85 to 0.99 in the older people with and without co-morbid conditions (Bellet et al., van Hedel et al., 2005, Steffen et al., 2002, Mesquita et al., Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Roig et al., 2010). In COPD studies, Roig et al., and a recently published study by Mesquita et al., showed high same-day test-retest reliability of the TUG test using same assessors. We reported similar TUG results in our patients with COPD to that published by Mesquita et al., however they had a more severe COPD population (Mesquita et al.). It is imperative to note that the present study showed that TUG was not related to the severity of the disease. Further, the majority of our controls (n=38)completed the TUG test in \leq 10 seconds. Therefore, our mean TUG time of controls was similar to the normal values (≤ 10 seconds) of healthy elderly people that was reported by Podsialdo and Richardson, and by a metaanalysis of 21 studies of healthy subjects <80 years old (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Bohannon, 2006). Our study showed that the reliability of the TUG test remains high even when using two assessors and when using one assessor on different days.

3.5.1 Limitation

The study was a cross-sectional study, which made findings limited to correlations amongst variables, and not the cause and effect. Although the study was designed to include a wide range of disease severity of patients with COPD, few patients with GOLD stage IV were recruited. Furthermore, using a 10m track for the 6MWD reduced the actual walking distance of our subjects, however it must be noted that establishing normal values of the 6MWD was not the aim of our study. The results of the 6MWD were collected to investigate the potential use of another test that requires shorter time and smaller space - TUG - in patients with COPD. In the analysis of physical activity, there were few patients who reported vigorous activity, which made it difficult to compare this group with healthy volunteers with vigorous activity. Further, physical activity was obtained using a subjective approach and the scope of this approach is limited to recall bias. Furthermore, the design of our study did not allow precise use of Charlson Comorbidity Index as some of the diseases in the index were exclusion criteria in this study. Finally, data was collected retrospectively; therefore, the ability of the TUG test to predict future falls in patients with COPD still needs to be investigated in a prospective study.

3.5.2 Conclusion

The TUG test is a simple and reliable test used to detect physical mobility and risk of falls in patients with COPD. Owing to the multiple components of the

TUG, it is a multi-physical performance as opposed to pure exercise test. TUG is a continuous test where performance is measured over time and, therefore; it is not limited by a ceiling effect. There was good correlation between TUG and 6MWT, with the advantage of TUG of being simple, tolerated, and consumed less time and space. A cut-off time of 12s in the TUG test was a useful measure to detect self-reported falls in the past year and gave a difference of more than double the minimal clinical important difference of the 6MWD (138m) in patients with COPD. This study does not suggest TUG as a replacement for 6MWT; rather, it has potential to be used as an initial evaluation of physical performance especially where time and space are of concerns.

Chapter 4

Physical Performance

and Arterial Stiffness

4.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is strongly associated to cardiovascular (CV) morbidity and exercise limitation (Mannino et al., 2008, Agusti et al., 2003). The rate of decline in physical performance in patients with COPD increases as the severity of disease progresses (Casanova et al., 2007). Some studies have investigated the relationship between haemodynamic measures and exercise intervention in patients with COPD (Vivodtzev et al., 2010, Gale et al., 2011); however, association of the same haemodynamic measures to physical performance, the nature of this relationship and the factors influencing this association still needs to be explored in patients with COPD.

Arterial stiffness is a non-invasive haemodynamic measure which independently predicts CV events and it can be used to stratify high risk patients in general population (Boutouyrie et al., 2002, Ben-Shlomo et al., 2014). The gold-standard method of measuring arterial stiffness is the carotid-femoral (aortic) pulse wave velocity (aPWV) (Laurent et al., 2006) and it has been shown to be increased in patients with COPD (Sabit et al., 2007, Maclay et al., 2009). However, impaired physical performance in patients with COPD in relation to aPWV was not investigated in these studies.

In healthy subjects, a large longitudinal study investigating the relationship of arterial stiffness to age and both subjective and objective measures of physical performance by following more than 5000 healthy subjects for more

than 20 years, Bunner et al. showed that physical performance was inversly related to arterial stiffness; however, the mechanism of this association was not determined (Brunner et al., 2011). Ageing, in healthy subjects (20-90 years), is directly related to arterial stiffness; however, regular exercise can slow down the progression of arterial stiffness as we age (Vaitkevicius et al., 1993). Watson et al. reported that in older adults the association of arterial stiffness to physical performance was evidenced in people with pre-existing CV problems and peipheral arterial disease, but was not demonestrated in healthy subjects (Watson et al., 2011).

Indeed, it is important to further investigate the relationships between arterial stiffness and physical performance in patients with COPD especially when impaired physical performance and additionally inactivity are commonly found in this group of patients (Pitta et al., 2005a, Pinto-Plata et al., 2004).

In a small interventional study of patients with COPD (n=17) Vivodtezev et al. explored the association of exercise intervention to arterial stiffness where seven patients underwent four weeks exersice training and compared to the other 10 untrained patients (Vivodtzev et al., 2010). The authors showed a 10% improvement of aPWV as a result of a reduction in systolic BP in the trained group, and this improvement was proportional to their improvement in the exercise tests performance. This was similarly shown in postrehabilitation improvement in aPWV in patients with COPD that was attributed to changes in blood pressure (Gale et al., 2011). These studies
showed an indirect improvement of arterial stiffness post exercise intervention.

This chapter aims to explore the relationship of aortic stiffness to physical performance in a large group of patients with COPD and controls. It will also consider aortic stiffness in relation to composite scores that include performance and self-reported co-morbidities.

4.2 Hypothesis

Impaired physical performance, as measured by TUG and/or 6MWT is a significant determinant of the increased aortic stiffness in patients with COPD, independent of age, gender and lung function

4.3 Methods

This was a cross-sectional study inviting patients with COPD and controls for a single clinical visit at the Respiratory Clinical Trial Unit, City Hospital, Nottingham.

4.3.1 Study objective

- Explore the relationship of physical performance and aortic stiffness in patients with COPD compared to controls
- Determining potential baseline factors affecting the relationship of aortic stiffness to physical performance

- Explore associations between aPWV and composite measures of COPD severity and self-reported co-morbidities

4.3.2 <u>Ethics</u>

The study was approved by the National Research Ethics Service (NRES) (Methods, p 51).

4.3.3 Sample size

Study sample size was based on the TUG calculation which included 181 subjects (Methods, p 49).

4.3.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were mentioned earlier in Chapter 2 (Methods, p 51). Subjects were excluded from analysis if measurements of aPWV were <4.7m/s.

4.3.5 Procedure

4.3.5.1 Informed consent

Informed written consent was obtained in all subjects (Methods, p 53).

4.3.5.2 Haemodynamics

- Aortic stiffness

The Vicorder was used to measure arterial stiffness while subjects were in a supine position (Laurent et al., 2006), see Methods, p 57. An aPWV >10m/s cut-off was used to identify those who were at higher risk of cardiovascular events (Mancia et al., 2013, Van Bortel et al., 2012).

- Perpheral Blood Pressure

Peripheral blood pressure (BP) was measured using Omron (705IT, UK) while subjects were seated (Methods, p 56). Mean arterial pressure (MAP) and pulse pressure (PP) were calculated (Methods, p 56).

- <u>Central Blood pressure</u>

Central BP was performed using the Vicorder (Skidmore Medical, UK) while subjected were seated (Methods, p 56).

4.3.5.3 <u>Time Up and Go (TUG)</u>

The TUG was performed following a practice trial, (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991) (Methods, p 61).

4.3.5.4 Six-Minute Walk Test

The Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT) was performed at the end of each visit after subjects rested for at least 60min prior to the test in order to assess the distance (6MWD) (Methods, p 61).

A cut-off of 350m in the 6MWD was used in the analysis (Casanova et al., 2008, Torres et al., 2011).

4.3.5.5 MRC Dyspnoea Scale

All subjects completed the validated Medical Research Council (MRC) dysnpoea scale (Fletcher, 1960) (Methods, p 54).

4.3.5.6 <u>Self-reported co-morbidity score</u>

To assess measure self-reported co-morbidites, co-morbidity score was calculated for each subject based on the reported conditions by assigning one point for each medical condition referred to in the Charlson Co-morbidity Index (Charlson et al., 1987) (Methods, p 65).

4.3.5.7 Body composition

Height and weight were measure using Seca Scales (Hamburg, Germany). From this BMI was calculated. The fat free mass (FFM) was recorded using Tanita scale (Illinois, USA) and from this, the height squared index: FFMI was calculated (Methods, p 55).

4.3.5.8 Oxygen saturation at rest

Resting oxygen saturation (SpO_2) using Konica Minota Pulsox-300 (Tokyo, Japan) for each subject was measured (Methods, p 63).

4.3.5.9 Spirometric measurements

Post-bronchodilator spirometric measurements of lung function were obtained using micro-medical spirometer (MicroLab MK6). The severity of airflow obstruction was used to classify patients into different Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) stages following the GOLD and the 2010 updated NICE classification of the COPD severity (Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease GOLD, 2011, NICE, 2010) (Methods, p 58).

4.3.5.10 Composite COPD severity measures - BODE and ADO indices

Both indices were assessed in patients with COPD only:

- BODE index: BMI, airway Obstruction, Dyspnoea and Exercise capacity

The BODE Index was calculated using scoring system which includes the four domains of BMI, FEV₁, MRC dyspnoea scale and the 6MWD (Celli et al., 2004) (Appendix 11).

- ADO index: Age, Dyspnoea and airway Obstruction

The ADO index was calculated using the scoring table of each of its component: age, dyspnoea and airway obstruction (Puhan et al., 2009) (Appendix 12).

4.3.6 Statistics

Statistical Package of the Social Science (SPSS) version 21 was used for data analysis. Independent t-test was used for comparison between the two groups where data was continuous and normally distributed. Mann-Whitney test was used for statistical difference in non-normally distributed variable. Chi-squire test was used when analysing two categorical data. One way ANOVA was used to look for significant differences between more than two groups. Pearson (r) was used to assess correlations for continuous variables where normally distributed. Spearman's test was performed to assess correlation of non-parametric distributed variable. Stepwise linear regression analysis was performed to detect independent association of physical performance tests to aPWV. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

4.4 Results

A total number of 181 subjects attended a study visit between April 2013 and September 2014. Four out of the 181 subjects had respiratory conditions other than COPD giving 119 COPD and 58 controls. Five patients were excluded because they had low aPWV (<4.7m/s). Therefore, analysis was performed on 114 patients and 58 controls (Figure 4.1). There were two patients did not complete the 6MWT, therefore, 112 patients were included in the analysis of the 6MWT and the BODE index. Body composition assessment were missing in four of the 114 patients because of machine technical issues; therefore, measurements of FFMI were obtained from 110 patients.

Patients with COPD and controls were matched for age and gender and also had similar BMI and FFMI (Table 4.1). The mean (SD) aPWV was significantly higher in patients 10.0 (2.1)m/s than controls 9.2 (1.8)m/s, p=0.01. As anticipated, patients had significantly lower spirometric and oxygen saturation measurements than controls. Further, smoking pack years was greater in patients than controls, p <0.001. Patients had significantly greater score in self-reported comorbidities compared to controls, p< 0.001 (Table 4.1). However, when analysing co-morbidity score without accounting for the COPD (co-morbidities - 1 in patients with COPD), patients and controls were not statistically different, p= 0.43. Patients reported significantly more CV

morbidity than controls, p=0.03, but both were similar in self-reported diabetes mellitus, p=0.19 (Table 4.2).

There was a significant difference between patients and controls in total cholestrol level, p=0.04; but not in other serum concentration of high density lipoproteins (HDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL) and triglycerides, p > 0.5 (Table 4.2).

There was no statistically significant difference in peripheral and central haemodynamic measurements between patients and controls, all p>0.05 (Table 4.3).

According to the severity of COPD, patients were divided into GOLD I (n=11), GOLD II (n=65), GOLD III (n=35) and GOLD IV (n=3). For analysis patients were divided into two groups: GOLD I and II and GOLD III and IV. Both groups were similar in age (p= 0.61) and gender (p= 0.50) but differed significantly in BMI (GOLD I&II: 34.4 (5.2)kg/m² and GOLD III&IV: 29.0 (5.8)kg/m², p< 0.001). The aPWV in GOLD I&II group was 9.9 (2.0)m/s and GOLD III&IV group was 10.4 (2.2)m/s, p= 0.23.

Figure 4.1: Recruitment Flowchart



Table 4.1: Demographics of Study Groups

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated	COPD	Controls	p-value
n	114	58	
Male n (%)	71 (62)	38 (66)	0.68
Age (years)	68 (8)	66 (9)	0.15
BMI (kg/m²)	27.5 (6.0)	28.6 (5.2)	0.21
FFMI (kg/m ²) - patients n= 110, controls n = 58	18.5 (3.0)	19.2 (2.4)	0.17
Smoking status – (current / ex-smokers)	39 / 80	8 / 50	0.007
Smoking history (pack year)	46 (26)	31 (20)	<0.001
FEV ₁ (L)	1.60 (0.57)	2.80 (0.61)	<0.001
FEV ₁ % predicted	59 (18)	100 (15)	<0.001
FVC (L)	3.22 (0.84)	3.79 (0.89)	<0.001
FVC% predicted	95 (18)	108 (19)	<0.001
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	49 (13)	74 (7)	<0.001
Co-morbidities – median (IQR)	1 (1-2)	0 (0-1)	<0.001
Resting SpO ₂ (%)	95 (2)	96 (1)	<0.001
TUG time (seconds)	12.0 (3.7)	9.5 (1.8)	<0.001
6MWD (m) – patients n =112, controls n=58	287 (97)	380 (76)	<0.001

Abbreviations: Body mass index (**BMI**), fat free mass index (**FFMI**), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (**FEV**₁), forced vital capacity (**FVC**), oxygen saturation (**SpO**₂), Time Up and Go (**TUG**), Six-Minute Walk Distance (**6MWD**).

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated		COPD n=114	Controls n=58	p-value
Self reported Cardiovascular disease n(%)*		30 (26)	7 (12)	0.03
Self reported diabetes mellitus n(%)		18 (16)	5 (9)	0.19
Cardiovascular Medications	Angiotensin-converting- enzyme inhibitor n(%)	26 (23)	9 (16)	0.26
	Angiotensin receptor blockers n(%)	5 (4)	3 (5)	0.82
	Beta blockers n(%)	11 (10)	9 (16)	0.26
	Statin n(%)	44 (39)	14 (24)	0.06
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)		5.1 (1.3)	5.5 (1.0)	0.04
Triglycerides (mmol/L)		1.5 (0.8)	1.6 (0.8)	0.63
HDL Cholesterol (mmol/L)		1.6 (0.5)	1.7 (0.4)	0.38
LDL Cholesterol (mmol/L)		2.7 (1.1)	3.1 (1.0)	0.07
Cholesterol:HDL ratio		3.3 (1.0)	3.4 (0.9)	0.37

Table 4.2: Self-Reported Conditions, Medications, and Lipid Profile

Abbreviations: High density lipoproteins (HDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL). *Self-reported cardiovascular problems include: myocardial infarction, heart failure, arrhythmia, angina, bypass surgery and pacemaker.

Table 4.3: Peripheral and Central Haemodynamics

Mean (SD)	COPD	Controls	p-value
Peripheral systolic BP (mm Hg)	147 (23)	144 (15)	0.27
Peripheral diastolic BP (mm Hg)	84 (12)	83 (10)	0.56
Peripheral mean arterial pressure (mm Hg)	105 (14)	103 (10)	0.34
Peripheral pulse pressure (mm Hg)	63 (17)	61 (13)	0.42
aPWV (m/s)	10.0 (2.1)	9.2 (1.8)	0.01
Central systolic BP (mm Hg)	143 (23)	141 (14)	0.31
Central diastolic BP (mm Hg)	84 (12)	83 (10)	0.54
Central mean arterial pressure (mm Hg)	110 (15)	109 (11)	0.41
Central pulse pressure (mm Hg)	59 (17)	57 (13)	0.50
Heart rate (beat/min)	74 (14)	70 (14)	0.09

Abbreviations: Aortic pulse wave velocity (aPWV), blood pressure (BP)

4.4.1 Aortic PWV association to baseline variables:

Age, gender, BMI and FFMI

Age was significantly associated to aPWV in patients (r= 0.47, p<0.001), controls (r= 0.45, p<0.001). The mean (SD) aPWV was greater in male patients 10.6 (2.0)m/s compared to female patients 9.1 (1.9)m/s, p<0.001; but no difference found between gender in controls, p= 0.17. There was no significant association of aPWV to either BMI or FFMI in patients or controls, p>0.05.

- Spirometric measurements, smoking history, oxygen saturation and MRC dyspnoea scale

In patients aPWV was inversely correlated with forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁)/forced vital capacity (FVC) ratio; r = -0.20, p = 0.04, but not in controls and not with other spirometric parameters (Table 4.4). There were no significant associations of aPWV to smoking pack years or to resting oxygen saturation in patients or control, p>0.05 In patients, there was no association between aPWV and MRC dyspnoea score, p = 0.51.

Table 4.4: Arterial Stiffness and Lung Function Correlations

Pearson correlation (p-value)	aPWV (m/s)		
	COPD	Controls	
FEV ₁ (L)	-0.08 (0.42)	-0.11 (0.43)	
FEV ₁ (%) predicted	-0.09 (0.35)	-0.09 (0.49)	
FVC (L)	0.14 (0.14)	-0.06 (0.67)	
FVC (%) Predicted	0.05 (0.62)	-0.15 (0.28)	
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	-0.20 (0.04)	-0.01 (0.97)	

Abbreviations: Aortic pulse wave velocity (**aPWV**), forced expiratory volume in one second (**FEV**₁), forced vital capacity (**FVC**).

Peripheral (sitting) haemodynamic measurements

The association of aPWV to heart rate was significant in patients: r=0.20, p=0.03, but not in controls: r=0.14, p=0.29.

In patients, there was a significant association of aPWV to pulse pressure (PP) (r=0.26, p<0.01) and to mean arterial pressure (MAP) (r=0.41, p<0.001). As expected, aPWV was associated to systolic BP (r=0.38) and diastolic BP (r=0.38), all with p<0.001.

In controls, aPWV was significantly associated to PP (r=0.28, p=0.04), but not to MAP (r=0.19, p=0.16). Again, aPWV was significantly associated to systolic BP (r=0.30, p=0.02), but not to diastolic BP (r=0.06, p=0.65).

- Central (sitting) haemodynamic measurements

In patients, there was a significant association of aPWV to PP (r=0.22, p=0.02) and to MAP (r=0.41, p<0.001). Similar to peripheral measurements, aPWV was signification associated to systolic BP (r=0.36) and diastolic BP (r=0.37), all with p<0.001.

In controls, aPWV was not significantly associated to PP (r=0.23, p=0.09) or to MAP (r=0.12, p=0.37). There was no association of aPWV to either systolic BP (r=0.23, p=0.08) or to diastolic BP (r=0.04, p=0.78).

- Self-reported medical conditions, co-morbidity score and selfreported medications

The aPWV for patients with and without self-reported CV problems was not significant (10.1 (2.7)m/s and 10.0 (1.8)m/s, respectively, p=0.93). Similarly, aPWV for patients with and without self-reported diabetes mellitus was not significantly different (10.8 (2.5)m/s and 9.9 (2.0)m/s, respectively, p=0.11).

There was no difference in aPWV between controls with and without selfreported CV problems (9.4 (1.4)m/s and 9.2 (1.8)m/s, respectively, p=0.80. Again, aPWV was not significantly different in controls with and without selfreported diabetes mellitus (9.8(2.6)m/s and 9.2 (1.7)m/s, resprectively, p=0.44.

Spearman's test showed no correlation between aPWV and self-reported comorbidity score in patients (r= 0.14, p= 0.14) or in controls (r= 0.04, p=0.77).

4.4.2 Aortic PWV and physical performance tests

As reported in previous literature, patients covered less distance in the 6MWT and took longer time in TUG test than controls, p< 0.001 (Table 4.1). In all subjects, there was an inverse relationship between aPWV and 6MWD, r= -0.19, p= 0.01. Correlation of aPWV to 6MWD was not found in patients alone (r= -0.09, p= 0.34) or controls alone (r= -0.22, p= 0.10), (Figure 4.2). There was no association between aPWV and TUG in all subjects (r= 0.08, p= 0.27), in patients (r= -0.01, p= 0.93) or in controls (r= 0.16, p= 0.22). A stepwise linear regression analysis was performed where aPWV was the dependent variable and age, gender, MAP and 6MWD or TUG were the independent variables, only age and MAP were independent predictors of aPWV, 27% change attributed to age and 8% attributed to MAP.

4.4.2.1 Aortic PWV cut-off point of 10m/s

Dividing subjects according to aPWV cut-off point of 10m/s showed no significant difference in the number of patients (n=47 (41%)) and controls (n= 17 (29%)) who had aPWV> 10m/s, p=0.13.

There was no significant difference in the 6MWD based on aPWV cut-off point of 10m/s: patients with aPWV \leq 10m/s covered a distance of 286 (97)m and patients with aPWV >10m/s covered a distance of 287 (98)m, p= 0.94, remaining insignificant after adjustment for age, gender and MAP. Controls with aPWV \leq 10m/s covered a distance of 389 (66)m and controls with aPWV >10m/s covered a distance of 358 (96)m, p= 0.17.

Similarly, the aPWV cut-off point of 10m/s did not show a significant difference in completing the TUG test in either patients or controls: Patients (n=47) with aPWV>10m/s completed the TUG test in 11.8 (3.4)s; whilst, patients (n=67) with aPWV≤10m/s completed the TUG test in 12.2(4)s, p=0.61. Similarly, controls (n=17) with aPWV>10m/s completed the TUG test in 10.2 (2.2)s; whilst, controls (n=41) with aPWV≤10m/s completed the TUG test in 9.2 (1.5)s, p=0.07.

Figure 4.2: Aortic Stiffness and Six-Minute Walk Distance in Patients and Controls



Solid line shows and inverse relationship between aPWV and 6MWD in all subjects

4.4.2.2 Aortic stiffness according to 6MWD of more or less than

<u>350m</u>

According to 6MWD cut-off distance of 350m there were 33 patients and 42 controls who covered >350m and 79 patients and 16 controls who covered \leq 350m (Figure 4.3). The aPWV of patients who covered >350m was 9.4 (1.5)m/s compared to 10.3 (2.2)m/s in those who covered \leq 350m, p= 0.02; and remained significant when adjusted for age, gender and MAP. In controls, those who covered >350m had aPWV of 9.0 (1.7)m/s compared to 9.9 (1.8)m/s for those who covered \leq 350m in the 6MWD, p= 0.07.

Figure 4.3: Aortic Stiffness according to 6MWD group in Patients and Controls



Error bars represent ± 1 standard deviation

4.4.3 Aortic PWV and BODE index in patients

The median (IQR) for the BODE in patients was 4 (2-6). There was no significant associated between aPWV and BODE, p= 0.67. Similarly, one way ANOVA (post Hoc) test showed no significant association between aPWV and BODE categories (Table 4.5).

Mean (SD)		n	aPWV (m/s)
BODE Index classification	0-2	31	9.8 (1.9)
	3-4	27	10.2 (2.5)
	5-6	35	10.3 (1.7)
	7-10	19	9.7 (2.4)

Table 4.5: Aortic PWV and BODE Index in Patients

Abbreviations: Aortic pulse wave velocty (**aPWV**), BMI, airway obstruction, dyspnoea, exercise capacity (**BODE**).

4.4.3 <u>Aortic PWV and ADO index</u>

The median (IQR) score in patients was 4 (4-5). There was a significant association between aPWV and ADO index (r= 0.27, p=0.004)

4.5 Discussion

This study showed that aortic stiffness was increased in patients with COPD compared to age- and gender matched controls; whilst, it was inversely associated to physical performance measures in all subjects, it was not in patients with COPD alone. However, the 6MWD of 350m could significantly distinguish between patients with normal and increased arterial stiffness. Finally, we showed that arterial stiffness was positively related to age and ADO index, but not the BODE index.

Arterial stiffness has been repeatedly shown to be increased in patients with COPD compared to age matched controls (Sabit et al., 2007, Mills et al., 2008). Arterial stiffness has also been positively related to disease severity based on GOLD classification system (Sabit et al., 2007, McAllister et al., 2007). Our results confirmed previous findings where arterial stiffness was increased in patients compared to controls; yet, we did not find any association to disease severity in modified GOLD groups or when using single parameter of FEV₁% predicted. There were some characteristics differences where in Sabit et al, subjects with CV and metabolic or inflammatory conditions were excluded, unlike our study. Furthermore, the majority of our patients were GOLD II and only three were GOLD stage IV compared to Sabit et al., 2007). Bhatt et al., presented similar to our finding when investigating determinants of arterial stiffness by comparing patients with moderate (GOLD II) COPD to

patients with severe (GOLD III) and very severe (GOLD IV) COPD (Bhatt et al., 2014). The authors showed no difference in aPWV when comparing patients in GOLD stage II to patients in GOLD stage III and IV - both groups were similar in CV and cerebrovascular diseases.

It is important to note that our controls were not necessarily healthy subjects as they were similar to our patients in self-reported co-morbidities as described by Charlson index. Moreover, both groups were similar in selfreported use of CV medications. This could due to the fact that COPD is associated with increased arterial stiffness. This could play a part in explaining the similarity in other haemodynamics such as BP, PP and MAP readings in both groups, although the readings were marginally greater in patients, but not significant. Nevertheless, the measurement of aPWV was the only haemodynamic measure that was significantly increased in patients compared to controls. MAP is a contributing factor of aPWV (McEniery et al., 2005), therefore showing increased aPWV in patients compared to controls despite similar MAP is of heightened importance.

A previous study has demonstrated that exercise capacity as measured by 6MWT was inversely related to arterial stiffness in patients with COPD; therefore, suggesting that patients with COPD could benefit from CV risk screening in pulmonary rehabilitation programme (Castagna et al., 2008). The main aim of Castagna et al., study was looking at peripheral artery disease in patients with COPD rather than specific markers of arterial stiffness. Adjustment analysis was not reported so it is not known which confounding

variables account for the association. Compared to our study, patients in Castagna et al. study were in more severe stage of COPD, mean (standard error (SE)) FEV₁% predicted was 37 (6), with mean (SE) 6MWD (291 (41)m); which is similar to the distance presented in our study. There is evidence in literature showing that the prognostic power of 6MWD to predict mortality in patients with COPD is dependable on the severity of the disease and it becomes strongest in patients in the severe stages of COPD (Casanova et al., 2008). It is possible that the severity of COPD, also, has an influence on the strength of the association between the physical performance and arterial stiffness and, hence, having only few patients in the severe stages of COPD in our study might have obscured this association. If this is the case, it supports our findings that patients at high risk group of mortality according to their physical performance have significantly increased arterial stiffness compared to patients in the low risk group.

We reported no associations of arterial stiffness to the BODE or to any of its components unlike the apparent association with the ADO index. The association of age to arterial stiffness in patients with COPD and in general population has been repeatedly shown in literature (Sabit et al., 2007, Bhatt et al., 2014) as well as in the present study; therefore, the presence of age as one of the components of the ADO index might be the primary factor of such significance. It is important to note that age is not a disease specific but a common risk factor of mortality in the general public (Celli et al., 2009, Vaitkevicius et al., 1993); however, ADO has been validated to accurately

predicts 3-year mortality and a useful index for the assessment of medical intervention in patients with COPD (Puhan et al., 2012). Both BODE and ADO are individually useful indices and are important in the management of COPD. As both indices include an exercise component, better understanding of the effect of exercise on arterial stiffness in patients with COPD will increase the beneficial values of these indices.

In general, the relationship between physical performance and arterial stiffness in patients with COPD is still not clear and needs more investigations. Only two recently published studies by Vivodtzev et al. and Gale et al., showed that physical exercise improved BP which in turn improved aPWV (Vivodtzev et al., 2010, Gale et al., 2011). Given that the determinants of arterial stiffness differ from those for BP, more studies investigating in details the nature of the relationship between physical performance and arterial stiffness are warranted.

4.5.1 Limitation

The nature of this cross-sectional study did not allow detecting the cause and effect of arterial stiffness and physical performance in our population. The majority of the patients were in mild-moderate stage of the COPD, this might be a reason for the insignificant relationship between arterial stiffness and the severity of the disease. Second, because of the lack of space we used a 10m track for the 6MWD rather than the recommended 30m track (ATS, 2002). This, most likely, influenced the distance covered by our subjects and, therefore, might have an effect on the lack of association between arterial stiffness and physical performance.

4.5.2 Conclusion and future plan

In a representative sample of patients with COPD and controls, we showed that COPD is an independent predictor of arterial stiffness and it was significantly increased in patients compared to age- and gender-matched controls and there was no difference in the self-reported co-morbidities in both groups. Although no association between arterial stiffness and physical performance in COPD was found in our study, we showed that there is a potential benefit of expanding the use of the 6MWD cut-off in identifying patients with high arterial stiffness.

Chapter 5

Physical Activity and

Arterial Stiffness

5.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a respiratory condition with systemic complications including, but not limited to, muscle wasting and inactivity (Mannino et al., 2008, Schols et al., 2005, Pitta et al., 2005a). Muscle wasting and dysfunction in patients with COPD was shown to be affected by airway obstruction, hypoxemia and inactivity (Degens, 2007). Understanding the relationship between COPD and physical inactivity is important as inactivity is independently associated with hospitalisation and increased mortality rate in patients with COPD (Waschki et al., 2011, Garcia-Rio et al., 2012, Watz et al., 2014).

In general population physical inactivity is related to increased risk of developing serious conditions like cardiovascular (CV) diseases and hypertension (Kesaniemi YK, 2001). In the general population, one estimation of disease-specific death showed that physical inactivity was responsible for approximately 1 in 10 deaths due to coronary heart disease, similar to that of high blood cholesterol, high blood pressure and cigarette smoking (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010). Whilst, reduction of physical activity in the USA alone was responsible for the increase of mortality rate of over 17,000 deaths from the year of 1980 to 2000 (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010). Similarly, sedentary life-style even in healthy subjects is a leading cause of mortality, disability and serious conditions, for example, cardiovascular diseases and diabetes (Prakash, 2014). Therefore, the World Health Organisation (WHO) (WHO, 2010) as well as the

American college of Sports and Medicine and the American Heart Association (AHA) recommended 30min of moderate activity for 5 days/wk or 75min/wk of vigorous activity to reduce CV risks (Nelson et al., 2007).

When compared to healthy subjects, patients with COPD are less physically active (Pitta et al., 2005a, Vorrink et al., 2011) and have an accelerated decline of activity level over time (Vaes et al., 2014). Furthermore, patients with COPD spend more time lying down during the day, cover less walking distance and walk a slower pace in comparison to healthy controls (Pitta et al., 2005a). Even when compared to patients with other chronic conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes, patients with COPD were found to be significantly less physically active (Arne et al., 2009). Therefore, better understanding of the determinants and consequences of physical inactivity in patients with COPD is necessary especially when the prevalence of inactivity is high amongst COPD patients.

Aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of CV diseases (Boutouyrie et al., 2002, Ben-Shlomo et al., 2014). Currently, the optimal non-invasive method of measuring arterial stiffness is the carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (aPWV) (Laurent et al., 2006), and it has been found to be increased in patients with COPD when compared to healthy controls (Sabit et al., 2007).

In healthy population, literature shows that physical inactivity is related to increased arterial stiffness (Tanaka et al., 2000, Boreham et al., 2004). There is one small study by Stickland et al. exploring the association of physical activity – assessed by SenseWear[®] Pro3 Armband - to arterial stiffness –

assessed by carotid-radial PWV – in patients with COPD (n=33) and agematched healthy controls (n=10) (Stickland, 2013). They found that arterial stiffness was significantly lower in controls in comparison to inactive COPD patients, but not to active COPD patients. In COPD alone, they demonstrated that physical activity and exercise tolerance were inversely related to arterial stiffness and that was independent of lung function; therefore, the authors concluded that increased stiffness in patients with COPD was related to the substantial decrease of physical activity rather than the impaired lung function.

The aim of our study was to investigate whether self-reported physical activity was a determinant of aortic stiffness in a large, representative sample of patients with COPD.

5.2 Hypothesis

Aortic stiffness is inversely related to self-reported physical activity in patients with COPD

5.3 Objectives

- To determine self-reported physical activity in patients with COPD
- To explore the association of self-reported physical activity to haemodynamic measurements in patients with COPD and contribution of confounding variables

5.4 Methods

This cross-sectional study invited patients with COPD during their stability to attend a single study visit at the Clinical Trial Unit, City Hospital, Nottingham. The study includes two groups of patients with COPD: patients with confirmed diagnoses of COPD – I presented in previous chapters - and patients with COPD recruited previously by a colleague using the same physical activity questionnaire and arterial stiffness measurements with the same inclusion and exclusion criteria. There was no overlap in subjects.

5.4.1 <u>Ethics</u>

The study was approved by the National Research Ethics Service (NRES) (Chapter 2, p 51).

5.4.2 Sample Size

The sample size of this study included the patients recruited and analysed in previous chapters as well as patients recruited by colleagues in the department using the same inclusion and exclusion criteria. We therefore used this large pragmatic size (n=167) of patients with COPD.

5.4.3 Procedure

5.4.3.1 Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained in subjects (Methods, p 53).

5.4.3.2 <u>Tests</u>

5.4.3.2.1 Spirometric measurements

Subjects performed post-bronchodilator spirometry (MicroLab MK6) (Methods, p 58) (Miller et al., 2005). Patients were categorised according to GOLD stages (Methods, P 58) (Decramer et al., 2014).

5.4.3.2.2 Self-reported physical activity

Subjects were asked to report the time (hrs/wk) they spent doing mild, moderate and vigorous activity (Methods, P 64).

Based on the WHO guidelines (WHO, 2010), patients who reported doing \geq 150min/wk (for example 30 minutes for five days per week) of combined moderate and vigorous (*active*) activities were compared to those who reported <150min/wk of the same activity levels (*inactive*); then, patients who reported doing \geq 75min/wk of vigorous activity only were compared to those who reported <75min/wk of the same activity level.

5.4.3.2.3 Self-reported walking time

Patients were asked to report the average time (min/day) spent in walking outside the house/workplace for each weekday and weekend day in the past week (Methods, p 64). In the statistical analysis of this section, the average walking time per week was calculated as (5 x weekday) + (2 x weekend) using the self-reported walk time in each weekday and the average of self-reported walk time in each weekday.

5.4.3.2.4 Haemodynamic measurements

Sitting peripheral (Omron) and central (Vicorder) blood pressure (BP), mean arterial pressure (MAP), pulse pressure (PP) and heart rate were obtained (Methods, p 56).

Arterial stiffness measurements were taken using the Vicorder according to the gold-standard method aPWV while subjects were in a supine position (Laurent et al., 2006). Aortic PWV measurement of \leq 4.7m/s was considered invalid and subjects were excluded (Methods, p 57).

5.4.3.2.5 Body composition

Height (metres) and weight (kilograms) were obtained (Seca, Germany). From this, body mass index (BMI) was calculated. The fat free mass (FFM) and the height squared index of fat free mass index (FFMI) were calculated using bioelectrical impedance (Tanita, USA) (Methods, p 55).

5.4.3.2.6 Resting oxygen saturation

Oxygen saturation was taken while subjects at rest (Konica Minolta pulsox-300, Japan).

5.4.3.2.7 Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale

All subjects were asked to complete the MRC dyspnoea scale (Methods, p 54). Detailed medical history including self-reported use of CV medications and smoking history were recorded.

5.4.4 <u>Statistics</u>

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21 was used for data analysis (Chicago, IL). Where variables were normally distributed: Chi squire test was used for comparison between two categorical variables; independent t-test to investigate if a continuous variable is statistically different between two groups. For non-parametric variables the median (interquartile range (IQR)) was used to describe variables. Spearman's test was used to assess the correlation of two continuous variables. If non-normally distributed, Mann-Whitney U test was used to investigate if a continuous variable is significantly different between two groups, where Kruskal-Wallis was used when comparing a continuous variable across more than two groups. A stepwise regression analysis was used to determine factors affecting aortic stiffness in patients with COPD. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant.

5.5 Results

Of the 172 patients, five patients were excluded because of aPWV \leq 4.7m/s, therefore 167 patients included. The demographics and lung physiology parameters is presented in Table 5.1. Central and peripheral haemodynamics including aPWV are presented in Table 5.2. Both genders had similar FEV₁% predicted and MRC score, all with p>0.05. In all subjects, aPWV was positively related to age (r=0.43, p<0.001), heart rate (r=0.22, p<0.01) and central MAP (r=0.32, p<0.001), but not to FEV₁% predicted, MRC dyspnoea scale and FFMI, all with p>0.05.

According to GOLD stages, only seven patients were classified as GOLD IV and, therefore, an adapted GOLD stages of GOLD I (n=17), GOLD II (98) and GOLD III and IV (n=52) was used for statistical analysis. Out of the 167 patients, 31 patients reported having ischemic heart disease (IHD) and 23 patients reported having diabetes mellitus. Patients self-reports of CV medications include angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (n=32), angiotensin receptor inhibitor (n=15), beta blockers (n=14) and statin (n=100).

Table 5.1: Demographics of Patients with COPD

Mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated	
n	167
Age (years)	68 (8)
BMI (kg/m²)	27.1 (5.6)
FFMI (kg/m²) - n=158	18.4 (2.8)
Smoking history (pack years)	44 (25)
Smoking status - n (current/ex-smoker)	50/117
FEV ₁ (L)	1.6 (0.6)
FEV ₁ % predicted	59 (19)
FVC (L)	3.2 (0.9)
FVC% predicted	95 (19)
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio	49 (13)
Resting SpO ₂ (%)	95 (2)
MRC dyspnoea scale – median (IQR)	3 (2-4)

Abbreviations: Body mass index (**BMI**), fat free mass index (**FFMI**), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (**FEV**₁), forced vital capacity (**FVC**), oxygen saturation (**SpO**₂), Medical Research Council (**MRC**)
Table 5.2: Haemodynamic Measurements in Patients with COPD

Mean (SD)	
Peripheral systolic BP (mmHg)	141 (21)
Peripheral diastolic BP (mmHg)	80 (11)
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	101 (13)
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	61 (16)
Heart rate (beat/min)	75 (15)
aPWV (m/s)	10.3 (2.1)
Central systolic BP (mmHg)	141 (21)
Central diastolic BP (mmHg)	84 (13)
Central MAP (mmHg)	110 (15)
Central PP (mmHg)	58 (17)

Abbreviations: Blood pressure (**BP**), mean arterial pressure (**MAP**), pulse pressure (**PP**) and aortic pulse wave velocity (**aPWV**)

5.5.1 <u>Self-reported physical activity and haemodynamic</u> <u>measurements</u>

5.5.1.1 Self-reported physical activity (hrs/wk)

Spearman's test showed no significant association of aPWV to a combined mild, moderate and vigorous activity (hrs/wk) (r=0.10, p=0.21) or to a combined moderate and vigorous activity (hrs/wk) (r=0.02, p=0.84).

Both the combined mild, moderate and vigorous activity (hrs/wk) and the combined moderate and vigorous activity (hrs/wk) were inversely related to peripheral pulse pressure (r=0.15 and r=0.16, respectively, p<0.05), but they were not related to other haemodynamic measurements including central and peripheral systolic BP, diastolic BP, MAP, heart rate and central pulse pressure, all with p>0.05.

5.5.1.2 <u>Self-reported physical activity based on WHO quidelines</u>

The vast majority of patients (n=125) do \geq 150min/wk of combined moderate and vigorous activity had mean (SD) aPWV of 10.3 (1.8)m/s compared to those who do <150min/wk (n= 42), 10.2 (2.1)m/s, p=0.79. Similarly, patients (n=8) who reported vigorous activity \geq 75min/wk had mean aPWV of 11.3 (1.0)m/s compared to 10.2 (2.1)m/s for those (n=159) who reported vigorous activity <75min/wk, p=0.14. There was no statistical difference in peripheral and central haemodynamic measurements including heart rate, based on the cut-off of the 150min/wk (combined moderate and vigorous) or the 75min/wk (vigorous activity only), all with p>0.05.

5.5.1.3 <u>Self-reported physical activity based on frequency of ≥3</u> times/week

Patients who reported ≥ 3 times/wk of physical activity had mean (SD) aPWV of 10.2 (2.1)m/s and those with <3 times/wk had aPWV of 10.7 (2.0)m/s, p=0.24. There was no statistical difference in peripheral and central haemodynamic measurements when patients where compared based on selfreported >3 times/wk of physical activity.

5.5.1.4 <u>Self-reported walking time (minute/week)</u>

Spearman's test showed weak but significant association between self-reported walk time and both peripheral and central systolic BP (r= 0.16, p=0.04 and r= 0.18, p=0.02, respectively), but not between self-reported walk time and aPWV (r=0.11, p=0.14) (Figure 5.1). Analysis of other haemodynamic measures showed that self-reported walking time was associated with peripheral MAP (r=0.16, p=0.04), but not with other peripheral or central haemodynamic measures, p>0.05.

Figure 5.1: Association of Haemodynamic Measurements to Self-reported Walking Time



A: Aortic Stiffness and Self-Reported Walking Time

B: Peripheral Systolic Blood Pressure and Self-Reported Walking Time



5.5.2 <u>Self-reported mild, moderate and vigorous activity</u> (minute/week)

The median (IQR) time (min/wk) of self-reported combined mild, moderate and vigorous activity was 720 (300-1260)min/wk; and for the combined moderate and vigorous activity alone was 30 (0-150)min/wk.

5.5.2.1 <u>Self-reported physical activity and GOLD stages of airflow</u> obstruction and MRC dyspnoea scale

Kruskal-Wallis test showed significant difference between GOLD stages and the combined self-reported mild, moderate and vigorous activity (mins/wk) (p=0.02) (Figure 5.2), as well as between GOLD stages and the combined moderate and vigorous activity only, median (IQR) GOLD I: 30 (0-120)min/wk, GOLD II: 60 (0-240)min/wk, GOLD III and IV: 0 (0-60)min/wk, p= 0.02.

Likewise, Kruskal-Wallis test showed significant difference between MRC dyspnoea scale and the combined mild, moderate and vigorous self-reported physical activity (min/wk), p<0.001 (Figure 5.3), as well as the combined moderate and vigorous activities alone, median (IQR) MRC 1: 120 (0-720)min/wk, MRC 2: 90 (0-240)min/wk, MRC 3: 0 (0-60)min/wk, MRC 4: 0 (0-120)min/wk and MRC 5: 0 (0-18)min/wk, p<0.001.

5.5.2.2 <u>Self-reported physical activity and other potential confounders</u>

Other potential factors influencing self-reported physical activity to explore were age, gender, FEV₁% predicted, resting oxygen saturation and FFMI.

Spearman's test showed no significant association between age and neither a combined self-reported mild, moderate and vigorous activity (min/wk) (r= 0.14) or the combined moderate and vigorous activity only (r= 0.14), both p>0.05.

Mann-Whitney U tests showed no gender differences in self-reported combined mild, moderate and vigorous activity (min/wk), p>0.05; however, males reported significantly more time with a median (IQR), 60 (0-240)min/wk, doing combined moderate and vigorous activity than females, 0 (0-120)min/wk, p=0.001.

The combined mild, moderate and vigorous activity (min/wk) was associated to FEV₁% predicted (r= 0.32, p<0.001); but it was not associated to resting oxygen saturation, smoking history (pack year) or FFMI, all with p>0.05.

Comparable results were found when analysing the combined self-reported moderate and vigorous activity as it was associated to FEV₁% predicted (r=0.19, p=0.01), but it was also associated to FFMI (r=0.24, p=0.003). There was no significant association between the combined self-reported moderate and vigorous activity and the measurements of resting oxygen saturation or smoking history (pack year), all with p>0.05.





Error bars represent IQR Abbreviation: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (**GOLD**) Figure 5.3: Self-reported Mild, Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity Time and MRC Scale



Error bars represent IQR Abbreviation Medical research council (**MRC**) MRC 1: n=13, MRC 2: n=65, MRC 3: n=35, MRC 4: n=39 and MRC 5: n=15

5.5.3 <u>Comparison between active and inactive patients based on</u> <u>WHO guidelines for physical activity</u>

Chi squared test showed that the proportion of patients who reported moderate and vigorous physical activity of \geq 150min/wk (active patients) decreases as the severity of COPD – according to GOLD stages – increases, p=0.001 (Figure 5.4) (WHO, 2010).

Similarly, as the MRC worsened the percentages of the inactive patients (<150min/wk of moderate and vigorous activity) became higher than the percentages of the active patients (150min/wk of moderate and vigorous activity), p<0.001 (Figure 5.5).

Figure 5.4: Proportion of Patients Classified as Inactive according to GOLD stages



Abbreviation Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (**GOLD**) Active group: ≥150min/week Inactive group: <150min/week Figure 5.5: Proportion of Patients Classified as Inacitve according to MRC Dyspnoea Scale



Abbreviation: Medical Research Council (**MRC**) Active group: ≥150min/week Inactive group: <150min/week

5.5.4 <u>Self-reported physical activity based on a cut-off of 3</u> <u>times/week</u>

135 patients reported \geq 3 times/wk whilst 32 patients reported <3 times/wk of mild, moderate or vigorous physical activity. Both groups were similar in age and gender, p>0.05. Chi squire test showed that the proportion of patients reporting doing physical activity \geq 3 times/wk decreases as the severity of COPD based on GOLD stages increased, p=0.01 (Figure 5.6).

Similarly, Chi squire test showed that the proportion of patients who reported ≥3 times/wk decreases as the MRC score increased, p=0.001 (Figure 5.7).

Figure 5.6: GOLD Stages and Self-reported Frequency of Mild, Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity



Abbreviation: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD)

Figure 5.7: MRC Dyspnoea Scale and Self-reported Mild, Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity



Abbreviation: Medical research council (**MRC**) MRC 1: n= 13, MRC 2: n= 65, MRC 3: n= 35, MRC 4: n=39 and MRC 5: n= 15

5.5.5 <u>Self-reported walking time</u>

The median (IQR) of self-reported walking time was 210 (105-490)min/wk. Kruskal-Wallis test showed that self-reported walking time per week was not significantly different amongst the GOLD stages, p=0.15; but it was significantly different amongst the MRC dyspnoea scale, p=0.01 (Figure 5.8). In Figure 5.8 the unexpectedly high walking time in MRC score 5 could be explained by 2/15 of the patients reporting unexpectedly high walking time and their results being outliers. Figure 5.8: Self-reported Walking Time (minute/week) across the MRC Dyspnoea Scale



Bars represent the median time (min/week) of self-reported walking time Error bars represent the IQR

Abbreviation: Medical research council (MRC)

MRC 1: n= 13, MRC 2: n= 65, MRC 3: n= 35, MRC 4: n= 39 and MRC 5: n= 15

5.6 Discussion

The current study did not find an association between self-reported physical activity and aortic stiffness. Assessing patients during disease stability showed that the severity of COPD – assessed by GOLD stages – and dyspnoea – assessed by the MRC dyspnoea scale – were inversely related to the physical activity.

Expanding our understanding of the potential effects of daily life physical activity on arterial stiffness is important and might play crucial role in the future medical intervention to reduce death of cardiovascular diseases and reduce functional decline (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010) in general public as well as in patients with COPD. Furthermore, previous studies showed that physical activity is an independent predictor of mortality in healthy subjects (Vaes et al., 2014) and in patients with COPD (Troosters et al., 2013, Garcia-Rio et al., 2012, Waschki et al., 2011, Vaes et al., 2014). Physical activity is a modifiable factor which can be improved and, therefore, provides long term benefits regarding patients' health (Troosters et al., 2013).

Stickland et al., looked at the relationship of physical activity to arterial stiffness in patients with COPD (20 inactive and 13 active) in comparison to 10 age-matched controls (Stickland, 2013). They showed an inverse association of time spent in moderate activity as well as the step counts to arterial stiffness when the total subjects were analysed and the authors suggested that physical activity may play a bigger role as a determinant of arterial

stiffness than does the lung function. The association of physical activity to arterial stiffness, undoubtedly, needs further investigation given that the sample of patients included in Stickland et al., study was not representative of the COPD population as the authors included patients with mild and moderate stage of COPD and without co-morbidities, for example diabetes, CV- and connective tissue diseases. Moreover, the authors relied on the brachial PWV - carotid-radial method of measuring PWV - instead of the carotid-femoral (aortic), where the latter is recognised to be an independent predicted of CV events (Laurent et al., 2006). This might be one explanation of the lack of association between arterial stiffness and age in their study; whereas, we reported with consistency to previous literature a positive association between age and aortic stiffness (Sabit et al., 2007). However, there is increasing interest in exploring the relationship between physical activity and arterial stiffness and some recent articles and abstracts concerning overweight and obese sedentary young adults (Hawkins et al., 2014) and community-dwelling older adult (Tanaka et al., 2014), support Stickland et al regarding the association of physical activity on arterial stiffness (Stickland, 2013). Compared to these studies, we did not find an association between aPWV and either self-reported physical activity or selfreported walking time. It should be noted that Stickland et al., study was published after we had conducted our work. Using subjective approach of quantifying physical activity in our study is a less accurate measurement of physical activity and walking time; however, it is inexpensive and permits assessment of more patients with less time when compared to objective

measures. Furthermore, the present study showed weak, but significant, association between physical activity and systolic blood pressure. This is consistent with a previous literature showing vigorous physical activity has positive effect on body metabolism and lowers the change of having high blood pressure in the general population (Janssen and Ross, 2012).

Physical activity has been shown repeatedly to be related to airway obstruction, dyspnoea and disease severity in COPD (Gimeno-Santos et al., 2014, Katajisto M, 2012, Troosters et al., 2010a, S. Barriga, 2014). Our study supports these findings using a simple subjective measure of self-reported physical activity questionnaires. A recently published study by Zogg et al., using physical activity monitor (SenseWear®) for 7 days showed that airway obstruction was positively related to daily steps count but not the level of physical activity (Zogg et al., 2014). In the previously mentioned study by Stickland et al., the authors did not find an association between physical activity and airways obstruction in patients with COPD (Stickland, 2013), for the sample size (33 patients with COPD) and, as we highlighted earlier, using limited population of patients with COPD were probably the key factors for the lack of significance.

Literature has highlighted some of the determinants of physical activity like age and gender in healthy subjects (Vern Seefeldt, 2002). In our patients we did not find an association between age and physical activity; however, there were gender differences in self-reported moderate- and vigorous- but not in mild-activity. Although both genders were similar in the degree of airway

obstruction and dyspnoea score male patients reported spending more time in moderate and vigorous activity than female patients. This likely corresponds to the greater muscular mass found in male patients in relation to their measurements of the FFMI.

5.6.1 Limitations

Although we included large representative patients with COPD, only a few of them were in very severe stage of the disease which might be one of the factors to conceal the potential association between physical activity and arterial stiffness specially if we take into account the inverse association of the severity of COPD to physical activity as well as severity of COPD to arterial stiffness. Although self-reported questionnaires is an accepted useful measure to assess physical activity (Troosters et al., 2013), it still can be underestimated or overestimated as a results of a recall bias or subjects' interpretation in particularly in reporting physical activities which require higher level of energy, for example "vigorous" activity (Prince et al., 2008).

5.6.2 <u>Conclusion</u>

Physical activity is, indeed, a modifiable risk factor and when properly managed can provide a long-term health benefits to patients with COPD. In the present study, the association of physical activity - assessed by a subjective approach – to arterial stiffness in patients with COPD did not reach significance. To our knowledge, there is only one published study looking at

the relationship between physical activity and arterial stiffness – using brachial PWV - in patients with COPD. However, Further studies are needed using more accurate measures of arterial stiffness – aPWV – in a wide range of a representative patients with COPD.

5.6.3 <u>Future direction</u>

There is a growing literature exploring the effect of COPD on physical activity using objective measures, for example the SenseWear[®]. Using a validated objective measure to explore the effects of daily life physical activity on arterial stiffness in representative patients with COPD is warranted; however expensive. This new area could potentially enhance our understanding of COPD and may add beneficial values to COPD management.

Chapter 6

Ambulatory

Haemodynamics in

Patients with COPD

6.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and its association to cardiovascular (CV) events has been extensively investigated in the past decade (Huiart et al., 2005, Sin and Man, 2003, Sabit et al., 2007, Curkendall et al., 2006). Studies investigating the extent of hemodynamic changes in patients with COPD are largely limited to resting measurements taken in a clinical setting. Depending on resting measurements alone may confine our understanding of the actual dynamic changes during daily life activities, where patients with COPD suffer exertion from seemingly simple tasks, for example walking down a corridor. Ambulatory blood pressure machines (ABPM) are useful, effective, and an easy way to obtain an overview of blood pressure (BP) and aortic stiffness profile over 24-hours period. Although ABPM measurements differ from those obtained from conventional BP monitors provide underestimated readings and might of some haemodynamics (Kallem et al., 2013, Luzardo et al., 2012), ABPM has been found to be superior to conventional BP monitors in predicting cerebrovascular and CV risks (Clement et al., 2003, Kario et al., 2001b, Verdecchia et al., 1994, Staessen et al., 1999, Shimada et al., 1990). It is noteworthy to mention that ABPM provides a more accurate haemodynamic profile over 24-hour period and helps to overcome limitations of in-clinic BP measurements, for example while coat and masked hypertension (NICE, 2011b, Pickering et al., 2002, Pickering et al., 2005). Therefore, implementing ABPM in research and clinical practice may help to better understand the

similarities and differences of 24hr haemodynamic profile in patients with COPD as compared to controls.

To our knowledge there is only one study investigating haemodynamic changes during 24-hour time period in patients with COPD with sleep desaturation using peripheral ambulatory BP (pABP) measurements (Aidar et al., 2009). This study showed that COPD alone was associated with increased peripheral BP measurements during the awake, night, and total 24-hr period compared to age- and BMI matched controls. Further, patients with COPD had significantly less overnight blood pressure dip compared to controls.

In addition to peripheral haemodynamic measurements, there has been interest in measurements of central haemodynamics such as central BP (cBP) and arterial, specifically aortic stiffness. These predict vascular hypertrophy, atherosclerosis, and CV events better than peripheral BP measurements (Laurent et al., 2006, Roman et al., 2007). Aortic stiffness, as measured by aortic pulse wave velocity is a gold standard, is increased in patients with COPD (Sabit et al., 2007) compared to smoker controls using tonometric (Sphygmocor[®]) and oscillometric (Vicorder[®]) devices (Sabit et al., 2007, John et al., 2013).

Exploring 24-hour central ambulatory haemodynamics in patients with COPD is of interest in light of above in order to provide important information regarding dynamic changes during daily life activities and sleep. The noninvasive automated oscillometric device (Mobil-O-Graph) has been validated according to the British Hypertension Society (BHS) (Jones et al., 2000) and

permits central ambulatory BP (cABP) using a brachial-cuff with transfer function-like algorithm (Weber et al., 2011) and it has been confirmed against the Sphygmocor[®] tonometric device (Weiss et al., 2012).

6.2 Hypothesis

Patients with COPD have abnormal profile of 24-hour aortic pulse wave velocity when compared to age- and gender-matched controls

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Study objectives

- Assess the feasibility and acceptability of 24-hour BP monitor
- Measure the peripheral, cABP and aortic stiffness profile of patients with COPD and controls over a 24-hour period using the Mobil-O-Graph in a pilot study
- Compare the recorded aortic pulse wave velocity (aPWV) using the gold standard carotid-femoral PWV (Vicorder) and the derived at rest (in-clinic) measurements of aPWV using 24-hour cABP machine (Mobil-O-Graph)

6.3.2 <u>Ethics</u>

This sub-study was approved as an amendment to "The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk" 10/H0406/65, by the National Research Ethics Service (NRES), Nottingham committee.

6.3.3 <u>Sample size and setting</u>

This pilot sub-study encompassed patients with COPD and controls. As such a power calculation could not be performed but will inform for future studies. A pragmatic number of 20 patients and 20 controls with viable data were selected.

6.3.4 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in Methods, p 51.

6.3.5 Procedure

6.3.5.1 Informed Consent

In addition to the standard consent for the main study (Methods, p 53), subjects were asked to sign consent for this section and affirmation of responsibility and return of the machine.

Subjects were, consecutively, consented and asked for possible next day return of the cABP machine. Subjects were not consented if the ambulatory 24-hour machine was not available; e.g. had not yet returned from previous subject.

6.3.5.2 <u>Tests</u>

6.3.5.2.1 Ambulatory blood pressure

Following detailed discussion with each subject as to how to use and wear the device, a manual recording at rest by the cABP machine was performed and followed by another automatic recording during the visit to ensure that the device was prepared. These were performed seated after a period of rest.

Subjects were asked to press the day/night "marker" button when they went to bed and early morning when they first woke up. Moreover, a small card was attached to the device as a reminder where the subject could write the "bed" time and the "awake" time manually if he/she forgot to press the day/night button. Recordings of cABP were obtained following a Mobil-O-Graph pre-set protocol, programmed to take two diurnal recordings/hour and one nocturnal recording/hour. The subject was asked to return the device the following day and data downloaded.

Measurements of peripheral and central mean arterial pressure that were taken by the ABPM – in-clinic and over 24-hour period – were calculated as (1/3systolic + 2/3diastolic). Although the Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour PWV monitor provides measured recordings of peripheral MAP, we relied on

calculated measurements in our analysis for comparison purposes with measurements obtained from the Vicorder[®]. This was essential for consistency as calculated and measured MAP readings are not interchangeable (Kiers et al., 2008).

To investigate nocturnal haemodynamic differences between patients and controls, subjects in each group were classified as dippers (systolic nocturnal dip $\geq 10\%$) and non-dippers (systolic nocturnal dip <10\%) adapted from systolic nocturnal dip classification: inverse dippers <0\%, non-dippers - <10\%, dippers <20\%, and extreme dippers $\geq 20\%$ (Kario et al., 2001a); for example, dippers (dippers and extreme dippers) and non-dippers (inverse dippers and non-dippers).

6.3.5.2.2 In-clinic haemodynamic measurements

As part of the main study, all subjects underwent detailed resting haemodynamic measurements including peripheral and central haemodynamic/arterial stiffness measurements.

- <u>Peripheral blood pressure</u>

Peripheral resting BP was performed, Methods, p 56.

<u>Pulse wave analysis and aortic stiffness</u>

Following the peripheral measurements, cBP and aPWV were attained at rest in a sitting position using the Vicorder (Method, p 57)

6.3.5.2.3 Spirometry

All subjects performed spirometry to determine forced expiratory volume in the first second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity (FVC) and the ratio. Post bronchodilator readings in patients with COPD were recorded (Methods, p 58)

6.3.6 Statistics

Statistical package of the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21 was used for data analysis. Comparison between the two groups was applied where data was continuous and normally distributed by parametric statistics e.g. independent t-test. Chi-squire test was used for categorical data. Pearson (or Spearman's rank for non-parametric) was used to analyse relationship between two variables and p <0.05 was defined as significant. Paired sample t-test was used to detect haemodynamic differences during diurnal and nocturnal measurements. Bland-Altman plot was used for comparison between two different methods of measuring aPWV – Vicorder and Mobil-O-Graph.

6.4 Results

Study recruitment included 46 subjects - patients with COPD and smoker controls. Out of the 46 participants, one was excluded because of respiratory condition other than COPD. Thus, 25 COPD and 20 smoker controls were included in the demographics of this study. However not all subjects were suitable for all the analyses (Figure 6.1).

Figure 6.1: 24-hour Ambulatory blood pressure/aortic stiffness Study flowchart



Subjects were well-matched for age, gender and BMI (Table 6.1). There were significantly greater "current" smokers and smoking pack years in COPD group than controls. As expected, patients with COPD had lower FEV_1 % and FEV_1/FVC ratio. A chi square analysis showed no significant difference in self-reported co-morbidities, although the values were low and analysis in results interpreted with caution (Table 6.1).

Mean (SD) unless otherwise stated		COPD N= 25	Controls N= 20	P- value
Gender (m/f) - n		16/9	10/10	0.35
Age (years)		68 (8)	64 (9)	.0.13
Smoking pack years		42 (19)	29 (11)	<0.01
Smoking status (current/ex) - n		11/14	3/17	0.04
Carbon monoxide		8 (9)	4 (5)	0.03
BMI (kg/m²)		28.6 (7.6)	30.4 (6.3)	0.4
FEV ₁ (L)		1.68 (0.58)	2.62 (0.63)	<0.001
FEV ₁ % predicted		62 (17)	100 (16)	<0.001
FEV ₁ /FVC ratio		52 (15)	75 (7)	<0.001
Resting Oxygen saturation %		95 (2)	96 (2)	0.03
Self- reported	Cardiovascular diseases (n)	7	2	0.13
	Hypertension (n)	7	4	0.54
	Diabetes mellitus (n)	4	2	0.56
	Osteoporosis (n)	1	2	0.42
	Hypercholesterolemia (n)	13	7	0.32
	Renal diseases (n)	0	1	0.26
	Cerebrovascular diseases (n)	1	0	0.37
	Rheumatoid arthritis (n)	2	3	0.46

Table 6.1: Study Demographics of All Subjects Recruited

Abbreviations: Body mass index (**BMI**), forced expiratory volume in one second (**FEV**₁), and forced expiratory volume (**FVC**).

6.4.1 <u>Feasibility and acceptability of the Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour</u> PWV monitor

Feasibility was assessed objectively by evaluating the number of recordings over 24-hour period, which can be determined by the number of registered recordings and feedback. Six out of the 45 participants: five out of 25 patients with COPD and one out of 20 controls did not have valid recording (minimum of three nocturnal and three diurnal measurements).

Reasons for invalid recordings included subject intolerability: measurement aborted or machine switched off by user (n=1), pressure increased during deflation "movement" (n=4), and pressure decrease during inflation (n=1); and machine faults: movement artefact (n=20), heart rate increase beyond range (n=2), leakage (n=3) and/or exceeded time of measurement (n=3). There was no feedback report of skin irritation or bruises from cABP machine wearers.

Movement artefact was the foremost reason accounting for 44% of all invalid measurements. Nevertheless, the overall "valid" measurements obtained from the machine were deemed acceptable. The maximum possible pre-set recordings per patient over a 24 hour period was 38; however manual recordings could be performed over and above this. The mean (SD) number recorded was 32 (12).

6.4.2 <u>24-hour blood pressure and aortic stiffness profile in patients</u> and controls

Subjects with valid measurements obtained by 24-hour cABP machine were included in this part of the analysis. Out of the 25 COPD subjects five were excluded: one did not have any 24-hour aPWV measurement and four others did not have nocturnal ambulatory aPWV measurements. In controls, one subject was excluded due to missing nocturnal measurements. Thus, 20 patients with COPD and 19 controls where included in this analysis (Figure 6.1).

The mean values for the total 24-hour, diurnal, and nocturnal aPWV were constantly greater in patients with COPD than controls, but did not reach statistical significance (Figure 6.2 and Table 6.2).

Other 24-hour, diurnal, and nocturnal haemodynamic measurements of patients and controls were demonstrated in Table 6.2. Peripheral measurements of PP and MAP were similar between patients and controls, all with p>0.05. Heart rate was consistently increased in patients compared to controls but was significant during the 24-hour and diurnal periods only, both with p<0.05.

Figure 6.2: Mean Ambulatory aPWV profile in Patients with COPD and Controls using 24-hour cABP machine



Abbreviation: Aortic pulse wave velocity (**aPWV**) and central ambulatory blood pressure monitor (**cABP**) Error bars represent ±1SD
Table 6.2: 24-Hour, Diurnal, and Nocturnal Peripheral and Central Ambulatory Blood PressureMeasurements in Patients and Controls

Mean value	24-	hour		Diu	urnal		Nocturnal		
otherwise indicated	COPD n= 20	CONTROLS n= 19	р	COPD N= 20	CONTROLS n= 19	р	COPD n= 20	CONTROLS n= 19	Ρ
pSBP (mmHg)	133 (15)	127 (12)	0.19	137 (16)	130 (13)	0.19	119 (29)	119 (12)	0.99
pDBP (mmHg)	79 (8)	78 (7)	0.55	82 (8)	81 (8)	0.59	72 (8)	72 (8)	0.68
MAP (mmHg)	97 (9)	94 (7)	0.27	100 (10)	97 (8)	0.29	88 (13)	87 (8)	0.84
PPP (mmHg)	54 (12)	49 (12)	0.26	54 (13)	50 (13)	0.25	46 (25)	47 (13)	0.87
Heart rate (bpm)	75 (10)	68 (10)	0.04	77 (11)	70 (10)	0.04	70 (10)	65 (11)	0.12
cSBP (mmHg)	120 (12)	120 (13)	0.99	124 (14)	124 (15)	0.94	118 (22)	112 (13)	0.30
cDBP (mmHg)	80 (8)	79 (7)	0.76	85 (9)	83 (8)	0.60	77 (18)	73 (10)	0.41
cMAP (mmHg)	93 (9)	93 (7)	0.84	98 (10)	97 (9)	0.72	90 (19)	86 (9)	0.34
cPP (mmHg)	40 (9)	40 (12)	0.84	39 (10)	41 (13)	0.76	42 (9)	39 (12)	0.50
aPWV (m/s) – using the cABP machine	8.9 (1.3)	8.3 (1.6)	0.63	9.0 (1.2)	8.4 (1.6)	0.65	8.8 (1.3)	8.0 (1.5)	0.07

Abbreviations: Peripheral systolic blood pressure (**pSBP**), peripheral diastolic blood pressure (**pDBP**), mean arterial pressure (**MAP**), peripheral pulse pressure (**PPP**), central systolic blood pressure (**cSBP**), central diastolic blood pressure (**cDBP**), central mean arterial pressure (**cMAP**), central pulse pressure (**cPP**), aortic pulse wave velocity (**aPWV**) and central ambulatory blood pressure (**cABP**). The p-values represent the comparison between patients and controls

The relationship of 24-hour, diurnal and nocturnal ambulatory aPWV to other haemodynamic measurements in patients and controls were presented in Table 6.3. In patients, there were direct moderate correlations between ambulatory aPWV and cPP over the 24-hour and nocturnal measurements only. In controls, there were direct moderate association between mean aPWV (24-hour and diurnal) and diurnal cSBP and between aPWV and cPP measurements over the 24-hour, diurnal- and nocturnal periods.

Table	6.3:	Association	of aPWV	and	Haemodynamic	Measurements	During 24-hour,
Diurn	al an	d Nocturnal t	ime				

r (p-value)			COPD			Controls	
		24-hr aPWV	Diurnal aPWV	Nocturn al aPWV	24-hr aPWV	Diurnal aPWV	Nocturn al aPWV
	24-hr	0.33 (0.16)	0.35 (0.14)	0.44 (0.05)	0.42 (0.08)	0.45 (0.06)	0.36 (0.13)
cSBP (mmHg)	Diurnal	0.22 (0.36)	0.31 (0.19)	0.26 (0.27)	0.47 (0.04)	0.52 (0.02)	0.39 (0.1)
	Nocturnal	0.18 (0.44)	0.15 (0.54)	0.42 (0.07)	0.22 (0.37)	0.2 (0.41)	0.3 (0.21)
	24-hr	0.07 (0.78)	0.1 (0.69)	0.1 (0.68)	-0.21 (0.4)	-0.18 (0.47)	-0.27 (0.26)
cDBP (mmHg)	Diurnal	0.06 (0.79)	0.15 (0.53)	0.01 (0.97)	0.06 (0.8)	0.11 (0.65)	-0.04 (0.88)
	Nocturnal	-0.001 (0.99)	-0.02 (0.92)	0.21 (0.38)	-0.42 (0.08)	-0.44 (0.06)	-0.3 (0.21)
	24-hr	0.19 (0.41)	0.22 (0.35)	0.27 (0.26)	0.11 (0.64)	0.15 (0.54)	0.04 (0.87)
cMAP (mmHg)	Diurnal	0.14 (0.55)	0.34 (0.32)	0.13 (0.59)	0.29 (0.22)	0.35 (0.14)	0.19 (0.44)
	Nocturnal	0.07 (0.77)	0.04 (0.86)	0.29 (0.21)	-0.19 (0.45)	-0.21 (0.38)	-0.07 (0.79)
	24-hr	0.39 (0.09)	0.39 (0.09)	0.52 (0.02)	0.55 (0.02)	0.56 (0.01)	0.53 (0.02)
cPP (mmHg)	Diurnal	0.24 (0.31)	0.28 (0.23)	0.35 (0.13)	0.53 (0.02)	0.56 (01)	0.5 (0.03)
	Nocturnal	0.45 (0.047)	0.4 (0.08)	0.61 (0.004)	0.58 (0.01)	0.58 (0.009)	0.58 (0.009)
	24-hr	-0.05 (0.84)	-0.13 (0.58)	-0.05 (0.84)	-0.17 (0.5)	-0.12 (0.61)	-0.22 (0.36)
Heart rate (beat/min)	Diurnal	-0.06 (0.8)	-0.13 (0.58)	-0.08 (0.74)	-0.12 (0.66)	-0.07 (0.79)	-0.17 (0.5)
	Nocturnal	0.03 (0.9)	-0.06 (0.82)	0.04 (0.87)	-0.26 (0.29)	-0.23 (0.34)	-0.27 (0.26)

Abbreviations: Central systolic blood pressure (**cSBP**), central diastolic blood pressure (**cDBP**), central pulse pressure (**cPP**), central mean arterial pressure (**cMAP**) and aortic pulse wave velocity (**aPWV**).

6.4.3 <u>Aortic stiffness: comparison between Vicorder and cABP</u> machine - In-clinic measurements

Subjects with valid aPWV measurements obtained by the Vicorder[®] and the (in-clinic) 24-hour cABP machine while at rest were included. Of the 46 subjects, eligible readings in both devices were determined in 41 subjects: 22 patients and 19 controls (Figure 6.1). The Vicorder[®] gave higher central readings of SBP, PP, MAP and lower readings of central DBP and heart rate than the cABP machine. Both devices gave same measurements of aPWV, 9.2m/s. (Table 6.4).

To assess the level of agreement between the two devices in all subjects in measuring at rest aPWV, Bland-Altman plot was constructed. The mean (SD) difference of the aPWV measurements obtained from the two devices (Vicorder aPWV – cABP machine aPWV) was 0.1 (2.0)m/s. Values for aPWV were within 2SD except for one subject (Figure 6.3a). Vicorder measurements repeatedly showed increased cMAP compared to in-clinic cABP machine measurements, mean (SD) difference of MAP: Vicorder MAP – cABP machine MAP = 6 (12)mm Hg. Bland-Altman plot showed that values of MAP obtained from Vicorder and cABP machine fall were within 2SD except for one subject (Figure 6.3b).

Mean (SD)	Vicorder n=41	24-hr ABPM (in-clinic) n=41
SBP (mmHg)	146 (17)	133 (26)
DBP (mmHg)	85 (11)	88 (14)
PP (mmHg)	61 (16)	46 (23)
MAP (mmHg)	112 (11)	103 (16)
Heart rate (bpm)	69 (13)	73 (14)
aPWV (m/s)	9.2 (1.9)	9.2 (1.6)

Table 6.4: The mean values of central haemodynamic measurements taken using Vicorder and at rest measurement using (in-clinic) 24-hr Ambulatory Blood Pressure

Abbreviations: Ambulatory blood pressure monitor (ABPM), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), pulse pressure (PP), mean arterial pressure (MAP), aortic pulse wave velocity (aPWV).

Figure 6.3: Bland-Altman plot of Main Haemodynamic Measures

6.3a: Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity

Mean = 0.1m/s 2SD = 4.0m/s aPWV (Vicorder) =9.2 (1.9)m/s aPWV (cABP machine) =9.2 (1.6)m/s



6.3b: Mean arterial pressure

Mean = 6mmHg 2SD = 24mmHg MAP (Vicorder) =112 (12)mmHg MAP (cABP machine) =103 (16)mmHg



6.4.1 <u>Systolic nocturnal dip and nocturnal aPWV</u>

In our study there was a similar amount of systolic dippers in both the COPD (n=9) and control (n=10) groups, p=0.63. Measurements of 24-hour-, diurnal and nocturnal aPWV were increased in patients compared to control; however this trend did not reach significance. See Table 6.5. The greatest nocturnal-diurnal difference in 24-hour ambulatory aPWV of 0.9m/s was in patients when the non-dippers were compared to dippers. See Table 6.5.

The greatest differences between patients and controls based on dipping status was nocturnal aPWV measurements, however differences were not statistically significant (Table 6.5). In dippers, patients had an increase in the nocturnal aPWV by 0.7m/s compared to controls, p=0.30. In non-dippers, patients had an increase nocturnal aPWV of 1.1m/s compared to controls, p=0.10.

6.4.1.1 <u>Diurnal and nocturnal cSBP and aPWV difference in patients</u> with COPD and in controls

Paired Sample Test showed significant difference of diurnal and nocturnal cSBP in controls: mean (SD): 124 (15)mmHg and 112 (13)mmHg, respectively, p=0.001, but not in patients: mean (SD): 124 (14)mmHg and 118 (22)mmHg, respectively, p=0.14. Similarly, there was no significant difference between mean (SD) diurnal and nocturnal aPWV in patients, 9 (1.2)m/s, and 8.8 (1.3)m/s, respectively; p=0.67. In controls, there was an increased diurnal

aPWV measurements compared to nocturnal aPWV, mean (SD) = 8.4m/s (1.6), and 8.0m/s (1.5), respectively; p=0.001.

Table 6.5: The 24-Hour, Diurnal, and Nocturnal Aortic Pulse Wave Velocityaccording to Systolic Dippers or Non-dippers

Maan (CD) unlass		COPD		Controls			
otherwise indicated	Non- dippers n= 11	Dippers n= 9	Ρ	Non- dippers n= 9	Dippers n= 10	Ρ	
24-hour aPWV (m/s)	9.2 (1.4)	8.6 (1.2)	0.33	8.3 (1.6)	8.2 (1.7)	0.92	
Diurnal aPWV (m/s)	9.2 (1.4)	8.9 (1.2)	0.60	8.4 (1.7)	8.4 (1.7)	0.95	
Nocturnal aPWV (m/s)	9.3 (1.4)	8.4 (1.1)	0.12	8.2 (1.4)	7.7 (1.7)	0.51	

Abbreviation: Aortic pulse wave velocity (aPWV)

6.5 Discussion

In this pilot study, the dynamic peripheral and central haemodynamics were assessed in patients with COPD compared to controls using the Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour PWV/cABP machine. The device was feasible to be used in this study in the vast majority of subjects and it provided acceptable number of recordings over 24-hour time. Bland Altman plot showed good agreements of resting (in-clinic) cABP machine and the Vicorder[®] haemodynamic measurements. As expected the cABP machine detected consistently higher values of 24-hour, diurnal, and nocturnal ambulatory aPWV in patients with COPD than controls as well as in patients and controls non-dippers compared to dippers, the differences were not statistically significant in this pilot study. Controls had significantly increased diurnal aPWV compared to nocturnal aPWV measurements. Patients, on the other hand, did not have significant nocturnal aPWV drop compared to diurnal aPWV.

The feasibility and the users' tolerability of a device can be assessed using subjective and/or objective approach. Although subjective measurements sometimes demonstrate inconvenience use of the ABPM, objective measurements demonstrate good tolerability and acceptability of the device (Tropeano, 2006). Viera et al., used the model 'Oscar 2' ABPM on people with borderline clinic BP and reported that ambulatory BP wearers mostly complain of sleep disturbance (Viera et al., 2011). Although our subjects did not complain of sleep disturbance, the majority of exclusion (13%) was

because of missing actual nocturnal haemodynamic measurements. Using Subjective approach, Elliot and Iqbal., showed good tolerability of the 24-hour peripheral ABPM - Mobil-O-Graph - in patients who were referred for CV investigations (Elliot and Iqbal, 2003). They reported that 95% of patients were willing to have a repeat of the ABPM.

Previous work using static one-off aPWV measurements as a marker of CV risks reported increased aPWV in patients with COPD compared to healthy controls (Sabit et al., 2007). Further, an improvement or a change of 1m/s in (at rest) measurement was shown to be associated with 14% higher risk of CV mortality and 15% higher risk of all-cause mortality (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010). With regards to ambulatory aPWV measurements, there is no established minimal threshold to rely on when interpreting an improvement or change in ambulatory aPWV. Nevertheless, our findings of a trend of increased aPWV over the 24-hour, diurnal and nocturnal periods in patients with COPD compared to controls is consistent with previously established work where in-clinic static measurement of aPWV was increased in COPD compared to controls (Sabit et al., 2007).

Only one study by Aidar et al., who looked at 24-hour peripheral haemodynamics in patients with COPD (n= 13) and age-matched controls (n= 14), but not PWV (Aidar et al., 2009). They showed significant increase of peripheral 24-hour, diurnal and nocturnal haemodynamic measurements in patients with COPD compared to controls. In our pilot study we showed increased peripheral and central haemodynamic measurements over the 24-

hour, diurnal and nocturnal periods in patients with COPD compared to controls, although the differences were not statistically significant. The lack of significance in our study might be because of subjects baseline characteristics as the patients in Aidar el at., study were in more severe stages of the disease (GOLD III) and relatively older with a mean age of 70 years. This could justify the lack of significance in our study as the severity of COPD and age are factors influencing haemodynamic/aortic stiffness changes (Sabit et al., 2007, Franklin et al., 1997).

Comparing in-clinic cABP measurements to a standardize measure of central haemodynamic/arterial stiffness – Vicorder[®] - is an important part of our work as investigating of the potential application of dynamic central BP/aortic stiffness measurements in COPD population has not been explored.

Luzardo et al., compared central haemodynamic/aortic stiffness measurements of Mobil-O-Graph 24-hour PWV monitor – at rest and under ambulatory conditions - to measurements obtained by SphygmoCor at rest (Luzardo et al., 2012). They showed good agreements of results obtained from both devices regardless of the study condition – at rest or ambulatory. Our Bland Altman plot showed similar findings, although we used oscillometric device - Vicorder[®] - instead of the tonometric SphygmoCor.

Superiority of ABPM over clinic or home BP monitoring has been well establish in previous literature, particular in the areas of diagnoses and drug intervention of hypertensive patients (Giles et al., 2011, Hodgkinson J, 2011). However, recently established work by Kallem et al., comparing two ABPMs

(Mobil-O-Graph [I.E.M., Stolberg, Germany] and Spacelabs 90207 [Spacelabs Medical, Issequal, WA]) found that both devices gave different haemodynamic measurements regardless of the side (dominant or non-dominant hand) of measurements (Kallem et al., 2013). They highlighted the importance of careful interpretations of the results and the necessity of references values for each device.

Nocturnal systolic dip has been found to be associated with CV risks and nondippers are at higher CV risks than dippers regardless of in-clinic BP measurements (Huiart et al., 2005, Lekakis et al., 2005, Sin and Man, 2005, Sin and Man, 2003). As a pilot study using small sample size, we did not expect to find significant differences between dippers and non-dippers in patients or in controls; however, the trend we showed of consistently increased aPWV over 24-hour, diurnal and nocturnal periods in patients compared to controls encourages further investigation in this area. Moreover, this is the first study to show that the nocturnal aPWV seen in controls was not evidenced in patients with COPD. Although there was no difference in nocturnal cSBP between patients and controls, within group analysis showed that controls had significantly lower nocturnal cSBP compared to diurnal cSBP measurements, but this was not seen in patients.

6.5.1 Limitation

As a piloted study we used a small sample size and the majority of our patients with COPD were classified as moderate (GOLD II) stage which might

have an effect on minimizing some of haemodynamic/arterial stiffness differences between patients and controls. This could also be a good reason for future work with bigger sample size and more severe cases to potentially find greater and significant differences between patients and controls and probably among different GOLD stages of the disease. Another limitation was the difficulty of measuring subjects' tolerability of the cABP machine as we depended on objective measures (the number of actually recordings over 24hour) and subjects' verbal instead of written feedback to use as a subjective measure.

6.5.2 <u>Conclusion</u>

This work objectively demonstrated that cABP machine is a feasible device to be used in patients with COPD and it provides useful and additional information over conventional BP. Central haemodynamic/aortic stiffness measurements using cABP machine showed good agreement with the standardize method - the Vicorder[®] - for static aPWV. Further, we showed that patients with COPD did not have nocturnal aPWV dip as it was observed in control comparators.

Taking into account that aPWV is a better predictor of CV events and COPD is a systemic disease with high CV risks, all suggest the need for further investigation in this area looking at aortic stiffness over 24-hour, diurnal, and nocturnal time instead of at rest one-off measurements. This puts the device in more favourable place for future work investigating this area.

Chapter 7

Conclusions

7.1 Introduction

Patients with COPD have compromised physical performance, physical activity and haemodynamics; therefore, the aim of this research was to explore the determinants and the potential use of a simple physical performance assessment test that requires small space and time (the TUG test) in patients with COPD as well as to explore the nature of haemodynamics profile in patients with COPD as compared to age and gender matched controls.

7.2 Time Up and Go (TUG) in patients with COPD

The study was designed to investigate the TUG test in a large representative population of patients with COPD. The baseline parameters for patients and controls were similar in age, gender and self-reported co-morbidity - if not accounting for COPD). This was important to minimise the potential effect of other confounders of physical performance and arterial stiffness, for example CV diseases, in our results.

First, TUG was able to detect impairment of physical performance in patients with COPD when compared to controls. Second, as a simple test with no ceiling effect, TUG was shown to be beneficial to be used as an initial assessment tool of physical performance and by which a decision might be decided of whether a further walking test is required. Third, TUG was shown to have high sensitivity and specificity to differentiate between faller and nonfallers in the past year in patients. We presented a TUG cut-off time of 12s which was more accurate with higher sensitivity and specificity to detect selfreported previous falls. Finally, TUG was found to have good same day interand different days intra-observer reliability.

7.3 Physical performance and arterial stiffness

We looked at the association of arterial stiffness to measurements of physical performance in all subjects (patients with COPD and controls) and in patients alone. Aortic stiffness was assessed by the carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (aPWV).

Aortic stiffness was increased in patients compared to age-, gender-matched controls. The association of physical performance and arterial stiffness did not reach significance in patients. Distance of >350m in the 6MWT was associated with high measurements of arterial stiffness in patients with COPD.

We should be careful when interpreting these results as the association of arterial stiffness to physical performance in our study could be concealed by the uneven distribution of patients across the spectrum of the GOLD stages of COPD.

7.4 Physical activity and arterial stiffness

We looked at the potential relationship between self-reported physical activity and aortic stiffness in a large population of patients with COPD. A subjective measure (questionnaires) was used for the self-reported physical

activity. Although increased arterial stiffness and declined physical activity independently are well established in patients with COPD, our results showed that self-reported physical activity was significantly associated to COPD airflow obstruction and dyspnoea, but not aortic stiffness.

7.5 Ambulatory haemodynamic/arterial stiffness profile in patients with COPD

This was a pilot study to explore the peripheral and central haemodynamic differences between patients with COPD and controls during 24-hour period. The Mobil-O-Graph machine was used to assess ambulatory haemodynamic/arterial stiffness measurements with the first measurements taken in-clinic while subjects at rest. The results of the ABPM in-clinic measurements were compared to the Vicorder[®] measurements for validation analysis.

Analysis of peripheral and central in-clinic haemodynamic measurements showed that results from the Mobil-O-Graph were in agreement with the results obtained from the Vicorder[®].

When ambulatory haemodynamic measurements were analysed, the differences of diurnal, nocturnal and 24-hour arterial stiffness measurements showed a trend of increased arterial stiffness measurements in patients; despite low numbers in each group. Nocturnal aPWV dip was seen only in controls, but not in patients.

Chapter 8

Future Direction

8.1 Physical performance assessment of patients with COPD

This research presented TUG as a simple and a reliable test to detect selfreported falls and impairment of physical performance in patients with COPD. A prospectively designed study is needed to evaluate the ability of the TUG test to detect future falls and whether it can be used as an objective measure of falls. Further work looking at the potential of TUG to determine the effects of interventions is also needed.

8.2 Association of physical performance to arterial stiffness

This study showed that reduced physical performance and arterial stiffness were increased in patients with COPD compared to controls. The association between the two was not statistically significant which could be due to the several factors. One factor could be the lack of space which allowed 10m track to be used for the 6MWT instead of the recommended 30m track. This could influence the actual walked distance and, therefore, affected its association to arterial stiffness. Furthermore, a prospective cohort study looking at the direction of this association in terms of cause and effect is importance.

8.3 Self-reported physical activity and arterial stiffness

Given that there was no association between self-reported physical activity and arterial stiffness; future studies to reassess this relationship using objective measures of physical activity alongside the aPWV in a wide range of patients with COPD are needed; as well as additional studies looking at pre and post interventions such as pulmonary rehabilitation.

8.4 Ambulatory haemodynamics in patients with COPD

Ambulatory haemodynamics profile including arterial stiffness is feasible and reveals important information over 24-hour period as opposed to in-clinic one-off measurements. Future studies with a larger sample size are warranted. The results of this study could be used in power calculations to determine a sample size for such future work. Taking into consideration this finding could improve the assessment and management of COPD in terms of time, choice of medications and, possibly in the prediction of CV risks.

Chapter 9

Appendices

Appendix 1: Patient Information Sheet

PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET

Title: The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk

Chief Investigator: Dr Charlotte Bolton

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why this research study is being conducted and what it will involve. Please take the time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Please feel free to ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you require any further information. You may keep this information for future reference.

Purpose of the Study

Previous studies have shown that people with poor lung function (who often have chronic lung disease) have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (problems with the blood vessels) over and above the effects of smoking. However, at the moment we have a limited understanding of the reasons behind this.

Researchers wish to study people with and without lung disease who currently smoke or have smoked in the past, to explore people's risk of developing cardiovascular disease. Researchers will measure the stiffness of people's blood vessels and also look at levels of inflammation in the blood and compare this with people's lung function. Finally, researchers wish to see if people's kidneys are affected by the stiffening of the hearts main artery; the aorta. It is hoped that by studying people's blood vessels and lung function, it will lead to a greater understanding of why people with poor lung function (who often have chronic lung disease) have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you:-

- Have been diagnosed with COPD and are attending one of the researchers Respiratory Out-Patient Clinics.
- Have previously consented to be included on the Nottingham Respiratory Research Database or Professor Ian Halls Volunteer Database and to contacted regarding future research studies.
- Are replying to a poster or advertisement seeking volunteers.

Please note; this study is only available to people of European Ancestry, as the tests used in this study are not valid in any other skin type at present.

Do I have to take part?

It is entirely up to you whether or not you decide to take part. If you do decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form (you will be given a copy of this as well). If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you already receive.

What will happen to me if I take part?

You will be asked to attend for one study visit at the Respiratory Biomedical Unit at Nottingham City Hospital. During this time (approximately 120 minutes) you will need to have various tests/procedures.

<u>Visit 1</u>

If after reading this information sheet and talking to a member of the research team, you would like to take part in this study, we would ask you to sign a consent form.

In addition we would like to conduct the following tests/procedures:-

- **Blood Sample**: we would like to take a small amount of blood (25mls or the equivalent of 5 teaspoons) from your arm for further analysis.
- **Urine Analysis**: we would like to take a sample of urine (10mls or the equivalent of 2 teaspoons), to analyse certain molecules.

- **Questionnaires**: You will be asked to fill out 3 short questionnaires about how your health affects your daily life.
- **Spirometry Test** (blowing test); which is used to measure your lung function (the size of your lungs and how quickly you can empty them). You will be asked to breathe in and then blow out very fast into a mouth piece.
- **Carbon Monoxide Test**: we would like to measure the level of a gas called carbon monoxide exhaled in your breath. This involves blowing into a machine which is a bit like an alcohol breathalyser to record the concentration of carbon monoxide.
- **Pulse Oximetry**; a simple non-invasive test which measures oxygen saturation in your blood.
- Blood Pressure (BP)
- Arterial Stiffness Measurements: A non-invasive test which involves placing a blood pressure cuff around the participant's upper leg and arm to measure the speed of pulsation down the participant's body, which is related to the stiffness of the arteries. In addition, a small probe is placed on the side of the neck over the pulse. Please be aware that all of the tests listed above will be performed by competent staff following standard operating procedures. Before starting any of the tests we will ensure that there are no reasons for the test not to be performed.
- Skin Elasticity Measurements: A non-invasive test used to measure the mechanical properties of people's skin (skin elasticity). Skin elasticity will be measured by applying a small suction force to the skin and measuring how the skin responds to this force.
- Skin AGE Measurements: A non-invasive test used to measure peoples skin metabolism. This involves participants placing their arm onto the device, which then shines light onto the skin. The reflected light is then measured and analysed.
- Walking tests: One test will measure how far you walk in a 6 minute period. The other will assess how long it takes you to stand up from a chair, walk 3 metres, return to chair and sit. We will allow time for you to recover in between.
- 24 hour blood pressure (BP) (optional). We are seeking a few subjects to have their BP recorded over a 24 hour period with a device that can be worn at home. You will be taught how to use the device and it will be fitted on the upper arm before you go home. Over the 24 hour period, the cuff inflates on the arm intermittently and records your BP. On return of the machine, we download the information which gives information of your BP then when you are walking or doing other activities and whilst you are asleep.

Please be aware that all of the tests listed above will be performed by competent staff following standard operating procedures. Before starting any of the tests we will ensure that there are no reasons for the tests not to be performed.

Finally, we would like to record your past medical history; including your current medication and smoking history.

Follow-Up (Optional)

With your consent we would like to contact you in the future to follow you up and perform some of these tests again, in order to create a longitudinal study (a study over a longer period of time) of cardiovascular risk in patients with and without lung disease, dependent on funding. Please be aware that a member of the study team will contact your GP to check your ongoing health status before contacting you.

What do I have to do?

You should continue to carry on with your normal daily activities and take your usual medication. We also ask that you attend the scheduled study visit (although there is some flexibility in terms of the days and times when this can occur) and complete the study paperwork. You may be asked to refrain from eating or drinking for six hours prior to your appointment, although your study doctor will advise you before you attend for your visit. If you agree to the 24 hour BP test, we will need to arrange for a second visit to return the machine and review the data.

Will any genetic tests be carried out? (Optional)

Yes; it is hoped that the genetics part of the study (looking for differences in people's genes) will lead to a greater understanding of the relationship between lung function and the blood vessels. Please be aware that the results of any genetic testing will be kept strictly confidential and will NOT be sent out to you as they do not have any clinical relevance and will not affect any private medical or life insurance policies you may have. Please note; this part of the study is **optional** and if you agree to take part in the genetics part of the study you will be asked to sign an optional clause on the consent form.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

You will not benefit directly from taking part in this study, however, it is hoped that the results of this study will lead to a greater understanding of the relationship between lung function and cardiovascular disease.

What are the possible disadvantages/risks of taking part?

As with all tests/procedures some people experience side effects, some of which are detailed below:-

Blood Tests: Occasionally, some people feel faint during a blood test. If this occurs, please tell the person doing the test, as you should immediately lie down to prevent fainting. Sometimes after donating blood, a bruise develops where the needle was inserted.

Will travel expenses be reimbursed?

Participants will not be paid an inconvenience allowance to participate in the study. However, we will cover the cost of travelling to the hospital (maximum £10 allowance per visit).

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You are free to withdraw from this study at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw, will not affect the standard of care you already receive. However, please be aware, that should you wish to withdraw, the information collected so far cannot be erased and may still be used in the final project analysis. Any stored tissue samples that can still be identified as yours will be destroyed if you wish.

Where will my data be stored and will my details be kept confidential?

All data collected during the period of the study will be stored securely (password protected) on a dedicated trial database. Only the minimum required information for the purposes of the study shall be collected and this information will be subject to the same degree of confidentiality as your NHS notes. Access to the information will be limited to the research team and relevant regulatory authorities.

Information on the storage and use of tissue samples for research

Any tissue/blood sample you donate will be stored in a secure research facility at the University of Nottingham (Respiratory Biomedical Research Unit), for as long as is required for the purposes of this study. Your sample will have your code which is unique to yourself, a barcode and date of study. By using these numbers, we can trace which sample belongs to you. The analysis of samples will take place within the Respiratory Biomedical Research Unit at Nottingham City Hospital. Please note; your sample will not be sold for profit or used in any animal research.

Your tissue/blood sample will be retained for 7 years in accordance with the University's Code of Research Conduct and then destroyed should you wish to do so. However, with your permission we would like to retain any remaining tissue/blood in a link-anonymised form for future laboratory research into respiratory disease (as yet unspecified). If you agree, the remaining tissue/blood will be stored on University premises under our Human Tissue Authority License.

Involvement of the General Practitioner/Family Doctor (GP)

With your permission we will write to your GP to notify them that you are going to take part in this study, and also inform them of any abnormal test results (if any) for appropriate action.

Who is organising and funding this study?

The research has been organised and funded by the University of Nottingham. Please be aware that the research team involved in this study are not being paid for including you in this study.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent group of people called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This study has been reviewed and given a favourable ethical opinion for conduct in the NHS by the Leicestershire, Northamptonshire & Rutland Research Ethics Committee 1 and will be subject to the Data Protection Act.

What will happen to the results of this study?

We intend to publish the results of this study in a medical respiratory journal. A summary of these results will also be made available on the Nottingham Respiratory Biomedical Research Unit's website (<u>www.nrbru.org.uk</u>). If you wish, you will be informed of the study results in clinic by the research nurse or doctor. Furthermore, a copy of any published material regarding the study will be made freely available to you.

What if there is a problem?

If you wish to complain or have any concerns about the way in which you have been treated, please get in touch with the research team (see below), who will do their best to answer any problems you might have. In addition, the normal NHS complaints procedures are also available to you (e.g. Patient Advice and Liaison Service – PALS). Details can be obtained from the hospital.

Contact for Further Information

Research Officers

Mr Maath Alhaddad

Tel: 0115 823 1678

E-Mail: msxma7@nottingham.ac.uk

Dr Charlotte Bolton, Principal Investigator

Tel: 0115 8231317

E-Mail: charlotte.bolton@nottingham.ac.uk

Appendix 2: Study Consent Form





Nottingham University Hospitals

CONSENT FORM

Title: The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk REC Ref: 10/H0406/65

Chief Investigator: Dr Charlotte Bolton

Name of Participant:

Please initial the box

- 1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet (Version 1.4 dated 20/11/2011) for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask any questions.
- 2. I understand that my participation in this study is entirely voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, and without my medical care or legal rights being affected. I understand that should I withdraw then the information collected so far cannot be erased and that this information may still be used for analysis.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of my medical notes and data collected in the study may be looked at by authorised individuals from the University of Nottingham, the research group and regulatory authorities where it is relevant to my taking part in the study. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records and to collect, store, analyse and publish information obtained from my participation in this study. I understand that my personal details will be kept confidential.
- 4. I understand and agree that samples of urine and blood will be taken for analysis of specific markers.
- 5. I agree to my GP being informed of my participation in the study. I also agree for any abnormal results to be passed onto my GP for appropriate action.







Title: The association of lung function and cardiovascular risk REC Ref: 10/H0406/65

Chief Investigator: Dr Charlotte Bolton

Name of Participant: initial the box

Please

6. Consent for Follow-Up (Optional)

I agree to be contacted in the future and followed up in order to create a longitudinal study (a study over a longer period of time) of cardiovascular risk in patients with and without lung disease, dependent on funding.

7. Consent for genetic research (Optional)

I understand and agree that the samples I give may be used for genetic research in this the study and in future research aimed at understanding the relationship between lung function and the blood vessels.

8. Consent for storage and use in possible future research (Optional)

I agree that the samples I have given and the information gathered about me can be stored by Dr Charlotte Bolton at the Respiratory Biomedical Research Unit at Nottingham City Hospital, for possible use in future studies (as yet unspecified). I understand that some of these studies may be carried out by researchers other than current team of Dr Charlotte Bolton, who ran the first study, including researchers working for commercial companies. Please note; these samples will not be sold for profit or used in any animal research.

9.	Consent for 24 hour BP recording (Optional)
	I agree to have recorded my blood pressure (BP) over a 24
	hour period. The cuff will inflate time-to-time over a 24 hour
	period and record my BP.

10. I agree to take part in the abov	e study.	
Name of Participant	date	signature
signature	date	signature

3 copies: 1 for participant, 1 for the trial master file, 1 for medical notes Version 1.4 (20/11/2011)

ST. GEORGE'S RESPIRATORY QUESTIONNAIRE ORIGINAL ENGLISH VERSION

ST. GEORGE'S RESPIRATORY QUESTIONNAIRE (SGRQ)

This questionnaire is designed to help us learn much more about how your breathing is troubling you and how it affects your life. We are using it to find out which aspects of your illness cause you most problems, rather than what the doctors and nurses think your problems are.

Please read the instructions carefully and ask if you do not understand anything. Do not spend too long deciding about your answers.

Before completing the rest of the questionnaire:

Please tick in one box to show how you describe your current health:

Very qood	Good	Fair	Poor	Very poor

Copyright reserved P.W. Jones, PhD FRCP Professor of Respiratory Medicine, St. George's University of London, Jenner Wing, Cranmer Terrace, London SW17 ORE, UK.

Tel. +44 (0) 20 8725 5371 Fax +44 (0) 20 8725 5955

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire PART 1

Questi	ons about how much chest trouble you hav	e had ov	er the past 4	weeks.	
			Please tick	< (✔) one box question:	for each
		most days a week	several a days d a week a n	few only wi lays chest nonth infectio	th not t at ns all
1.	Over the past 4 weeks, I have coughed:				
2.	Over the past 4 weeks, I have brought up phlegm (sputum):				
3.	Over the past 4 weeks, I have had shortness of breath:				
4.	Over the past 4 weeks, I have had attacks of wheezing:				
5.	During the past 4 weeks, how many severe or unpleasant attacks of chest trouble have you	r very had?		Diagon tick	(1) ono:
			more tha	n 3 attacks	(•) <i>Une</i> .
				3 attacks	
				2 attacks	
				1 attack	
				no attacks	
6.	How long did the worst attack of chest trouble (Go to question 7 if you had no severe attacks	last? s <i>)</i>		Place tick	(1) 000
			a we		(•) <i>Une</i> .
			3 or	more days	
			0.01	1 or 2 days	
			less	than a day	
7.	Over the past 4 weeks, in an average week, h (with little chest trouble) have you had?	iow many	good days		
				Please tick	(✔) one:
			No	good days	
			1 or 2	good days	
			3 or 4	good days	
		I	nearly every o	lay is good	
			everyo	ay is good	
8.	If you have a wheeze, is it worse in the morning	ng?			
	-	-		Please tick	(✔) one:
				No	
				Yes	

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire PART 2

Section 1	
How would you describe your chest condition?	
	Please tick (✓) one:
The m	nost important problem I have
Caus	es me quite a lot of problems
	Causes me a few problems
	Causes no problem
If you have ever had paid employment.	
	Please tick (✓) one:
My chest trouble m	nade me stop work altogether
My chest trouble interferes with my work	or made me change my work
My chest tro	ouble does not affect my work
Section 2	
Questions about what activities usually make you f	eel breathless <u>these days</u> .
Plea	se tick (✔) in each box
	that
арр	lies to you these days :
	True False
Sitting or lying still	
Getting washed or dressed	
Walking around the home	
Walking outside on the level	
Walking up a flight of stairs	
Walking up hills	
Playing sports or games	

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire PART 2

Section 3
Some more questions about your couch and breathlessness these days
Some more questions about your cough and breatmessness <u>these days</u> . Please tick (\checkmark) in each box
that
applies to you <i>these days</i> :
My cougn nurts
My cough or breathing disturbs my sleep
Section 4
Questions about other effects that your chest trouble may have on you <u>these days</u> .
Please tick (✓) in each box
tnat applies to you these days :
True False
My cough or breathing is embarrassing in public
My chest trouble is a nuisance to my family, friends or neighbours $\hfill \square$
I get afraid or panic when I cannot get my breath
I feel that I am not in control of my chest problem
I do not expect my chest to get any better
I have become frail or an invalid because of my chest \Box
Exercise is not safe for me
Everything seems too much of an effort
Section 5
Questions about your medication, if you are receiving no medication go straight to section 6.
Please tick (✓) in <i>each box</i>
that applies to you these days :
True False
My medication does not help me very much
I get embarrassed using my medication in public
I have unpleasant side effects from my medication
My medication interferes with my life a lot
St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire PART 2

Section 6			
These are questions about how your activities migh	nt be affected by you	ur breathing	y .
Ple	ase tick (✔) in each you because of	box that a your breath	applies to ning :
		True	False
I take a long time to g	et washed or dressed	1 L	
I cannot take a bath or showe	r, or I take a long time	e ∐	
I walk slower than other peo	ople, or I stop for rest	s 🗌	
Jobs such as housework take a long time, or I	have to stop for rests	s 🗌	
If I walk up one flight of stairs, I hav			
If I hurry or walk fast, I have	e to stop or slow dowr	ר 🗌	
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as walk u up stairs, light gardening such as weeding, dance, p	s 🗌 f		
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as carry garden or shovel snow, jog or walk at 5 miles per hou	y heavy loads, dig the ur, play tennis or swin	e 🗌 1	
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as ver run, cycle, swim fast or p	, 🗌 S		
Section 7	ste vour dailu life		
we would like to know now your chest <u>usually</u> anec	is your daily me.		
Please tic	ck (✔) in each box that to	at applies	
you <i>bec</i>	ause of your chest	trouble:	
I cannot play sports or games I cannot go out for entertainment or recreation I cannot go out of the house to do the shopping I cannot do housework I cannot move far from my bed or chair	True False Image: Second sec		

St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire

Here is a list of other activities that your chest trouble may prevent you doing. (You do not have to tick these, they are just to remind you of ways in which your breathlessness may affect you):					
Going for walks or walking the dog					
Doing things at home or in the garden					
Sexual intercourse					
Going out to church, pub, club or place of entertainment					
Going out in bad weather or into smoky rooms					
Visiting family or friends or playing with children					
Please write in any other important activities that your chest trouble may stop you doing:					
Now would you tick in the box (one only) which you think best describes how your chest affects you:					
It does not stop me doing anything I would like to do \Box					
It stops me doing one or two things I would like to do \Box					
It stops me doing most of the things I would like to do \Box					
It stops me doing everything I would like to do \Box					
Thank you for filling in this questionnaire. Before you finish would you please check to see that you have answered all the questions.					

Appendix 4: Medical Research Council (MRC) Dyspnoea Scale

(Fletcher, 1960)

The MRC Breathlessness Scale

Grade	Degree of breathlessness related to activities
1	Not troubled by breathlessness except on strenuous exercise
2	Short of breath when hurrying on the level or walking up a slight hill
3	Walks slower than most people on the level, stops after a mile or so, or stops after 15 minutes walking at own pace
4	Stops for breath after walking about 100 yds or after a few minutes on level ground
5	Too breathless to leave the house, or breathless when undressing

BODY COMPOSITION ANALYZER BC-418
28 MAY 2013 21:46
BODY TYPE STANDARD GENDER MALE AGE 76 HEIGHT 172 cm WEIGHT 64.8 kg BMI 21.9 BMR 5904 kJ 1411kcal
FAT% 24.4% FAT MASS 15.8kg FFM 49.0kg TBW 35.9kg DESIRABLE RANGE 13-25%
FAT MASS 7. 3-16. 3kg
IMPEDANCE Whole Body 648 Ω Right Leg 295 Ω Left Leg 264 Ω Right Arm 364 Ω Left Arm 360 Ω
Segmental Analysis Right Leg Fat% 22.0% Fat Mass 2.1kg FFM 7.4kg Predicted Muscle Mass
7.1kg Fat% 18.4% Fat Mass 1.8kg FFM 7.8kg Predicted Muscle Mass
7.4kg Right Arm Fat% 21.1% Fat Mass 0.6kg FFM 2.4kg Predicted Muscle Mass 2.2kg
Left Arm Fat% 20.5% Fat Mass 0.6kg FFM 2.4kg Predicted Muscle Mass 2.3kg
Fat% 26.9% Fat Mass 10.7kg FFM 29.0kg Predicted Muscle Mass 27.9kg

Appendix 6: Carotid-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity using the Vicorder



*Whole cuff inflates over the femoral artery whilst the neck-pad is just a small section – balloon only.

Appendix 7: Carotid-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity - Screen Shot



This is a screen shot of simultaneous carotid and femoral pulse wave forms obtained when performing pulse wave velocity measurements using the foot to foot method on the Vicorder machine.

Appendix 8: Borg Breathlessness Scale

(Burdon et al., 1982)

0	Nothing at all			
0.5	Very, very slight			
1	Very slight			
2	Slight (light)			
3	Moderate			
4	Somewhat severe			
5	Severe			
6				
7	Very Severe			
8				
9	Very, very severe (almost maximal)			
10	Maximal			

Appendix 9: Ambulatory Blood Pressure Device Mobil-o-graph



Appendix 10: Ambulatory Blood Pressure – Summary Report

Example of ambulatory BP summary report obtained from the Mobil-O-Graph device software

			Total		Day	Night	
			Value	Goal	Value Go	al Value Goal	
	Time		value	Goal	value Go	al value Goal	
	Stort 25/07/2010 11/2/		08.00	22:00			
	Start		25/07/2012 11:3208:00		22.00		
	Magguraments		20/07/20	712 13.40	21.59	07.59	
	Tetel		80		40	20	
	Total		60		40	20	
	Valid		45	200	26	19	
	Valid	%	75	>90	65	95	
	Average: Over single m	easurement	100		101 11		
	Systole	mmHg	123	<130	131 <1	35 112 <120	
11	Diastole	mmHg	84	<80	91 <8	5 75 <75	
11	MAP	mmHg	102		109	92	
11	Hr	bpm	81		84	76	
	Pulse pressure	mmHg	39		40	37	
Haemodynamic 📿 📕	cSBP	mmHg	117		126	107	
monte	CDBP	mmHg	85		94	76	
	AIx@75	%	11.1		17.0	4.9	
· 	CO	l/min	4.7		4.9	4.6	
11	Total vascular resistance	s*mmHg/ml	1.2		1.3	1.1	
11	Reflection Magnitude	%	67.1		65.8	68.4	
(1	PWV	m/s	10.1		10.4	9.7	
	StdDev.						
	Systole	mmHg	12.5		9.8 <1	7 5.3 <13	
	Diastole	mmHg	11.0		8.6 <1	3 6.2 <10	
	MAP	mmHg	11.1		8.3	4.5	
	Hr	bpm	6.8		5.5	5.1	
	Pulse pressure	mmHa	7.8		8.0	7.0	
	cSBP	mmHg	12.5		10.1	5.3	
	CDBP	mmHa	11.6		8.9	6.3	
	Alx@75	%	16.9		16.0	15.6	
	CO	Vmin	0.5		0.4	0.6	
	Total vascular resistance	s*mmHa/ml	0.2		0.1	0.2	
	Reflection Magnitude	%	6.0		3.2	7.7	
	PWV	m/s	0.4		0.4	0.2	
	Values above limit	11/3	0.4		0.4	0.2	
	Systole	0/2			15<25	(1) 5<25 (3)	
	Diestole	70			E9 < 25	(1) 26<25 (3)	
	Maximum	70			56~25	(2) 20525(4)	
	Sustele	manal-la			150	105	
	Diastala	mmHg			156	125	
	Diastole	mmHg			110	87	
	Minimum					101	
	Systole	mmHg			115	101	
	Diastole	mmHg			73	64	
	Values above limit(1) >=	140 (2) >= 9	0(3)>=	125 (4) >	= 80		
(1	Dipping						
	Systole	%	14.6 (No	ormal)			
Nocturnal dip 🛛 🕂 📕	Diastole	%	17.4 (No	rmal)			
·	Dipping <0% Inverted; <	10% Non-Dip	oper; <20	% Norma	l; >=20% E	Extreme	
	Change of blood press	ure					
	Increase		05:04 - 10:59 (Duration 05:55) 5.6mmHg/h (at 08:21)				
	Maximum	mmHg					

241

Appendix 11: BODE Index - Body Mass Index, Airway Obstruction, Dyspnoea

and Exercise Capacity

(Adopted from (Celli et al., 2004))

	0	1	2	3
FEV ₁ % predicted	≥65	50-64	36-49	≤34
6MWD (m)	≥350	250-349	150-249	≤149
MRC	1-2	3	4	5
BMI (kg/m2)	>21	≤21		

Abbreviations: Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), six minute walk distance (6MWD), medical research council (MRC), body mass index (BMI)

Appendix 12: ADO Index - Age, Dyspnoea and Airway Obstruction

(Adopted from (Puhan et al., 2009))

	0 points	1 point	2 points	3 points	4 points	5 points
FEV ₁ (% predicted)	≥65%	≥36–64%	≤35%			
Dyspnoea (MRC scale)	0-1	2	3	4		
Age (years)	40–49	50–59	60–69	70–79	80–89	≥90

Abbreviations: Forced expiratory volume in one second (**FEV**₁) and medical research council (**MRC**)

Chapter 10

References

- AGS/BGS. 2010. AGS/BGS Clinical Practice Guideline: Prevention of Falls in Older Persons [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.americangeriatrics.org/files/documents/health_care_pros/Falls.</u> <u>Summary.Guide.pdf</u> 2014].
- AGUSTI, N., SAULEDA, J., MIRALLES, C., GOMEZ, C., TOGORES, B., SALA, E., . . . BUSQUETS, X. 2002. Skeletal Muscle Apoptosis and Weight Loss in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 166, 485-489.
- AGUSTI, N., SAULEDA, J., SALA, E., PONS, J. & BUSQUETS, X. 2003. Systemic effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J*, 21, 347-360.
- AIDAR, S., MÁRCIO, D. S., CÉSAR, J. & PEDRO, P. 2009. ABPM in COPD Patients with Sleep Desaturation. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia*, 93, 275-282.
- APA. 2014. Fact Sheet: Age and Socioeconomic Status [Online]. USA: American
PsychologyAssociation.Available:
Available:
[Accessed
04.11 2014].
- ARNE, M., JANSON, C., JANSON, S., BOMAN, G., LINDQVIST, U. & BERNE, C. 2009. Physical activity and quality of life in subjects with chronic disease: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease compared with rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes mellitus. Scand J Prim Health Care, 27, 141 - 147.
- ATS-ERS. 2004. Standards for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients with COPD [Online]. New York and Swizerland: American Thoracic Society & European Respiratory Society. Available: <u>http://www.thoracic.org/clinical/copd-</u> guidelines/resources/copddoc.pdf [Accessed 26/03 2012].
- ATS 1999. Dyspnea- Mechanisms, Assessment, and Management: A consensus Statement. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 159, 321-340.
- ATS 2002. American Thoracic Society statement: Guielines for the six minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166.
- BEAN, J. F., KIELY, D. K., LEVEILLE, S. G., HERMAN, S., HUYNH, C., FIELDING, R. & FRONTERA, W. 2002. The 6-Minute Walk Test in Mobility-Limited Elders. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 57, M751-M756.
- BEAUCHAMP, M. K., HILL, K., GOLDSTEIN, R. S., JANAUDIS-FERREIRA, T. & BROOKS, D. 2009. Impairments in balance discriminate fallers from non-fallers in COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, 103, 1885-1891.
- BEAUCHAMP, M. K., O'HOSKI, S., GOLDSTEIN, R. S. & BROOKS, D. 2010. Effect of Pulmonary Rehabilitation on Balance in Persons With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 91, 1460-1465.
- BELLET, R., NICOLE., FRANCIS, L., JACOB, S., HEALY, M., BARTLETT, J., . . . MORRIS, R. 2013. Timed Up and Go Tests in Cardiac Rehabilitation: RELIABILITY AND COMPARISON WITH THE 6-MINUTE WALK TEST. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation & Prevention*, 33, 99-105.
- BEN-SHLOMO, Y., SPEARS, M., BOUSTRED, C., MAY, M., ANDERSON, S., BENJAMIN, J., ... WILKINSON, B. 2014. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635 subjects. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*.
- BENNIE S, K. B., ALLAN DIZON, HOLLY FRITZ, BOB GOODMAN, SAUNDRA PETERSON 2003. Measurements of Balance: Comparison of the Timed "Up and Go" Test

and Functional Reach Test with the Berg Balance Scale. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, **15**, 92-97.

- BHATT, S., COLE, A., WELLS, J., NATH, H., WATTS, J., COCKCROFT, J. & DRANSFIELD,
 M. 2014. Determinants of arterial stiffness in COPD. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 14, 1.
- BISCHOFF, H., STAHELIN, H., MONSCH, A., IVERSEN, M., WEYH, A., VON DECHEND, M., . . . THEILER, R. 2003. Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed 'up and go' test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women. *Age Ageing*, 32, 315 - 320.
- BLACHER, J., GUERIN, A. P., PANNIER, B., MARCHAIS, S. J., SAFAR, M. E. & LONDON,
 G. M. 1999. Impact of Aortic Stiffness on Survival in End-Stage Renal Disease. *Circulation*, 99, 2434-2439.
- BLACHER, J. A. S., MICHEL 2005. Large-artery stiffness, hypertension and cardiovascular risk in older patients. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med*, 2, 450-455.
- BOHADANA, A., TECULESCU, D. & MARTINET, Y. 2004. Mechanisms of chronic airway obstruction in smokers. *Respiratory Medicine*, 98, 139-151.
- BOHANNON, R. 2006. Reference values for the timed up and go test: a descriptive meta-analysis. *J Geriatr Phys Ther*, 29, 64 68.
- BOLTON, C., IONESCU, A., SHIELS, K., PETTIT, R., EDWARDS, P., STONE, M., . . . SHALE, D. 2004. Associated loss of fat-free mass and bone mineral density in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 170, 1286 93.
- BOLTON, C. E., BEVAN-SMITH, E. F., BLAKEY, J. D., CROWE, P., ELKIN, S. L., GARROD, R., . . . WALMSLEY, S. 2013. British Thoracic Society guideline on pulmonary rehabilitation in adults: accredited by NICE. *Thorax*, 68, ii1-ii30.
- BOLTON, C. E., COCKCROFT, J. R., SABIT, R., MUNNERY, M., MCENIERY, C. M., WILKINSON, I. B., . . . BEN-SHLOMO, Y. 2009. Lung function in mid-life compared with later life is a stronger predictor of arterial stiffness in men: The Caerphilly Prospective Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38, 867-876.
- BOLTON, C. E., MCENIERY, C. M., RAJ, V., MCDONNELL, B. J., DIXON, A. K., MUNNERY,
 M., . . . COCKCROFT, J. R. 2011. Aortic calcification, arterial stiffness and bone mineral density in patients with COPD. *Artery Research*, 5, 30-36.
- BOOTH, S. & ADAMS, L. 2001. The shuttle walking test: a reproducible method for evaluating the impact of shortness of breath on functional capacity in patients with advanced cancer. *Thorax*, 56, 146-150.
- BOREHAM, C. A., FERREIRA, I., TWISK, J. W., GALLAGHER, A. M., SAVAGE, M. J. & MURRAY, L. J. 2004. Cardiorespiratory Fitness, Physical Activity, and Arterial Stiffness: The Northern Ireland Young Hearts Project. *Hypertension*, 44, 721-726.
- BOUTOUYRIE, P., TROPEANO, A. I., ASMAR, R., GAUTIER, I., BENETOS, A., LACOLLEY,
 P. & LAURENT, S. 2002. Aortic Stiffness Is an Independent Predictor of
 Primary Coronary Events in Hypertensive Patients. *Hypertension*, 39, 10-15.
- BROMBOSZCZ J, T. W. 2010. Tests of the functional performance of patients with COPD: A proposal for the application of the Expanded Timed 'Get Up and Go Test' (ETGUG). *Medical Rehabilitation*, 14, 22-34.
- BRUNNER, E. J., SHIPLEY, M. J., WITTE, D. R., SINGH-MANOUX, A., BRITTON, A. R., TABAK, A. G., . . . KIVIMAKI, M. 2011. Arterial Stiffness, Physical Function, and Functional Limitation. *Hypertension*, **57**, 1003-1009.

- BURDON, J., JUNIPER, E., KILLIAN, K., HARGREAVE, F. & CAMPBELL, E. 1982. The perception of breathlessness in asthma. *The American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 126, 825-28.
- BUTCHER, S. J., MESHKE, J. M. & SHEPPARD, M. S. 2004. Reductions in Functional Balance, Coordination, and Mobility Measures Among Patients With Stable Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 24, 274-280.
- BUTLAND RJ, P. J., GROSS ER, WOODCOCK AA, GEDDES DM 1982. Two-, six-, and 12minute walking tests in respiratory disease. *British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed*, 284, 1607-1608.
- CAHALIN, L. P., MATHIER, M. A., SEMIGRAN, M. J., DEC, G. W. & DISALVO, T. G. 1996. The Six-Minute Walk Test Predicts Peak Oxygen Uptake and Survival in Patients With Advanced Heart Failure. *Chest*, 110, 325-332.
- CAMILLI, A. E. R., D. ROYCE LEBOWITZ, MICHAEL D. 1991. Death Certificate Reporting of Confirmed Airways Obstructive Disease. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 133, 795-800.
- CAMP, P. G., O'DONNELL, D. E. & POSTMA, D. S. 2009. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Men and Women. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 6, 535-538.
- CASANOVA, C., CELLI, B. R., BARRIA, P., CASAS, A., COTE, C., DE TORRES, J. P., ... AGUIRRE-JAIME, A. 2011. The 6-min walk distance in healthy subjects: reference standards from seven countries. *European Respiratory Journal*, 37, 150-156.
- CASANOVA, C., COTE, C., MARIN, J. M., PINTO-PLATA, V., DE TORRES, J. P., AGUIRRE-JAÍME, A., . . . CELLI, B. R. 2008. Distance and Oxygen Desaturation During the 6-min Walk Test as Predictors of Long-term Mortality in Patients With COPD. *Chest*, 134, 746-752.
- CASANOVA, C., COTE, C. G., MARIN, J. M., DE TORRES, J. P., AGUIRRE-JAIME, A., MENDEZ, R., . . . CELLI, B. R. 2007. The 6-min walking distance: long-term follow up in patients with COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 29, 535-540.
- CASTAGNA, O., BOUSSUGES, A., NUSSBAUM, E., MARQUESTE, L. & BRISSWALTER, J. 2008. Peripheral arterial disease: an underestimated aetiology of exercise intolerance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 15, 270-277.
- CDC 1997. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mortality patterns: preliminary data, United States, 1996. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortalily Weekly Report*, 46, 941-944.
- CELLI, B. R., COTE, C. G., MARIN, J. M., CASANOVA, C., MONTES DE OCA, M., MENDEZ, R. A., . . . CABRAL, H. J. 2004. The Body-Mass Index, Airflow Obstruction, Dyspnea, and Exercise Capacity Index in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 350, 1005-1012.
- CELLI, B. R., MARIN, J. M., COTE, C. G., AGUIRRE, A. & MACARIO, C. C. 2009. Prognostic assessment of patients with COPD. *The Lancet*, 374, 1885.
- CHANG, A., SEALE, H., WALSH, J. & BRAUER, S. 2008. Static balance is affected following an exercise task in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.*, 28, 142-5.
- CHANG ET AL, M., JISKA COHEN, LUIGI FERRUCI, SUZANNE LEVEILLE, STEFANO VOLPATO, NATHALIE DE REKENEIRE & JACK M. GURALNIK 2004. Incidence of Loss of Ability to Walk 400 Meters in a Functionally Limited Older Population. *The American Geriatrics Society*, 54, 737-742.

- CHARLSON, M. E., POMPEI, P., ALES, K. L. & MACKENZIE, C. R. 1987. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: Development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 40, 373-383.
- CHATILA, W. M., THOMASHOW, B. M., MINAI, O. A., CRINER, G. J. & MAKE, B. J. 2008. Comorbidities in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 5, 549-555.
- CHEOL KIM, H., MOFARRAHI, M. & HUSSAIN, S. 2008. Skeletal muscle dysfunction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis,* 3, 637-658.
- CLEMENT, D. L., DE BUYZERE, M. L., DE BACQUER, D. A., DE LEEUW, P. W., DUPREZ, D. A., FAGARD, R. H., . . . O'BRIEN, E. 2003. Prognostic Value of Ambulatory Blood-Pressure Recordings in Patients with Treated Hypertension. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348, 2407-2415.
- COTE, C. G., CASANOVA, C., MARÍN, J. M., LOPEZ, M. V., PINTO-PLATA, V., DE OCA, M. M., . . . CELLI, B. R. 2008. Validation and comparison of reference equations for the 6-min walk distance test. *European Respiratory Journal*, 31, 571-578.
- COVITA. 2013. The Smokerlyzer® Breath CO Test Instructions and Tips [Online]. USA: coVita. Available: <u>http://www.covita.net/pdfs/Smokerlyzer%20Test%20and%20Tips%20-</u>

<u>%20COmpact.pdf</u> [Accessed 27/9 2012].

- CRUICKSHANK, K., RISTE, L., ANDERSON, S. G., WRIGHT, J. S., DUNN, G. & GOSLING,
 R. G. 2002. Aortic Pulse-Wave Velocity and Its Relationship to Mortality in
 Diabetes and Glucose Intolerance. *Circulation*, 106, 2085-2090.
- CURB, J. D., CERIA-ULEP, C. D., RODRIGUEZ, B. L., GROVE, J., GURALNIK, J., WILLCOX, B. J., . . . CHEN, R. 2006. Performance-Based Measures of Physical Function for High-Function Populations. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 54, 737-742.
- CURKENDALL, S. M., DELUISE, C., JONES, J. K., LANES, S., STANG, M. R., GOEHRING JR, E. & SHE, D. 2006. Cardiovascular Disease in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Saskatchewan Canada: Cardiovascular Disease in COPD Patients. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 16, 63-70.
- CWIKEL, J., FRIED, V., BIDERMAN, A. & GALINSKY, D. 1998. Validation of a fall-risk screening test, the Elderly Fall Screening Test (EFST), for community-dwelling elderly. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 20, 161-167.
- DE LUCA, N., ASMAR, R., LONDON, G., O'ROURKE, M. & SAFAR, M. 2004. Selective reduction of cardiac mass and central blood pressure on low-dose combination perindopril/indapamide in hypertensive subjects. *J Hypertens*, 22, 1623 1630.
- DE TORRES, J. P., PINTO-PLATA, V., INGENITO, E., BAGLEY, P., GRAY, A., BERGER, R. & CELLI, B. 2002. Power of Outcome Measurements to Detect Clinically Significant Changes in Pulmonary Rehabilitation of Patients With COPD. *Chest*, 121, 1092-1098.
- DECRAMER, M., VESTBO, J., BOURBEAU, J., CELLI, B., HUI, D. & VARELA, E. 2014. Global initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease: Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.
- DEGENS, R. C. W. A. H. 2007. Factors contributing to muscle wasting and dysfunction in COPD patients. *International Journal of COPD*, 2, 289-300.
- DELISA FAIRWEATHER, S. F.-K., AND NOEL R. ROSE 2008. Sex Differences in Autoimmune Disease from a Pathological Perspective. *Am J Pathol*, 3, 600-609.

- DEMEDTS, K., MOREL-MONTERO, A., LEBECQUE, S., PACHECO, Y., CATALDO, D., JOOS, F., . . . BRUSSELLE, G. 2006. Elevated MMP-12 protein levels in induced sputum from patients with COPD. *Thorax*, 61, 196-201.
- DEPEW, Z. S., KARPMAN, C., NOVOTNY, P. J. & BENZO, R. P. 2013. Correlations Between Gait Speed, 6-Minute Walk Distance, Physical Activity, and Self-Efficacy in Patients With Severe Chronic Lung Disease. *Respiratory Care*, 58, 2113-2119.
- EARHART, M. J. F. A. G. M. 2009. Reference Equation for the Six-Minute Walk in Individuals with Parkinson Disease. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 46, 1121-1126.
- EISNER, M., BLANC, P., SIDNEY, S., YELIN, E., LATHON, P., KATZ, P., . . . IRIBARREN, C. 2007. Body composition and functional limitation in COPD. *Respiratory Research*, **8**, **7**.
- EISNER, M. D., BLANC, P. D., YELIN, E. H., SIDNEY, S., KATZ, P. P., ACKERSON, L., . . . IRIBARREN, C. 2008. COPD as a Systemic Disease: Impact on Physical Functional Limitations. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 121, 789-796.
- ELLIOT, L. & IQBAL, P. 2003. Factors associated with probability of patient rejecting a repeat 24 h ambulatory blood pressure monitoring, despite recommendation by the physician. *Blood pressure monitoring*, 8, 191-194.
- ENGSTRÖM, G., WOLLMER, P., HEDBLAD, B., JUUL-MÖLLER, S., VALIND, S. & JANZON, L. 2001. Occurrence and Prognostic Significance of Ventricular Arrhythmia Is Related to Pulmonary Function : A Study From "Men Born in 1914," Malmö, Sweden. *Circulation*, 103, 3086-3091.
- ENRIGHT, P. L., MCBURNIE, M. A., BITTNER, V., TRACY, R. P., MCNAMARA, R., ARNOLD, A. & NEWMAN, A. B. 2003. The 6-min Walk Test. *Chest*, 123, 387-398.
- EWING, G., GREANEY, M., RIEBE, D., NIGG, C., BURBANK, P. & CLARK, P. 2010. Physical and mental health-related correlates of physical function in community dwelling older adults: a cross sectional study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 10.
- EZZELL, L. & JENSEN, G. L. 2000. Malnutrition in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72, 1415-1416.
- FLANSBJER, U. B., HOLMBACK, A. M., DOWNHAM, D., PATTEN, C. & LEXELL, J. 2005. Reliability of gait performance tests in men and women with hemiparesis after stroke. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine : official journal of the UEMS European Board of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 37, 75-82.
- FLETCHER, C. 1960. Standardised questionnaire on respiratory symtoms: a statement prepared and approved by the MRC Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis (MRC breathlessness score). *BMJ*, 2, 1665.
- FOWLER, S. J., SINGH, S. J. & REVILL, S. 2005. Reproducibility and validity of the incremental shuttle walking test in patients following coronary artery bypass surgery. *Physiotherapy*, 91, 22-27.
- FRANKLIN, S., GUSTIN, W., WONG, N., LARSON, M., WEBER, M. & KANNEL, W. 1997. Hemodynamic patterns of age-related changes in blood pressure. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 96, 308 - 315.
- FREEDMAN, V. A. & MARTIN, L. G. 1998. Understanding trends in functional limitations among older Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88, 1457-1462.
- FREEMAN, E. E., BROMAN, A. T., TURANO, K. A. & WEST, S. K. 2008. Motion-Detection Threshold and Measures of Balance in Older Adults: The SEE Project. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 49, 5257-5263.

- FRETER, S. H. & FRUCHTER, N. 2000. Relationship between timed 'up and go' and gait time in an elderly orthopaedic rehabilitation population. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 14, 96-101.
- GALE, N., DUCKERS, J., ENRIGHT, S., COCKCROFT, J., SHALE, D. & BOLTON, C. 2011. Does pulmonary rehabilitation address cardiovascular risk factors in patients with COPD? *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 11, 20.
- GALIÈ, N., TORBICKI, A., BARST, R., DARTEVELLE, P., HAWORTH, S., HIGENBOTTAM,
 T., . . SIMONNEAU, G. 2004. Guidelines on diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *European Heart Journal*, 25, 2243-2278.
- GARCIA-AYMERICH, J., SERRA, I., GÓMEZ, F. P., FARRERO, E., BALCELLS, E., RODRÍGUEZ, D. A., . . . GROUP, C. O. C. S. 2009. Physical Activity and Clinical and Functional Status in COPD. *Chest*, 136, 62-70.
- GARCIA-RIO, F., ROJO, B., CASITAS, R., LORES, V., MADERO, R., ROMERO, D., . . . VILLASANTE, C. 2012. Prognostic value of the objective measurement of daily physical activity in patients with copd. *Chest*, 142, 338-346.
- GEIJER, R. M. M., SACHS, A. P. E., VERHEIJ, T. J. M., KERSTJENS, H. A. M., KUYVENHOVEN, M. M. & HOES, A. W. 2007. Quality of life in smokers: focus on functional limitations rather than on lung function? *British Journal of General Practice*, 57, 477-482.
- GILES, T. D., OPARIL, S., OFILI, E. O., PITT, B., PURKAYASTHA, D., HILKERT, R., . . . SOWERS, J. R. 2011. The role of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring compared with clinic and home blood pressure measures in evaluating moderate versus intensive treatment of hypertension with amlodipine/valsartan for patients uncontrolled on angiotensin receptor blocker monotherapy. *Blood Press Monit*, 16, 87-95.
- GIMENO-SANTOS, E., FREI, A., STEURER-STEY, C., DE BATLLE, J., RABINOVICH, R. A., RASTE, Y., . . . CONSORTIUM, O. B. O. P. 2014. Determinants and outcomes of physical activity in patients with COPD: a systematic review. *Thorax*.
- GLOBAL INITIATIVE FOR CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE LUNG DISEASE GOLD. 2011. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.goldcopd.org/uploads/users/files/GOLD_Report_2014_Jun11.pd</u> <u>f</u> 2014].
- GODTFREDSEN, N. S., VESTBO, J., OSLER, M. & PRESCOTT, E. 2002. Risk of hospital admission for COPD following smoking cessation and reduction: a Danish population study. *Thorax*, 57, 967-972.
- GOLD, D. R., WANG, X., WYPIJ, D., SPEIZER, F. E., WARE, J. H. & DOCKERY, D. W. 1996. Effects of Cigarette Smoking on Lung Function in Adolescent Boys and Girls. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335, 931-937.
- GRIFFITHS, T. L., BURR, M. L., CAMPBELL, I. A., LEWIS-JENKINS, V., MULLINS, J., SHIELS, K., . . . TUNBRIDGE, J. 2000. Results at 1 year of outpatient multidisciplinary pulmonary rehabilitation: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 355, 362-368.
- GURALNIK, J. M., SIMONSICK, E. M., FERRUCCI, L., GLYNN, R. J., BERKMAN, L. F., BLAZER, D. G., . . . WALLACE, R. B. 1994. A Short Physical Performance Battery Assessing Lower Extremity Function: Association With Self-Reported Disability and Prediction of Mortality and Nursing Home Admission. *Journal* of Gerontology, 49, M85-M94.
- GYRD THRANE, R. M. J. A. E. T. 2007. The association between timed up and go test and history of falls: The Tromsø study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 7, 1-7.

- HALL, I. P. & LOMAS, D. A. 2010. The genetics of obstructive lung disease: big is beautiful. *Thorax*, 65, 760-761.
- HARADA, N. D., CHIU, V. & STEWART, A. L. 1999. Mobility-related function in older adults: Assessment with a 6-minute walk test. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 80, 837-841.
- HART, C., DAVEY SMITH, G., GRUER, L. & WATT, G. 2010. The combined effect of smoking tobacco and drinking alcohol on cause-specific mortality: a 30 year cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 789.
- HAWKINS, M., GABRIEL, K. P., COOPER, J., STORTI, K. L., SUTTON-TYRRELL, K. & KRISKA, A. 2014. The impact of change in physical activity on change in arterial stiffness in overweight or obese sedentary young adults. *Vascular Medicine*, 19, 257-263.
- HERMAN, T., GILADI, N. & HAUSDORFFA, J. 2011. Properties of the 'Timed Up and Go' Test: More than Meets the Eye. *Gerontology*, 57, 203-210.
- HERNANDES, N. A., WOUTERS, E. F. M., MEIJER, K., ANNEGARN, J., PITTA, F. & SPRUIT, M. A. 2011. Reproducibility of 6-minute walking test in patients with COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 38, 261-267.
- HERSH, C. P., DAHL, M., LY, N. P., BERKEY, C. S., NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & SILVERMAN,
 E. K. 2004. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in α1-antitrypsin PI MZ heterozygotes: a meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 59, 843-849.
- HEUNG, T. & SHAMAY, S. 2009. Effect of seat height and turning direction on the Timed Up and Go test scores of people after stroke. *J Rehabil Med*, 41, 719-722.
- HICKSON, S. S., BUTLIN, M., BROAD, J., AVOLIO, A. P., WILKINSON, I. B. & MCENIERY,
 C. M. 2009. Validity and repeatability of the Vicorder apparatus: a comparison with the SphygmoCor device. *Hypertens Res*, 32, 1079-1085.
- HIRANO, K., IMAGAMA, S., HASEGAWA, Y., ITO, Z., MURAMOTO, A. & ISHIGURO, N. 2013. Impact of low back pain, knee pain, and timed up-and-go test on quality of life in community-living people. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, 1-8.
- HNIZDO, E., SULLIVAN, P. A., BANG, K. M. & WAGNER, G. 2002. Association between Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Employment by Industry and Occupation in the US Population: A Study of Data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 156, 738-746.
- HODGKINSON J, M. J., MARTIN U, GUO B, HOBBS FD, DEEKS JJ, HENEGHAN C, ROBERTS N, MCMANUS RJ. 2011. Relative effectiveness of clinic and home blood pressure monitoring compared with ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in diagnosis of hypertension: systematic review. *BMJ*, 342.
- HOLLAND, A. E., HILL, C. J., RASEKABA, T., LEE, A., NAUGHTON, M. T. & MCDONALD,
 C. F. 2010. Updating the Minimal Important Difference for Six-Minute Walk
 Distance in Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 91, 221-225.
- HUIART, L., ERNST, P. & SUISSA, S. 2005. Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality in COPD. *Chest*, 128, 2640-2646.
- HUNNINGHAKE, D. B. 2005. Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, **2**, 44-49.
- JANSSEN, D., FRANSSEN, F., WOUTERS, E., SCHOLS, J. & SPRUIT, M. 2011. Impaired health status and care dependency in patients with advanced COPD or chronic heart failure. *Quality of Life Research*, 20, 1679-1688.

- JANSSEN, I. & ROSS, R. 2012. Vigorous intensity physical activity is related to the metabolic syndrome independent of the physical activity dose. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41, 1132-1140.
- JANSSENS, J. P., PACHE, J. C. & NICOD, L. P. 1999. Physiological changes in respiratory function associated with ageing. *European Respiratory Journal*, 13, 197-205.
- JOHN, M., HUSSAIN, S., PRAYLE, A., SIMMS, R., COCKCROFT, J. R. & BOLTON, C. E. 2013. Target renal damage: the microvascular associations of increased aortic stiffness in patients with COPD. *Respir Res*, 14, 31.
- JONES, C. R., TAYLOR, K., CHOWIENCZYK, P., POSTON, L. & SHENNAN, A. H. 2000. A validation of the Mobil O Graph (version 12) ambulatory blood pressure monitor. *Blood pressure monitoring*, *5*, 233-238.
- JONES, P., QUIRK, F., BAVEYSTOCK, C. & LITTLEJOHNS, P. 1992. A self-complete measure of health status for chronic airflow limitation. The St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire. *AM REV RESPIR DIS*, 145, 1321 - 1327.
- KAESS, B. M., RONG, J., LARSON, M. G. & ET AL. 2012. AOrtic stiffness, blood pressure progression, and incident hypertension. *JAMA*, 308, 875-881.
- KALLEM, R. R., MEYERS, K. E. C., SAWINSKI, D. L. & TOWNSEND, R. R. 2013. A Comparison of Two Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitors Worn at the Same Time. *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, 15, 321-325.
- KARIO, K., PICKERING, T. G., MATSUO, T., HOSHIDE, S., SCHWARTZ, J. E. & SHIMADA,
 K. 2001a. Stroke Prognosis and Abnormal Nocturnal Blood Pressure Falls in
 Older Hypertensives. *Hypertension*, 38, 852-857.
- KARIO, K., SHIMADA, K., SCHWARTZ, J. E., MATSUO, T., HOSHIDE, S. & PICKERING, T. G. 2001b. Silent and clinically overt stroke in older Japanese subjects with white-coat and sustained hypertension. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 38, 238-245.
- KATAJISTO M, K. H., RANTANEN P, LINDQVIST A, KILPELÄINEN M, TIKKANEN H, LAITINEN T 2012. Physical inactivity in COPD and increased patient perception of dyspnea. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 7, 743—755
- KELLY, R., HAYWARD, C., AVOLIO, A. & O'ROURKE, M. 1989. Noninvasive determination of age-related changes in the human arterial pulse. *Circulation*, 80, 1652-1659.
- KESANIEMI YK, D. E., JENSEN, KOPELMAN, LEFÈBVRE, REEDER. 2001. Dose-response issues concerning physical activity and health: an evidence-based symposium. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, S351-8.
- KHANDELWAL, M., MAHESHWARI, V., GARG, S., KUMAR, K., GUPTA, R. & KHANDELWAL, S. 2013. Six minute walk distance: Correlation with spirometric & clinical parameters in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *International J. of Healthcare & Biomedical Research*, **1**, 217-226.
- KIERS, H. D., HOFSTRA, J. M. & WETZELS, J. F. M. 2008. Oscillometric blood pressure measurements: Differences between measured and calculated mean arterial pressure. *Netherlands Journal of Medicine*, 66, 474-479.
- KON, S. S. C., CANAVAN, J. L., NOLAN, C. M., CLARK, A. L., JONES, S. E., CULLINAN, P., . . MAN, W. D.-C. 2014. What the 4-metre gait speed measures and why it cannot replace functional capacity tests. *European Respiratory Journal*, 43, 1820-1822.
- KON, S. S. C., PATEL, M. S., CANAVAN, J. L., CLARK, A. L., JONES, S. E., NOLAN, C. M., .
 . MAN, W. D.-C. 2013. Reliability and validity of 4-metre gait speed in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 42, 333-340.

- KRISTENSEN, M. T., FOSS, N. B. & KEHLET, H. 2007. Timed "Up & Go" Test as a Predictor of Falls Within 6 Months After Hip Fracture Surgery. *Physical Therapy*, 87, 24-30.
- LANDBO, C., PRESCOTT, E., LANGE, P., VESTBO, J. & ALMDAL, T. P. 1999. Prognostic Value of Nutritional Status in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 160, 1856-1861.
- LANDI, F., ANDREA RUSSO, MATTEO CESARI, MARCO PAHOR, ROBERTO BERNABE, GRAZIANO ONDER 2007. . HDL-cholesterol and physical performance results from the ageing and longevity study in the sirente geographic are (iISIRENTE Study). *Age and Aging*, 36, 514-520.
- LAURENT, S., COCKCROFT, J., VAN BORTEL, L., BOUTOUYRIE, P., GIANNATTASIO, C., HAYOZ, D., . . . ARTERIES, E. N. F. N.-I. I. O. L. 2006. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J*, 27, 2588 - 605.
- LAWLOR, D. A., RITA PATEL & EBRAHIM, S. 2003. Association between falls in elderly women and chronic diseases and drug use: cross sectional study. *BMJ*, 327, 712-717.
- LEE, Y., KIM, J., KANG, G., YOO, S., CHOI, Y., LEE, K., ... PARK, Y. 2010. Polymorphisms in Matrix Metalloproteinase-1, -9 and -12 Genes and the Risk of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in a Korean Population. *Respiration*, 80, 133-138.
- LEKAKIS, J. P., ZAKOPOULOS, N. A., PROTOGEROU, A. D., PAPAIOANNOU, T. G., KOTSIS, V. T., PITIRIGA, V. C., . . . MAVRIKAKIS, M. E. 2005. Arterial stiffness assessed by pulse wave analysis in essential hypertension: relation to 24-h blood pressure profile. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 102, 391-395.
- LEWIS, M. E., NEWALL, C., TOWNEND, J. N., HILL, S. L. & BONSER, R. S. 2001. Incremental shuttle walk test in the assessment of patients for heart transplantation. *Heart*, 86, 183-187.
- LINDBERG, A., BJERG-BÄCKLUND, A., RÖNMARK, E., LARSSON, L.-G. & LUNDBÄCK, B. 2006. Prevalence and underdiagnosis of COPD by disease severity and the attributable fraction of smoking. *Respir Med*, 100, 264-72.
- LINN, M. W., HUNTER, K. I. & LINN, B. S. 1980. Self-Assessed Health, Impairment and Disability in Anglo, Black and Cuban Elderly. *Medical Care*, 18, 282-288.
- LLOYD-JONES, D., ADAMS, R. J., BROWN, T. M., CARNETHON, M., DAI, S., DE SIMONE, G., . . . WYLIE-ROSETT, J. 2010. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2010 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 121, e46-e215.
- LOPEZ A., K. S., C. RAO, C.D. MATHERS, A.L. HANSELL, L.S. HELD, V. SCHMID AND S. BUIST 2006. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: current burden and future projections. *Eur Respir J*, 27, 397-412.
- LOZANO, R., NAGHAVI, M., FOREMAN, K., LIM, S., SHIBUYA, K., ABOYANS, V., . . . MURRAY, C. J. L. 2012. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 380, 2095-2128.
- LUZARDO, L., LUJAMBIO, I., SOTTOLANO, M., DA ROSA, A., THIJS, L., NOBOA, O., . . . BOGGIA, J. 2012. 24-h ambulatory recording of aortic pulse wave velocity and central systolic augmentation: a feasibility study. *Hypertens Res*, 35, 980-987.
- MACKENZIE, I. S., WILKINSON, I. B. & COCKCROFT, J. R. 2002. Assessment of arterial stiffness in clinical practice. *QJM*, 95, 67-74.

- MACKENZIE, S., MCENIERY, M., DHAKAM, Z., BROWN, J., COCKCROFT, R. & WILKINSON, B. 2009. Comparison of the Effects of Antihypertensive Agents on Central Blood Pressure and Arterial Stiffness in Isolated Systolic Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 54, 409-413.
- MACLAY, J. D., MCALLISTER, D. A., MILLS, N. L., PATERSON, F. P., LUDLAM, C. A., DROST, E. M., . . . MACNEE, W. 2009. Vascular Dysfunction in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 180, 513-520.
- MADUREIRA, M. M., TAKAYAMA, L., GALLINARO, A. L., CAPARBO, V. F., COSTA, R. A. & PEREIRA, R. M. R. 2007. Balance training program is highly effective in improving functional status and reducing the risk of falls in elderly women with osteoporosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Osteoporosis International*, 18, 419-425.
- MANCIA, G., FAGARD, R., NARKIEWICZ, K., REDON, J., ZANCHETTI, A., BÖHM, M., . . . WOOD, D. A. 2013. 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *European Heart Journal*, 34, 2159-2219.
- MANGIONE, K. K., CRAIK, R. L., MCCORMICK, A. A., BLEVINS, H. L., WHITE, M. B., SULLIVAN-MARX, E. M. & TOMLINSON, J. D. 2010. Detectable Changes in Physical Performance Measures in Elderly African Americans. *Physical Therapy*, 90, 921-927.
- MANNINO, D., D., H., AKINBAMI, L., FORD, E. & REDD, S. 2002. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Surveillance --- United States, 1971--2000. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 51, 1-16.
- MANNINO, D. M., THORN, D., SWENSEN, A. & HOLGUIN, F. 2008. Prevalence and outcomes of diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 32, 962-969.
- MANNINO ET AL, R. C. G., MS; THOMAS L. PETTY, MD; EVA LYDICK, PHD 2000. Obstructive Lung Disease and Low Lung Function in Adults in the United States. *Arch Intern Med*, 160, 1683-1689.
- MARIA-CHRISTINA L. MACHADO, J. A. K., SONIA A. BUIST, ANDREW L. BILDERBACK, GUILHERME P. FAZOLO, MICHELLE G. SANTAROSA, FERNANDO QUEIROGA, JR., AND WILLIAM M. VOLLMER 2006. Sex Differences in Survival of Oxygendependent Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 174, 524-529.
- MARK WEWERS, M. 1989. Pathogenesis of Emphysema Assessment of Basic Science Concepts Through Clinical Investigation. *Chest*, 95, 190-95.
- MATHIAS, S., NAYAK, U. S. & ISAACS, B. 1986. Balance in elderly patients: the "get-up and go" test. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 67, 387-9.
- MATTACE-RASO, F., VAN DER CAMMEN, T., HOFMAN, A., VAN POPELE, N., BOS, M., SCHALEKAMP, M., . . . BRETELER, M. 2006. Arterial stiffness and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: the rotterdam study. *Circulation*, **113**, 657 - 663.
- MCALLISTER, D., MACLAY, J., MILLS, N., MAIR, G., MILLER, J., ANDERSON, D., . . . MACNEE, W. 2007. Arterial stiffness is independently associated with emphysema severity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 176, 1208 - 14.
- MCENIERY, C. M., YASMIN, HALL, I. R., QASEM, A., WILKINSON, I. B., COCKCROFT, J. R. & ON BEHALF OF THE ACCT INVESTIGATORS 2005. Normal Vascular Aging:

Differential Effects on Wave Reflection and Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity: The Anglo-Cardiff Collaborative Trial (ACCT). *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 46, 1753-1760.

- MCGARVEY, L. P., JOHN, M., ANDERSON, J. A., ZVARICH, M. & WISE, R. A. 2007. Ascertainment of cause-specific mortality in COPD: operations of the TORCH Clinical Endpoint Committee. *Thorax*, 62, 411-415.
- MENARD-ROTHE, K. S., DENNIS C.; BOUSAMRA, MICHAEL; HAASLER, GEORGE B.; LIPCHIK, RANDOLPH J. 1997. Self-Selected Walking Velocity for Functional Ambulation in Patients With End-Stage Emphysema. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation*, 17, 85-91.
- MESQUITA, R., JANSSEN, D., WOUTERS, E., SCHOLS, J., PITTA, F. & SPRUIT, M. 2013. Within-Day Test-Retest Reliability of the Timed Up & amp; Go Test in Patients With Advanced Chronic Organ Failure. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*.
- MILLER, M., HANKINSON, J., BRUSASCO, V., BURGOS, F., CASABURI, R., COATES, A., . . . WANGER, J. 2005. SERIES "ATS/ERS TASK FORCE: STANDARDISATION OF LUNG FUNCTION TESTING": Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J*, 26, 319-338.
- MILLS, N. L., MILLER, J. J., ANAND, A., ROBINSON, S. D., FRAZER, G. A., ANDERSON, D., . . . MACNEE, W. 2008. Increased arterial stiffness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; a mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk. *Thorax*.
- MITCHELL, G. F., HWANG, S.-J., VASAN, R. S., LARSON, M. G., PENCINA, M. J., HAMBURG, N. M., . . . BENJAMIN, E. J. 2010. Arterial Stiffness and Cardiovascular Events. *Circulation*, 121, 505-511.
- MITCHELL, G. F., PARISE, H., BENJAMIN, E. J., LARSON, M. G., KEYES, M. J., VITA, J. A., . . . LEVY, D. 2004. Changes in Arterial Stiffness and Wave Reflection With Advancing Age in Healthy Men and Women. *Hypertension*, 43, 1239-1245.
- MOYER, V. A. 2012. Clinical Guidelines: Prevention of Falls in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement Ann Intern Med, 157, 197-204.
- MURRAY, C. & LOPEZ, A. 1997. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet*, 349, 1498 1504.
- NCQA. 2009. Insights for Improvement: Advancing COPD Care Through Quality Measurement [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.ncqa.org/portals/0/publications/NCQA_Insights_Improvement</u> <u>FINAL.pdf</u> [Accessed 01/04 2012].
- NELSON, M., REJESKI, W., BLAIR, S., DUNCAN, P., JUDGE, J., KING, A., ... CASTANEDA-SCEPPA, C. 2007. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 39, 1435 - 1445.
- NETHONONDA, R., LEWANDOWSKI, A., STEWART, R., KYLINTERIAS, I., WHITWORTH, P., FRANCIS, J., . . . RIDER, O. 2015. Gender specific patterns of age-related decline in aortic stiffness: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance study including normal ranges. *Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance*, 17, 20.
- NICE. 2010. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults in primary and secondary care (partial update) This guideline partially updates and replaces NICE clinical guideline 12 [Online]. Available: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg101/resources/guidance-chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-pdf [Accessed 23/10 2014].

- NICE. 2011a. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Costing report Implementing
NICE guidelines [Online]. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.
Available:Available:<a href="http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg101/resources/cg101-
chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-update-costing-report2">http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg101/resources/cg101-
chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-update-costing-report224/01 2015].
- NICE. 2011b. NICE consults on new guideline for diagnosing and treating high blood pressure [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/newsroom/pressreleases/NewGuidelineForDiagnosingAndTreatingHighBloodPressure.jsp</u> 2013].
- NICHOLS, W. W. 2005. Clinical Measurement of Arterial Stiffness Obtained From Noninvasive Pressure Waveforms. *AJH*, 18, 3S-10S.
- NICI, L., DONNER, C., WOUTERS, E., ZUWALLACK, R., AMBROSINO, N., BOURBEAU, J., . . . COMMITTEE, O. B. O. T. A. E. P. R. W. 2006. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society Statement on Pulmonary Rehabilitation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 173, 1390-1413.
- NOCERA, J. R., STEGEMÖLLER, E. L., MALATY, I. A., OKUN, M. S., MARSISKE, M. & HASS, C. J. 2013. Using the timed up & go test in a clinical setting to predict falling in Parkinson's disease. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 94, 1300-1305.
- NORDIN, E., LINDELÖF, N., ROSENDAHL, E., JENSEN, J. & LUNDIN-OLSSON, L. 2008. Prognostic validity of the Timed Up-and-Go test, a modified Get-Up-and-Go test, staff's global judgement and fall history in evaluating fall risk in residential care facilities. *Age and Ageing*, 37, 442-448.
- O'KEEFFE, S. T., LYE, M., DONNELLAN, C. & CARMICHAEL, D. N. 1998. Reproducibility and responsiveness of quality of life assessment and six minute walk test in elderly heart failure patients. *Heart*, 80, 377-382.
- OSTIR, G. V., VOLPATO, S., FRIED, L. P., CHAVES, P. & GURALNIK, J. M. 2002. Reliability and sensitivity to change assessed for a summary measure of lower body function: Results from the Women's Health and Aging Study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 55, 916-921.
- OZCAN, A., DONAT, H., GELECEK, N., OZDIRENC, M. & KARADIBAK, D. 2005. The relationship between risk factors for falling and the quality of life in older adults. *BMC Public Health*, 5, 90.
- PALANGE, P., WARD, S. A., CARLSEN, K.-H., CASABURI, R., GALLAGHER, C. G., GOSSELINK, R., . . . WHIPP, B. J. 2007. Recommendations on the use of exercise testing in clinical practice. *European Respiratory Journal*, 29, 185-209.
- PAUWELS, R., BUIST, A., CALVERLEY, P., JENKINS, C. & HURD, S. 2001. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) workshop summary. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 163, 1256 1276.
- PAYNE, G. & SKEHAN, D. 1996. Shuttle walking test: a new approach for evaluating patients with pacemakers. *Heart*, 75, 414-418.
- PEDROSA R, H. G. 2009. Correlation between the walk, 2-minute step and tug tests among hypertensive older women. *Rev Bras Fisioter*, 13, 252-256.
- PEPIN, V., BRODEUR, J., LACASSE, Y., MILOT, J., LEBLANC, P., WHITTOM, F. & MALTAIS, F. 2006. Six-Minute Walking Versus Shuttle Walking: Responsiveness to Bronchodilation in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Thorax*.

- PERERA, S., SAMIR, H., RICHARD, C. & STEPHANIE, S. 2006. Meaningful Change and Responsiveness in Common Physical Performance Measures in Older Adults. *The American Geriatrics Society*, 54, 743-749.
- PERUZZA S, S. G., VIANELLO A, PISENT C, TIOZZO F, MANZAN A, COIN A, INELMEN EM, ENZI G. 2003. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in elderly subjects: impact on functional status and quality of life. *RESPIRATORY MEDICINE*, 97, 612-617.
- PICKERING, T. G., DAVIDSON, K., GERIN, W. & SCHWARTZ, J. E. 2002. Masked Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 40, 795-796.
- PICKERING, T. G., HALL, J. E., APPEL, L. J., FALKNER, B. E., GRAVES, J., HILL, M. N., ... ROCCELLA, E. J. 2005. Recommendations for Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans and Experimental Animals: Part 1: Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans: A Statement for Professionals From the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Circulation*, 111, 697-716.
- PINTO-PLATA, V. M., COTE, C., CABRAL, H., TAYLOR, J. & CELLI, B. R. 2004. The 6-min walk distance: change over time and value as a predictor of survival in severe COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 23, 28-33.
- PITTA, F., TROOSTERS, T., SPRUIT, M., PROBST, V., DECRAMER, M. & GOSSELINK, R. 2005a. Characteristics of physical activities in daily life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 171, 972 - 977.
- PITTA, F., TROOSTERS, T., SPRUIT, M. A., PROBST, V. S., DECRAMER, M. & GOSSELINK, R. 2005b. Characteristics of Physical Activities in Daily Life in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 171, 972-977.
- PODSIADLO, D. & RICHARDSON, S. 1991. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 39, 142 148.
- POULAIN, M., DURAND, F., PALOMBA, B., CEUGNIET, F., DESPLAN, J., VARRAY, A. & PRÉFAUT, C. 2003. 6-Minute Walk Testing Is More Sensitive Than Maximal Incremental Cycle Testing for Detecting Oxygen Desaturation in Patients With COPD*. *Chest*, 123, 1401-1407.
- PRAKASH, R. 2014. Physical inactivity a leading cause of disease and disability, warns WHO

Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/release23/en/.

- PRESCOTT, E., LANGE, P. & VESTBO, J. 1999. Socioeconomic status, lung function and admission to hospital for COPD: results from the Copenhagen City Heart Study. *European Respiratory Journal*, 13, 1109-1114.
- PRINCE, S., ADAMO, K., HAMEL, M., HARDT, J., GORBER, S. & TREMBLAY, M. 2008. A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults: a systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, **5**, 56.
- PUHAN, M. A., GARCIA-AYMERICH, J., FREY, M., TER RIET, G., ANTÓ, J. M., AGUSTÍ, A. G., . . . HELD, U. 2009. Expansion of the prognostic assessment of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the updated BODE index and the ADO index. *The Lancet*, 374, 704-711.
- PUHAN, M. A., HANSEL, N. N., SOBRADILLO, P., ENRIGHT, P., LANGE, P., HICKSON, D., . . . GARCIA-AYMERICH, J. 2012. Large-scale international validation of the ADO index in subjects with COPD: an individual subject data analysis of 10 cohorts. *BMJ Open*, 2.

- PUHAN, M. A., MADOR, M. J., HELD, U., GOLDSTEIN, R., GUYATT, G. H. & SCHÜNEMANN, H. J. 2008. Interpretation of treatment changes in 6-minute walk distance in patients with COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, 32, 637-643.
- RAMSAY, S. E., WHINCUP, P. H., LENNON, L. T., MORRIS, R. W. & WANNAMETHEE, S.
 G. 2011. Longitudinal associations of socioeconomic position in childhood and adulthood with decline in lung function over 20 years: results from a population-based cohort of British men. *Thorax*, 66, 1058-1064.
- RANTANEN, T., GURALNIK, J. M., FOLEY, D., MASAKI, K., LEVEILLE, S., CURB, J. D. & WHITE, L. 1999. Midlife Hand Grip Strength as a Predictor of Old Age Disability. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 281, 558-560.
- REARDON, J. Z., LAREAU, S. C. & ZUWALLACK, R. 2006. Functional Status and Quality of Life in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 119, 32-37.
- REDELMEIER, D. A., BAYOUMI, A. M., GOLDSTEIN, R. S. & GUYATT, G. H. 1997. Interpreting small differences in functional status: the Six Minute Walk test in chronic lung disease patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 155, 1278-82.
- REJBI, I. B. C., TRABELSI, Y., CHOUCHENE, A., TURKIA, W. B., SAAD, H. B., ZBIDI, A., ... TABKA, Z. 2010. Changes in six-minute walking distance during pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with COPD and in healthy subjects. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 5, 209-215.
- RENNARD, S., DECRAMER, M., CALVERLEY, P. M. A., PRIDE, N. B., SORIANO, J. B., VERMEIRE, P. A. & VESTBO, J. 2002. Impact of COPD in North America and Europe in 2000: subjects' perspective of Confronting COPD International Survey. *European Respiratory Journal*, 20, 799-805.
- REUBEN, D. B., SEEMAN, T. E., KEELER, E., HAYES, R. P., BOWMAN, L., SEWALL, A., ... GURALNIK, J. M. 2004. Refining the Categorization of Physical Functional Status: The Added Value of Combining Self-Reported and Performance-Based Measures. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 59, M1056-M1061.
- REVILL, S., MORGAN, M., SINGH, S., WILLIAMS, J. & HARDMAN, A. 1999. The endurance shuttle walk: a new field test for the assessment of endurance capacity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax*, 54, 213-22.
- RHEUMATOLOGY., A. C. O. 2014. *Timed Up and Go (TUG)* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.rheumatology.org/Practice/Clinical/Clinicianresearchers/Outco</u> <u>mes Instrumentation/Timed Up and Go (TUG)/</u>.
- ROBERTO P. BENZOA, A. F. C. S. 2010. Oxygen Consumption, Shuttle Walking Test and the Evaluation of Lung Resection. *Respiration*, 80, 19-23.
- RODNEY A. RHOADES, D. R. B. 2012. *Medical Physiology: Principles for Clinical Medicine,* Philadelphia, PA/US, LIPPINCOTT WILLIAMS & WILKINS.
- ROIG, M., ENG, J. J., MACINTYRE, D. L., ROAD, J. D. & REID, W. D. 2010. Associations of the Stair Climb Power Test With Muscle Strength and Functional Performance in People With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Physical Therapy*, 90, 1774-1782.
- ROIG, M., ENG, J. J., ROAD, J. D. & REID, W. D. 2009. Falls in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A call for further research. *Respiratory Medicine*, 103, 1257-1269.
- ROMAN, M. J., DEVEREUX, R. B., KIZER, J. R., LEE, E. T., GALLOWAY, J. M., ALI, T., . . . HOWARD, B. V. 2007. Central Pressure More Strongly Relates to Vascular

Disease and Outcome Than Does Brachial Pressure: The Strong Heart Study. *Hypertension*, **50**, 197-203.

- S. BARRIGA, F. R., C. BARBARA 2014. Factors that influence physical activity in the daily life of male patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Rev Port Pneumol,* 20, 131-137.
- SABIT, R., BOLTON, C., EDWARDS, P., PETTIT, R., EVANS, W., MCENIERY, C., . . . SHALE, D. 2007. Arterial stiffness and osteoporosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 175, 1259 - 1265.
- SALARIAN A, HORAK FB, ZAMPIERI C, CARLSON-KUHTA P & NUTT JG, A. K. 2010. iTUG, a sensitive and reliable measure of mobility. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, 18, 303-310.
- SALLIS, J. F. 1993. Seven-day recall and other physical activity self-reports in children and adolescents. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 25, 99-108.
- SALOMAA, V., RILEY, W., KARK, J. D., NARDO, C. & FOLSOM, A. R. 1995. Non–Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus and Fasting Glucose and Insulin Concentrations Are Associated With Arterial Stiffness Indexes : The ARIC Study. *Circulation*, 91, 1432-1443.
- SAMSON, M., MEEUWSEN, I., CROWE, A., DESSENS, J., DUURSMA, S. & VERHAAR, H. 2000. Relationships between physical performance measures, age, height and body weight in healthy adults. *Age Ageing*, 29, 235 242.
- SASSI-DAMBRON, D. E., EAKIN, E. G., RIES, A. L. & KAPLAN, R. M. 1995. Treatment of Dyspnea in COPD. *Chest*, 107, 724-729.
- SCHIEMAN, S. & PLICKERT, G. 2007. Functional Limitations and Changes in Levels of Depression Among Older Adults: A Multiple-Hierarchy Stratification Perspective. The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 62, S36-S42.
- SCHIKOWSKI ET AL, D. S., ULRICH RANFT1, ULRIKE GEHRING2,3,4, JOACHIM HEINRICH2, H-ERICH WICHMANN2,3 AND URSULA KRÄMER1 2005. Longterm air pollution exposure and living close to busy roads are associated with COPD in women. *Respiratory Research*, 6, 152.
- SCHOLS, A. M., BROEKHUIZEN, R., WELING-SCHEEPERS, C. A. & WOUTERS, E. F. 2005. Body composition and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 82, 53-59.
- SCHOLS, J., SLANGEN, J., VOLOVICS, L. & WOUTERS, E. 1998. Weight Loss Is a Reversible Factor in the Prognosis of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 157, 1791-1797.
- SHIMADA, K., KAWAMOTO, A., MATSUBAYASHI, K. & OZAWA, T. 1990. Silent cerebrovascular disease in the elderly. Correlation with ambulatory pressure. *Hypertension*, 16, 692-9.
- SHUMWAY-COOK, A., BRAUER, S. & WOOLLACOTT, M. 2000. Predicting the Probability for Falls in Community-Dwelling Older Adults Using the Timed Up & Go Test. *Physical Therapy*, 80, 896-903.
- SIN, D. D., ANTHONISEN, N. R., SORIANO, J. B. & AGUSTI, A. G. 2006. Mortality in COPD: role of comorbidities. *European Respiratory Journal*, 28, 1245-1257.
- SIN, D. D. & MAN, S. F. P. 2003. Why Are Patients With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease at Increased Risk of Cardiovascular Diseases? *Circulation*, 107, 1514-1519.
- SIN, D. D. & MAN, S. F. P. 2005. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease as a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 2, 8-11.

- SIN, D. D., WU, L. & MAN, S. F. P. 2005. The Relationship Between Reduced Lung Function and Cardiovascular Mortality. *Chest*, 127, 1952-1959.
- SINGH, S., MORGAN, M., HARDMAN, A., ROWE, C. & BARDSLEY, P. 1994. Comparison of oxygen uptake during a conventional treadmill test and the shuttle walking test in chronic airflow limitation. *Eur Respir J*, **7**, 2016-2020.
- SINGH S., JONESP., EVANS R. & M., M. 2008. Minimum clinically important improvement for the incremental shuttle walking test. *Thorax*, 63, 775-777.
- SINGH S., MORGAN M., SCOTT S., WALTERS D. & A., H. 1992. Development of a shuttle walking test of disability in patients with chronic airways obstruction. *Thorax*, 47, 1019-1024.
- SINGH, S. J., PUHAN, M. A., ANDRIANOPOULOS, V., HERNANDES, N. A., MITCHELL, K. E., HILL, C. J., . . . HOLLAND, A. E. 2014. An official systematic review of the European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society: measurement properties of field walking tests in chronic respiratory disease. *European Respiratory Journal*.
- SPRUIT, M. A., WATKINS, M. L., EDWARDS, L. D., VESTBO, J., CALVERLEY, P. M. A., PINTO-PLATA, V., . . . WOUTERS, E. F. M. 2010. Determinants of poor 6-min walking distance in patients with COPD: The ECLIPSE cohort. *Respiratory Medicine*, 104, 849-857.
- STAESSEN, J. A., THIJS, L., FAGARD, R. & ET AL. 1999. Predicting cardiovascular risk using conventional vs ambulatory blood pressure in older patients with systolic hypertension. *JAMA*, 282, 539-546.
- STEELE, B. G., HOLT, L., BELZA, B., FERRIS, S., LAKSHMINARYAN, S. & BUCHNER, D. M. 2000. Quantitating Physical Activity in COPD Using a Triaxial Accelerometer. *Chest*, 117, 1359-1367.
- STEFFEN, T. M., HACKER, T. A. & MOLLINGER, L. 2002. Age- and Gender-Related Test Performance in Community-Dwelling Elderly People: Six-Minute Walk Test, Berg Balance Scale, Timed Up & Go Test, and Gait Speeds. *Physical Therapy*, 82, 128-137.
- STEVENS D., ELPERN E., SHARMA K., SZEDON P., ANKIN M. & S., K. 1999. Comparison of Hallway and Treadmill Six-minute Walk Tests. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 160, 1540-1543.
- STICKLAND, N. V., STEWART R. PETERSENC, ERIC Y.L. WONGA, MOHIT BHUTANIA 2013. Physical activity and arterial stiffness in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology*, 189, 188-194.
- STUDENSKI, S., SUBASHAN P, DENNIS W, JULIE C, PAMELA D, EARL R, . . . JACK M. G 2003. Physical Performance Measures in the Clinical setting. *The American Geriatric Society*, 51, 314-322.
- TANAKA, H., DINENNO, F. A., MONAHAN, K. D., CLEVENGER, C. M., DESOUZA, C. A. & SEALS, D. R. 2000. Aging, Habitual Exercise, and Dynamic Arterial Compliance. *Circulation*, 102, 1270-1275.
- TANAKA, H., GOUSKOVA, N., FOLSOM, A. R., EVENSON, K., WINDHAM, G., AGUILAR, D., . . . HEISS, G. 2014. Abstract MP81: Habitual Physical Activity And Arterial Stiffness In Older Adults: The Atherosclerosis Risk In Community (ARIC) Study. Circulation, 129, AMP81.
- THE LUNG ASSOCIATION. 2006. *Women and COPD: A National Report* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.lung.ca/media-medias/news-nouvelles_e.php?id=88</u> [Accessed 01/04/2012 2012].
- THOMAS, J. I. & LANE, J. V. 2005. A pilot study to explore the predictive validity of 4 measures of falls risk in frail elderly patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 86, 1636-40.

- TINKELMAN AND CORSELLO 2003. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: The Impact Occurs Earlier Than We Think. *Am J Manag Care*, 9, 767-771.
- TINKELMAN, D., PRICE, D., NORDYKE, R. & HALBERT, R. 2007. COPD screening efforts in primary care: what is the yield? *Primary Care Respiratory Journal*, 16, 41-48.
- TORRES, J. P. D., CASANOVA, C., COTE, C. G., LÓPEZ, M. V., DÍAZ, O., MARÍA MARIN, J., . . . CELLI, B. R. 2011. Six-Minute Walking Distance in Women with COPD. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, **8**, 300-305.
- TROOSTERS, T., SCIURBA, F., BATTAGLIA, S., LANGER, D., VALLURI, S. & MARTINO, L. 2010a. Physical inactivity in patients with COPD, a controlled multi-center pilot-study. *Respir Med*, 104, 1005 - 1011.
- TROOSTERS, T., SCIURBA, F., BATTAGLIA, S., LANGER, D., VALLURI, S. R., MARTINO, L., . . . DECRAMER, M. 2010b. Physical inactivity in patients with COPD, a controlled multi-center pilot-study. *Respiratory Medicine*, 104, 1005-1011.
- TROOSTERS, T., VAN DER MOLEN, T., POLKEY, M., RABINOVICH, R., VOGIATZIS, I., WEISMAN, I. & KULICH, K. 2013. Improving physical activity in COPD: towards a new paradigm. *Respiratory Research*, 14, 115.
- TROOSTERS, T., VILARO, J., RABINOVICH, R., CASAS, A., BARBERÀ, J. A., RODRIGUEZ-ROISIN, R. & ROCA, J. 2002. Physiological responses to the 6-min walk test in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *European Respiratory Journal*, 20, 564-569.
- TROPEANO, A.-I. A. R.-T., FRANCOISE B; BADOUAL, THIERRY A; GOLDENBERG, FRANCOISE C; DOLBEAU, GUILLAUME D; GOSSE, PHILIPPE E; MACQUIN-MAVIER, ISABELLE A 2006. Different effects of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring on subjective and objective sleep quality. *Blood Pressure Monitoring*, 11, 315-320.
- TSUJI, I., MINAMI, Y., FUKAO, A., HISAMICHI, S., ASANO, H. & SATO, M. 1995. Active Life Expectancy Among Elderly Japanese. *Journal of Gerontology: MEDICAL SCIENCES*, 50A, M173-M176.
- VAES, A. W., GARCIA-AYMERICH, J., MAROTT, J. L., BENET, M., GROENEN, M. T. J., SCHNOHR, P., . . . SPRUIT, M. A. 2014. Changes in physical activity and allcause mortality in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*.
- VAGAGGINI, B., TACCOLA, M., SEVERINO, S., MARCELLO, M., ANTONELLI, S., BROGI, S., . . PAGGIARO, L. 2003. Shuttle Walking Test and 6-Minute Walking Test Induce a Similar Cardiorespiratory Performance in Patients Recovering from an Acute Exacerbation of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Respiration*, 70, 579-584.
- VAITKEVICIUS, P. V., FLEG, J. L., ENGEL, J. H., O'CONNOR, F. C., WRIGHT, J. G., LAKATTA, L. E., . . . LAKATTA, E. G. 1993. Effects of age and aerobic capacity on arterial stiffness in healthy adults. *Circulation*, 88, 1456-62.
- VAN BORTEL, M., LAURENT, S., BOUTOUYRIE, P., CHOWIENCZYK, P., CRUICKSHANK, K., DE BACKER, T., . . . WEBER, T. 2012. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens, 30, 445-8.
- VAN DER STRATE, B. W. A., POSTMA, D. S., BRANDSMA, C.-A., MELGERT, B. N., LUINGE, M. A., GEERLINGS, M., . . . KERSTJENS, H. A. M. 2006. Cigarette Smoke–induced Emphysema. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 173, 751-758.
- VAN HEDEL, H. J., WIRZ, M. & DIETZ, V. 2005. Assessing walking ability in subjects with spinal cord injury: Validity and reliability of 3 walking tests. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 86, 190-196.

- VASUNILASHORN, S., COPPIN, A. K., PATEL, K. V., LAURETANI, F., FERRUCCI, L., BANDINELLI, S. & GURALNIK, J. M. 2009. Use of the Short Physical Performance Battery Score to Predict Loss of Ability to Walk 400 Meters: Analysis From the InCHIANTI Study. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 64A, 223-229.
- VERDECCHIA, P., PORCELLATI, C., SCHILLACI, G., BORGIONI, C., CIUCCI, A., BATTISTELLI, M., . . . REBOLDI, G. 1994. Ambulatory blood pressure. An independent predictor of prognosis in essential hypertension. *Hypertension*, 24, 793-801.
- VERN SEEFELDT, R. M. M., MICHAEL A. CLARK 2002. Factors Affecting Levels of Physical Activity in Adults. *Sports Medicine*, 32, 143-168.
- VIERA, A., LINGLEY, K. & HINDERLITER, A. 2011. Tolerability of the Oscar 2 ambulatory blood pressure monitor among research participants: a cross-sectional repeated measures study. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11, 59.
- VIVODTZEV, I., MINET, C., WUYAM, B., BOREL, J., VOTTERO, G., MONNERET, D., . . . PEPIN, J. 2010. Significant improvement in arterial stiffness after endurance training in patients with COPD. *Chest*, 137, 585 - 592.
- VLACHOPOULOS, C., AZNAOURIDIS, K. & STEFANADIS, C. 2010. Prediction of Cardiovascular Events and All-Cause Mortality With Arterial Stiffness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol, 55, 1318-1327.
- VORRINK, S., KORT, H., TROOSTERS, T. & LAMMERS, J.-W. 2011. Level of daily physical activity in individuals with COPD compared with healthy controls. *Respiratory Research*, 12, 33.
- WALL C., P. C. B., BS ; STEWART CAMPBELL ; JENNIFER DAVIS 2000. The timed get-upand-go test revisited : Measurement of the component tasks. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 37, 109-114.
- WASCHKI, B., KIRSTEN, A., HOLZ, O., MÜLLER, K.-C., MEYER, T., WATZ, H. & MAGNUSSEN, H. 2011. Physical activity is the strongest predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with copd: A prospective cohort study. *Chest*, 140, 331-342.
- WASSWA-KINTU, S., GAN, W., MAN, S., PARE, P. & SIN, D. 2005. Relationship between reduced forced expiratory volume in one second and the risk of lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 60, 570-575.
- WATSON, N. L., SUTTON-TYRRELL, K., YOUK, A. O., BOUDREAU, R. M., MACKEY, R. H., SIMONSICK, E. M., ... NEMWAN, A. B. 2011. Arterial Stiffness and Gait Speed in Older Adults With and Without Peripheral Arterial Disease. *Am J Hypertens*, 24, 90-95.
- WATZ, H., PITTA, F., ROCHESTER, C. L., GARCIA-AYMERICH, J., ZUWALLACK, R., TROOSTERS, T., . . . SPRUIT, M. A. 2014. An official European Respiratory Society statement on physical activity in COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*.
- WEBER, T., WASSERTHEURER, S., RAMMER, M., MAURER, E., HAMETNER, B., MAYER,
 C. C., . . . EBER, B. 2011. Validation of a Brachial Cuff-Based Method for Estimating Central Systolic Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*, 58, 825-832.
- WEISS, W., GOHLISCH, C., HARSCH-GLADISCH, C., TÖLLE, M., ZIDEK, W. & VAN DER GIET, M. 2012. Oscillometric estimation of central blood pressure: validation of the Mobil-O-Graph in comparison with the SphygmoCor device. *Blood pressure monitoring*, **17**, **128**-131 10.1097/MBP.0b013e328353ff63.
- WHEELER, B. W. & BEN-SHLOMO, Y. 2005. Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status, and respiratory health: a linkage analysis of routine

data from the Health Survey for England. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 59, 948-954.

- WHO. 2006. *BMI classification* [Online]. Available: <u>http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html</u> [Accessed 18/9 2012].
- WHO. 2008. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): Fact sheets [Online]. world Health Organization. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs315/en/index.html</u> [Accessed 01/04 2012].
- WHO 2010. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. *World Health Organization*, 58 pages.
- WHO. 2012. Chronic respiratory diseases: COPD Definition [Online]. World Health
Organization.Available:
Available:
[Accessed
26/03 2012].
- WHO. 2015. Chronic respiratory diseases: COPD management [Online]. World Health Organization. Available: http://www.who.int/respiratory/copd/management/en/ 2015].
- WISE, R. A. & BROWN, C. D. 2005. Minimal Clinically Important Differences in the Six-Minute Walk Test and the Incremental Shuttle Walking Test. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 2, 125-129.
- WONG, R., SIBLEY, K. M., HUDANI, M., ROELAND, S., VISCONTI, M., BALSANO, J., ... BROOKS, D. 2010. Characteristics of People With Chronic Lung Disease Who Rest During the Six-Minute Walk Test. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 91, 1765-1769.
- WRIGHT A, C. C., BAXTER G, DOCKERTY J, ABBOTT J 2011. A comparison of 3 methodological approaches to defining major clinically important improvement of 4 performance measures in patients with hip osteoarthritis. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*, 41, 319-27.
- ZOGG, S., DURR, S., MIEDINGER, D., STEVELING, E., MAIER, S. & LEUPPI, J. 2014. Differences in classification of COPD patients into risk groups A-D: a crosssectional study. *BMC Research Notes*, 7, 562.
- ZUWALLACK, R. & HEDGES, H. 2008. Primary Care of the Patient with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease—Part 3: Pulmonary Rehabilitation and Comprehensive Care for the Patient with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 121, S25-S32.